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Gulf International Bank
#

ulf International Bank 1s a leading merchant bank n the Middle East with 1ts pnincipal focus on the Gulf Cooperation
GCounml (GCC) states GIB provides client-led, innovative financial products and services Its client base includes major
private-sector corporations, Gulf-based financial institutions, multinational compantes aclive i the region and the governments
of the GCC states

GIB has gained an international reputation for project and trade finance and 15 a leading player 1n the regional syndicated loan
market [ts other primary business areas include merchant banking scrvices such s investment banking, capital markets and

asset management

The Bank was established (n the Kingdom of Bahramn 1n 1975 It ts owned by the six GCC governments, with the Public
Investment Fund of Saudi A rabia holding a majority stake (97 2 per cent) GIB has branches in London, New York, Riyadh and
Jeddah and representative offices in Besrut and Abu Dhabs, 1 addition to 1ts main substdiary, Gulf International Bank (UK)
Limited, and Riyadh-based GIB Ftnancial Services

GIB
p IR Ere

THE CULF'S OWN MERCHANT BANK
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Financial Highlights

2009 } 2008 2007 2006 2005
|
EARNINGS {US$ millions) !
Net {Loss} / Income (152.6) ! 1396 2) (757 3) 2555 2030
Net interest Income 2065 . 2883 30546 2577 2090
Fee and Commission Income 407 733 881 658 462
Operahng Expenses 122.8 E 1429 141 2 1440 1387
FINANCIAL POSITION (US$ millions) E
Totat Assets 16,207.7 25,0335 299540 24,787 2 22,856 6
Loans and Advances 9,298.1 12,9721 12,601 8 8,1450 46,2737
Investment Securthes 2,018.1 | 2,2205 8,0707 8,422 9 78396
Senor Term Financing 3,007.9 j 2,431 5 2,657 8 1,867 1 1,944 5
Equity 1,779.4 l 19255 22153 1,856 6 1,718 3
1
RATIOS [Per cent) |
Profitability i
Return on Average Equity (8.2) ; {19 1) (37 2) 143 123
Return on Average Assets (0.7 E {1 4) {28) 11 10
Capital i
Risk Asset Raho !
- Total 22.3 173 120 16 127
- Tier 1 16.4 i 125 95 87 92
Equity as % of Total Assets 1.0 | 77 74 75 75
Asset Quality
Loans as % of Tokal Assets 57.4 518 421 329 27 4
Secunihes as % of Total Assets 128 97 314 428 431
Liquidity
Liquid Assets Raho 41.2 46 3 528 652 709
Deposits ko Loans Cover [himes) 2 1.4 16 18 23 25

' From 2008, the nsk asset raho es calculoted in accordance with CBB's Basel 2 guidelines Comparative raties are presented
in accordance with the Basel 1 gurdelines of the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision

2 Deposits indude Senor Term Financing

Credit Ratings
Fitch Moody’s Standard & Poor’s Capital Intelhigence
Long-term A A3 BBB+ A+
Short-term F-1 P2 A2 Al
Indmdual c/D
Financial Strength D+ A
Outlook Stable Stable Stable Stable
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By the end of the year, GIB was a more financially
solid, efficient and better-focused financial institution.
The bank is now better prepared to face the challenges
of the new decade, and take advantage of emerging
business opportunities.




Chairman’s Statement

N BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS,
O:t 1s my pleasure to present the Annual Report for Gulf
International Bank (GIB) for the year ended 31st December
2009 [n what proved to be yet another challenging year,1 am
happy to report that the successful stabilisation and denisking
of the Bank placed GIB 1n a much stronger financial position
at the end of 2009

The year started with the world stll reeling from the
aftershocks of the worst global financial cnists since the 1930s
The cnsis, with its resulting adverse effect on the GCC, which
started in September 2008, camned through into 2009 Toward
the end of the second quarter of the year, however. duc to the
countercycltcal fiscal measures itroduced by governments and
central banks across the world, there was a mild revival 1n the
worldwide macroeconomic environment and an improvement
in global business sentiment and mvestor confidence With
most major economies beginning to register modest growth,
ol prices recovered, more than doubling from their lows of
US$33 per barrel at the end of 2008

While the increase 1n the price of o1l helped to alleviate
concerns across the GCC about the lack of liqudity, the
credit squeeze, and market volattlity, the region stll faces

a number of economic and banking challenges Corporate
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Jammaz n Abdullah Al-Subaim
Charman

defanlt rates and the overleveraging challenges faced by
a number of financial nsttutions across the GCC have
focused attention on the need for stronger regulatory control,
corporate governance and nsk management

‘The outlook for the region remarns posiive espectally in
the medium and long term The GCC states have built up very
substantial reserves following their six-year growth on the
back of nsing o1l prices Their underlying macroeconomic
fundamentals remain sound, and the IMF ts forecasung GDP
growth of over 4 per cent 1n 2010 Following their recovery,
oil prices stabihsed dunng 2009 They are expected to remain
stable for the foreseeable future, with the International Energy
Agency predicting global o1l demand to rise by around 2 per
cent 1n 2010 The GCC states had set prudent fiscal budgets
for 2009, based on prevaling low a1l prices at the cnd of
2008, but are now predicting budget surpluses for the year on
the back of hugher than expected o1l revenues

Against this background, GIB entered the year facing
a challenge 1o the future growth of the Bank as onc of the
region’s leading regional financial instituttons  Accordingly,
the Board and management identified and addressed a number
of key issues, namely deleveraging and densking the balance

sheet through a managed reduction 1n the loan portfolio, an




v
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associated restructurtng of the portfolio to reduce undue
concentrattons, the elimination of lower rated exposures,
the termination of all propnetary trading activitics, the
strengthening of the funding position of the Bank through the
further diversification of funding sources and a reduction in
the asset and hability matunty mismatch and the alignment
of the Bank’s organisation and infrastructure, and associated
costs, 1n order to maintain its histonic efficient cost-to-income
ratto At the same time, 1t was rmportant to achieve these
objectives 1n the minimum amount of ume while avoiding
disruption to the Bank’s ongomng business actvittes and
potenttal operational risks

I am pleased to report that these key objectives were all
successfully achueved By the end of the year, the gross loan
portfolio had been reduced by US$3.3 hillion or 25 per cent
to US$9 9 billion, the funding base had been signuficantly
strengthened, with placements and cash and other hquid
assets totalling US$4 6 billion and representing a very high
28 per cent of total assets The cost realtgnment programme
that was completed by the end of the year has resulted in a
20 per cent reduction 1n the underlying cost base of the Bank

The managed reduction 1n the loan portfolio hasresulted in
adecrease in the loan to equity ratio from 6 7 at the beginning
of the year to 5.2 at the end of 2009 The loan portfolio 15 now
planned to be maintained at this more comfortable multple of
equity in the current environment Importantly, the reduction
1n the loan volume was achteved whtle mamtaining revenue
levels from the strategically important GCC lending acuvity
As a result of enhancements to loan margms 1o reflect the
new market dynamics, margin sncome derived from the GCC
lending portfolio 1n 2009 was only shightly lower than 1o the
pnor year

The Bank’s funding profile was significantly strengthened
by a groundbreaking Saudr Rayal 2 billion 3-year bond 1ssue,
the establishment of a U534 billion EMTN programme, and

the extenston of deposit tenors Currently, more than one

quarter of the Bank’s deposits mature beyond three months,
in addition to term finance facilities totalling US$3.5 bullion

In November, GIB successfully closed a 2 billion (US$533
mullion) Saudi Riyal-denominated 3-year bond issue that
was oversubscnbed more than three iimes This transaction
was the first bond to be 1ssued by a financial institution 1
the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia in 2009 The demand from
a diverse group of highly respected mstitutional investors
reflected not only the market’s strong confidence in GIB, but
also manifests the dynamism of Saud; Arabia’s economy and
its growing capital markets

GIB also signed a US$4 billion Euro Medium Term Note
(EMTN) programme 1n November Thus programme provides
the Bank with a platform to diversify its investor base and
gives it the flexibility to further improve the matunty profile
of ttis habilites Under this programme, GIB will be able to
1ssue bonds n a vanety of currencies and matunties The Bank
will continue to monitor markets tn the future to access new
funding opportunities and utilise the programme 1n due course

The cost realignment measures mplemented dunng the
year have resulted 1o a sigmficant 20 per cent reduction 1n
the Bank’s underlying cost base The full extent of the cost
reductions will only be evident 1n 2010 as the imtialives were
implemented n stages dunng 2009 The cost realignment
programme caused personnel redundancies in Bahrain and
overseas locations The Group’s total headcount was reduced
by 124 or 22 per cent during the year All redundant staff
were provided with fair compensation packages The cost
realignment measures also inctuded actions taken to achieve
greater operational efficiencies, including a restructuring of
the Group's London-based subsidiary, GIBUK Limited, in
order to denve further efficiencies from the relocation of back
office support functions to Head Office and the migration to
Head Office IT systems

GIB posted an encouraging financial performance for

2009 Total income of US$286 0 million was 11 per cent
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Chairman’s Statement {(continued)
M

lower than the previous year, while operating income was
US$1632 miilion compared to U/$$179 8 milhion in 2008
Within operating income, there was a sigmficant year-on-
year improvement in trading income, resolung from the
elimmation of trading losses incurred n the pnor year
following the termination of proprietary trading acuvities
Total expenses decreased by 14 per cent to US$122 8 mullion,
reflecung the previously mentioned effective mecasures to
atign the cost base with the Bank’s current operating model,
and further improvements In operational efficiencies In
line with the Bank’s traditional conservative approach to
provisioning, the net provision charge for both loans and
secunities 1n 2009 was US$291.2 mullion In view of the
ongoing challenging environment, the Bank continued to
make significant additions to 1ts non-specific provistons
in 2009, increasing the non-specific loan provision by
US$600 mullion to US$2400 milion This represented
2 6 tumes the carrying amount of unsecured past due loans,
thereby providing a highly conservative buffer in the current
uncertain environment and mimumising future provisiomng
requirements The net provision charge principally related to
excepliona) events for which the potenual losses were fully
provisioned Excluding the provisions relating to these events,
the provistonng requirements i 2009 were limited reflecting
the quality of the Bank’s loan portfolio After takang account
of the exceptional provision charge, the Bank recorded a net
toss of US$152 6 million for the year This was a sigmificant
improvement over the net loss of US$396.2 millhon recorded
n the previous year

During the year, there was o change 1n G1B’s shareholding
structure, with the Public Investment Fund of Saudi Arabia's
ownership interest incrcasing to 972 per cent This resulied
tn the election of a new Board of Directors, compnsing Mr
Mansour Al Maiman as Vice Chairman, Dr Hamad Al-Baza,
Dr Abdulla Al-Abdul-Gader, Mr Sulaiman Al-Hamdan, Me
Abdulla Al-Zamul, and Mr Khaled Al-Mudaifer, 1n addition
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1o myself as Chatrman I would hike to welcome our new
Directors, who collectively have exiensive cxpenence m
both the public and pnvate sectors, and thank the outgoing
Durectors for their valuable contnibutions 1 am commutted to
working with my fellow Durectors to strengthen the Bank’s
franchise and ensure 15 continued success during these
challenging tumes for international financial institutions

The acluevements and developments 1n 2009 put GIB ina
considerably stronger, leaner, and more efficient and focused
position to begin looking forward, and determine the Bank's
future 1n the light of changing economie, financial and
marke1 dynamics To this end, GIB has appointed consultants
and retarned advisors to assist the Board and management in
developing a new and dynamic business model as well as a
strategy to achieve it T am confident that the Bank will be
well placed to take advantage of new business opportunitics,
contenue 1ts key role in Saudi Arabia and the region as a
leading financial institution, and ensure prospenty for all 1ts
stakeholders

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | would like to express
my sincere thanks for the financiat support and guidance of our
shareholders, the trust and loyalty of our clients, the posiive
collaboration of our business partners, and the constructive
cooperation of the regulatory and supervisory authonties 1n
the jurisdictions where GIB operates Finally, | would like to
pay tnbute to the professionalism, dedication, understanding
and patience of the Bank’s management and staff duning this
most difficult penod in the long history of GIB The Board 1s

highly appreciabve of their excellent efforts

Jammaz bin Abdullah Al-Subatmm
Chatrman




Investment banking activities included the successful
conclusion of the Saudi Steel Pipe Co. transaction - the
first premium PO in Saudi Arabia since the start of the

international financial crisis.




Management Review

T THE BEGINNING OF 2009, GIB FACED A
UMBER OF CHALLENGES affecung the future
viability of the Bank Through the concerted and proactive
efforts of the shareholders, directors, management and staff,
these challenges were successfully addressed and conclusively
overcome As a result, by the end of the ycar, GIB was a
more financially solid, efficient and better-focused financial
mstitution The Bank 15 now better prepared to face the
chatlenges of the new decade, and take advantage of emerging
business opportunities associated with the expected global and
regional economuc and market recovery dunng 2010
As part of GIB's strategic imtiative to delever and densk
its balance sheet and to focus on its core GCC business
franchise, the Bank’s non-core investment secunties were
sold to the Public Investment Fund (PIF) of Saudi Arabia
and the Saudi Arabizn Monetary Agency (SAMA) The sold
securittes included GIB's entire exposure to collateralised
debt obligations, asset backed secunities, and subordinated
tntcrmational bank debt The sccunties were sold at their
amortised cost less speafic provisions for imparrment at
the effective date of sale Accordingly, no profit or loss was
recorded on the sale
In order to compensate the PIF and SAMA for the
difference between the total consideration pad for the
secuntics and the fair valuc of the secunties as at an agreed
date, GIB’s shareholders re-atlocated the ownership of GIB's
issued share capital between themsclves 1n accordance witha
pre-deterrmned formuta In late 2009, SAMA transferred all
of 1ts shares in GIB 1o the PIF Following this transfer, the PIF
owns 97 2 per cent of the Bank
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‘.‘i
Yahya A Alyahya
Chief Executive Officer

ECONOMIC AND MARKET BACKGROUND
The global economy at the start of 2009 was 1n recession
For most of the year, widespread systemic nsks eroded
confidence, while overall cconomic prospects appeared
difficult and uncertain Key global factors witnessed dunng
the year included a lack of hiquidity, continued market
volatlity, and constramned access to sources of capital
Regonally, the financial cnsis flowed through to the real
GCC cconomy This was illustrated by the problems faced
by some investment banks, defaults by certain companices,
and the Duba World standsull announcement A number of
regional corporate defaults atso highlighted the particular
need for stronger corporate governance and nsk management
pracuces within the corporate sector

Unprecedented policy actions and fiscal measures
eventually induced amild revival in the global macroeconomie
environment by the third quarter There are nascent signs that
the economies around the world are now tn the midst of o
recovery However, risks of a relapse are ever-present as the
flow of credit remains strained and the deleveraging of the
global financial sector continues

Economic conditions across the GCC region have also
stabilised, largely buoyed by a recovery i ol prices After
falling from US$147 to US$33 in the second half of 2008, a1l
prices recovered by 78 per cent dunng the course of 2009, the
largest year-on-year increase in a decade Despite the recent
problems faced by GCC economies, it 1s important (o note the
achiey ements 1n the region dunng the growth penod between
2002 and 2007 These nclude increasing GDP growth
levels supported by 01 revenues, enabling the accumulation

M
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of healthy reserves and hquidity. and the expanston of
investments 1n oil, gas, and petrochemcal projects, as well
as non-oil scctors

From an economic perspective, the future outlook looks
positive, and 15 underlined by two key factors Firstly, in the
shon-to-medium term, the liquidity that was accumulated
dunng the growth years of high ol pnces will allow
governments to continue funding infrastructure projects, and
will provide fiscal breathing space to support the ongoing
recovery and eventual expansion Sccondly, wn the longer
term, as global growth picks up, there will be greater demand
for a1l and gas, and by-products such as petrochemicals,
which wili help accelerate and sustain economic growth

MEETING CHALLENGES
At the start of 2009, the Board of Directors and management
identified the key 1ssues that needed to be addressed on an
urgent basts First and foremost, it was essennal to secure the
support of the Bank’s shareholders in stabiising the balance
sheet and preserving capital This was achieved through
the sale of the Bank’s non-core investment secuntics This
action protected the Bank from any future losses from these
secunbes, materially delevered and densked the balance
sheet, reduced nsk-weighted assets resulting in a significant
enhancement of the Bank’s regulatory capital adequacy ratios,
and significantly reduced the Bank’s funding requirements

Sccondly, the Bank took acttons to delever and densk the
foan portfalio. At the end of the year, the loan portfolio had
reduced to USS9 9 kllion from more than US$13 tdhion a year
carhier Thus represented a more comfortable mutuple of equity in
the prevailing econonuc environment At the same tinme, actions
were taken to rechice undue concentrations in the loan portfolio,
and to ehmnate lower-rclated and hugher nsk exposures
The decision was slso taken to exit from certain businesses,
including the termination of all proprietary tradeng activities,
as part of the denisking initiatives

The third 1ssue was the need to align costs with revenues
Cost efficiencics implemented by management duning the
year included rationalising the number of staff, moving
certaun processes and operations from the Bank's London-
based subsidiary, GIBUK, to Head Office 1n Bahrain, and
making more efficient use of the Bank’s IT infrastructure

Fourth was a major review of the Bank’s credit nsk
policies, including a re-evaluation of the Bank’s nsk appetite
and related [imit structures In addition, training courses were

conducted to improve awareness and skills 1 early problem
recogmition and remedial management

Finally, there was a need to rase longer term funding
in order to diversify the Bank's funding base and further
improve the matunty profile of 1ts habihties, thereby more
closely aligning the matunty profile of assets and habihities

By the end of 2009, all these challenges and 1ssves had been
successfully addressed and the Bank 1s now well positioned to
embark upon a path of measured and focused growth

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENTS
The most notable bustness achievement dunng the year
was the Bank’s success in raising long-term liabilities This
included a groundbreaking SAR 2 billion (US$533 mullion) 3
year bond 1ssue — the first to be 1ssued by a financial institution
tn the Kingdom of Saud: Arabta 1n 2009, and the largest ever
book size for a fixed income Saud: Riyal private placement
by a financial nstitution 1n the Kingdom The issue was
oversubsenbed by more than three times In addition, GIB
signed a US$4 bilhion Euro Medium Term Note (EMTN)
programme under which the Bank will be able to 1ssue bonds
1n a vanety of cuerrencies and matunities

Overall, 2009 proved to be a challenging business
environment, affected by a lack of hqmdity and an associated
credit squecze, and reduced corporate and Lnvestor confidence
While conunumg to respond to the needs of us existing
chients, GIB adopted a castious approach to new lending,
syndication activities and project financing durtag the year,
although was nevertheless successful in further developing its
investment banking franchise through a number of important
advisory mandates Investment banking activities snctuded the
successful conctusion of the Saud: Steel Pipe Co transaction
- the first premuum [PO tn Saudi Arabea since the start of
the intematonal financial cnsis GIB was also appointed by
First Encrgy Bank as exclusive financial advisor for debt and
cquity funding for the Saudi Polysilicon project, the first plant
of #1s kind 1n the region On the commercial banking side,
GIB refinanced facihiies for o aumber of exisung clients
Ths cautious epproach 10 new business and the scheduled
repayment of faciliies contnbuted to a reduction 1a the loan
portfolio to US$9.9 billion at the 2009 year end, representing
a prudent multuple of equity The Bank’s asset management
business 1o London adopled a new strategy with a greater
focus on emerging markets At the end of the year, total pssets
under management stood at US$16 6 billion
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Management Review (continued)
e e E—

Another important development 1n 2009 was the re-
affirmation of GIB’s long-term 1ssuer ratings by the major
international rating agencies The re-affirmation of GIB’s
ratings constituted a positive independent endorsement of the
proactive and conclusive actions taken by the Bank and its
shareholders to address the challenges created by the global
credit erisis It also reflected GIB's ability to withstand the
unprecedented pressures caused by the intemational financial
cnisis, and 1ts commutment to continue tts leading role in the
financial community 11 the reglon

HUMAN RESOURCES DEVELOPMENT
As we develop the new strategy for the Bank 1n 2010 and
beyond, we will be adopting new processes and tools to help
banld the capability and capacity to change and achieve greater
effectiveness We will be introducing a change management
strategy that will enhance our orgamzattonal culture We will
also explore 1ssues relating to our performance management
philasophy to ensure that our staff are switably metivated and
cnthused to work at GIB

Throughout 2009, GIB continued to wnvest in the tramng
and development of us people At a strategic level, GIB hasin
place a comprehenston succession and development planming
process The Bank has also developed a pool of young talented
individuals who are being groomed for more challenging roles
inthe future Thisis supported by the GIB graduate development
and the Intemstup programmes The Bank also encourages
ws staff to echieve appropnate professional qualificatons,
such s the Chartered Financial Analyst, Associaton of
Chartered Ceruficd Accountants, and Chartered Institute of
Fersonnel and Development Dunng the year, speciahised
tratmng courses were conducted to address regulatory and
topical 1ssues such as compliance, anti-money laundenng., nsk
management awareness, problem recogmtion and remedial
management, and information security awarencss In addinon,
special simutation workshops were camied out in arcas such as
treasury operations and sales As we strive towards becorming
the “Employer of Choice™ we will conunue to attract, develop
and retain the best talent n the industry

OPERATIONS AND INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY
A number of inihatives to consohidate operations and support
functions were implemented dunng the year, aiming to
support GIB's objectives of cost alignment and improving
productivity and efficiency The entire processing and control
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procedures for business delivery were reviewed and updated
to reflect current best industry practices

The consohidation of the Bank’s operations in Bahrain
included a wide range of treasury and banking business
activities, for which associated operational and control
functions and tasks were evatuated to enhance the efficiency
of business delivery

LOOKING AHEAD
In late 2009, GIB appointed an international consulting
group to assist the Board and management 1n developing a
new strategy and appropnate business model to ensure the
ongoing growth of the Bank The strategy review 18 expected
to be concluded duning the first half of 2010 and will include
imitzatives to create a more stable funding base and to reduce
the vulnerability of the wholesate banking model to external
shocks The Bank 1s also looking to expand its footprint, both
regionally and globally Of key importance s the need to
diversify at all levels - funding, products and clients — and to
devclop and improve the culture of relationship management
and cross selling 1n order to maximise business opportunities,
enhance revenue generation, and thereby boost profitability In
addition, a new branch in Al-Khobar, KSA, will be opened tn
2010 Ths significant imtiative will altow the Bank to expand
its operations (n the Kingdom, build stronger relationships
with customers and achieve greater market penetration in the
region’s largest economy

In addition, GIB 1s planmung o buld on a number of key
inherent strengths and wmgue competiive advantages These
include the Bank's excellent regional refauonships, franchise
and footprint, as well s its global outreach and relationships
with international institutions  In sddiuon, GIB has a strong
demonsirated teadership position in certan mche areas, such as
project finance, syndications, and equity capatal markets Finally,
GIB has a large pool of expenenced and dedicated human
capatal commutied to driving sts future business endeavours

The posiive and construchive manner 16 which GIB has
responded 1o various challenges dunng 2009 has posiuoned
the Bank totake ads antage of emerging business opportunitics
as market conditions start to recover GIB 1s confident of uts
ability to maintain 11s market leadership and important role it
plays 1n the economic development of the region

Yahya A Alyahya
Chief Execunve Officer




The most notable business achievement
during the year was the Bank’s success in
raising long-term liabilities.




Financial Review
M

PERATING INCOME WAS US$1632 MILLION
for the year This was only 9 per ceat Jower than the
prior year operating sncome of US$179.8 mullion, despite
the ongoing market volatility and the challenging economc
environment prevailing dunng the year Total income of
US$286 0 milhon was 11 per cent lower than 1n 2008 whule
total expenses at US$122.8 million were 14 per cent down
on the pnor year Within operating income, there was a
significant year-on-year improvement n trading ncome
resulting from the elimination of trading losses incurred in the
prior year following the termimation of ali proprietary trading
activities as part of the Bank’s densking mitiatives A year-
on-year decrease 1n net interest income was attributable to the
deleveraging of the balance sheet in the current challenging
environment and the negalive impact on Interest earmings
of the historically low tnterest rate environment Market
conditions also contzibuted to lower fee-related income A
US$20 1 million or 14 per cent year-on-year decrease i total
expenses reflected the implementation of cffective measures
to align the cost base with the Bank's current operating
maodel, and further improvements 1n operational efficiencies
In keeping with GIB's rraditional conservative approach
to provisioming, the Bank made significant additions to both
specific and non-specific loan provisions i 2009 In view of
the prevailing economc conditions, the Bank increased 1ts
non-specific loan provision so as to mamntain provisions at
a level consistent with the historical highest ever corporate

Gross income development (US$ millions)
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default rates As a result, the non-specific loan provision was
increased by US360 0 million to US$240 0 million at the
end of 2009 This represented 2 6 times the carrying amount
of unsecured past due loans, thereby providing a hughly
conservative buffer in the current uncertain environment and
mumnusing future provisioning requirements Thenetloan and
investment secunties provision charge for the year amounted
to US$313 7 million The loan provision charge principally
related to exceptionat events for which the potential losses
were fully provisioned Excluding the provisions relating to
these excepuional events, the provisionmg requirements in
2009 were limited reflecting the quality of the Bank’s loan
porifolio

After taking account of the exceptional provision charge,
the Bank recorded a net loss of US$152 6 mullicn for the
year This was a sigmficant improvement over the net loss of
US$396 2 mullion recorded 1n the previous year

NET INTEREST INCOME
Net nterest income at US$206.5 mullion was US$81.8
mullion or 28 per cent lower than in the prior year Netinterest
income 1s principally denved from the following sources -
+ margn income on the commercial lending portfolio,
+ margin income on the investment secunities portfolio,
+ money book activaties, and
* earmngs on the investment of the Group’s net free capital

The year-on-year decrease in net tnlerest income was
largely attnbutable to lower mterest earmngs denved from
the nvestment secunties portfolio as a result of the sale of
US$4 .8 billion of non-core secunties in the first quarter of the
year, and afso to lower interest earrungs on the investment of
the net free capital attributable to the reduction tn US mterest
rates to historically low levels

Despite a US$3 3 billion or 25 per cent managed reduction
in the gross loan volume dunng the year, interest earntngs
denved from the strategically smportant GCC commercial
lending portfolio were only 4 per cent lower than en the prior
year This was achieved through the restructunng of the loan
portfolto and the enhancement of lending margins on both
renewed and new credit facihhies A sigmficant increase in
loan margins largely offset the impact of the decrease in loan
volumes

Margin income on the investment secunties porifolio
accounted for 7 per cent of net interest income 1n 2009 The
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*To kxcilitats year-cn-year companson, 2008 and 2007 trading wcome
excudes kusses on exposures dirsctly impocted by the credit market crisis

sale of non-core securities 1n the first quarter of the year
resulted 1n a sigmficant decrease 1n interest earnings denved
from the mvestment secunties portfolio As commented on
in more detail 1n the investment securities section of the
Financial Review, the investment securitics portfolio now
represents a iquichty reserve, with a focus on high quality
and liquid securittes

Money book earungs represent the differential between
the funding cost of interest-beanng assets based on i1nternal
transfer pncing methodologies and the actual funding cost
incurred by the Bank This includes benefits denved from
the mismatch of the repncing profite of the Group’s interest-
beaning assets and habfities Money book earmings i 2009
were 37 per cent higher than 1in the pnor year reflecung a
lower cost of funds compared to 2008 Due to a focus on
deposits from counterpartics in the GCC and wider Middle
East, the tncrease in costs in the mtermational interbank
market associated with the credit market ensts and related
liquidity crunch had a relatively linuted impact on the Bank’s
interest carntngs 1n 2009

Earungs on the investment of the Group’s net free
capital were 46 per cent lower than 1n the prior year although
nevertheless accounted for almost one fifth of net interest
income The net free capital was largely unminvested dunng the

year with the uniny ested funds placed on a short term basis
m the meoney market This strategy was adopted to protect
the Bank from any unanticipated increase in bond yields as
a result of expectations of a higher interest rate environment
Earnings on the net free capital were negatively impacted by
the significant reduction in short term US interest rates dunng

the early part of the year 1o historically low levels

NON-INTEREST INCOME
Non-interest income compnses fee and commission 1ncome,
trading income, realised profits on investment secunties, and
other income

Fee and comnussion 1ncome at US$40 7 milhon was
US$32 6 million or 44 per ¢ent lower than wn the pnor year
Fee and commission tncome was nevertheless almost double
the level when the GCC-focused merchant banking strategy
was pdopted 1n 2002 An analysis of fee and commuission
income with preor year comparatives 1s set out 1n note 22 to
the consolidated financial statements Investment banking and
management fees were US$24 6 million for the year, thereby
representing 60 per cent of fee and commission income This
tncome category compnises fees generated by the Group's
asset management, fund management, corporate advisory
and underwnting activities A year-on-year decrease reflected
the generally lower level of investment banking activity in
the prevailing stressed marketl environment As referred to
1n note 34 1o the consolidated financial statements, assets
held tn a fiduciary capacity amounted to US$16 6 billion at
31st December 2009 betng 16 per cent up on the 2008 year
end level GIB therefore continues to be the largest Arab-
owned commercial asset manager Commissions on letters
of credit and guarantee at US$14 7 milhon were the second
largest source of fee-based tncome and continued to make
an important contnbution to fee and commussion tncome A
36 per cent year-on-year decrease in commissions on letters
of credit and guarantee was largely attnbutable to a decrease
n guarantee commusstons on GCC-related business activities
followtng a record level of income 1n 2008

The Group's vanous trading activities recorded a US$28 2
million profit compared to an US$86 7 million loss in the
previous year Trading mmcome 1s reported inclusive of all
related income, mcluding interest tncome, gains and losses
ansing on the purchase and sale, and from changes in the
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fair value of trading secunties, dividend income, and interest
expense, including all related funding costs An analysis
of trading income 1s sct out 1n note 23 to the consolidated
financial statements The trading profit 1n 2009 principally
compnsed a US$13 0 mufhion profit arsing on externally
managed funds, pnmanly investments 1n altemauve
investment (hedge) funds, and foreign exchange profits of
US$11 2 nulhion The foreign exchange profits were entirely
customer-related All other trading activittes, which were
also customer-related, recorded a US$4 0 million profit for
the year All proprietary trading activities were termunated 1n
early 2009 as part of the Bank’s densking istiatives Dunng
the year, the Bank actively reduced its exposure to hedge
funds The Group's hedge funds classified as held-for-trading
were reduced from US$152 8 mullion at the end of 2008 to
only US$50.2 mullion at 31st December 2009 The Bank 1s
conttnuing to exit Its remaimng investments 1n hedge funds
at the earliest possible opportumty

Profits on nvestment secunties amounted to US$I 2
mullion for the year The profits prncipally comprised excess
distnbutions recerved from pnivate equity fund investments
Pror year profits were exceptional 1n nature and pnncipally
arose on the sale of a strategic pnvale equty investment and
on the early redempuion of secunties in the floating rate debt
secunitics portfolio

Other mcome of US$9 4 million principally compnsed
profits of US$8.3 mullion ansing on the repurchase of the
Group's own subordinated debt The Group repurchased
1J$$39 0 mullion of a subordinated floating rate note matunng
1n 2015 The subordinated debt was repurchased at a discount,
thereby generating a profit of US$83 million Other income
also included profits realised on the sale of prermses and
equipment, loan recovenes, and dividends received from
equity investments

OPERATING EXPENSES

Operating expenses at US$122.8 miflion were US$20 1
million or 14 per cent down on the pnor year The year-
on-year decrease reflected the benefits denved from a cost
realignment programme implemented over the course of the
year The programme included a reduction instaffing levelsin
line with the Bank’s current operating model, a migration to
umform IT platforms, and associated operational efficiencies
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These imitiatives have resulted 1in total annual cost savings of
around US$30 mulhion or 20 per cent The full extent of the
cost savings will be evident 1n 2050 as the cost realignment
programme was implemented 1n stages during 2009

Operating expenses 1n 2009 tncluded exceptional
restructuring-refated costs of US$72 mullion Excluding
these exceptional restructuring costs, operaing expenses
were US$273 mulhion or 19 per cent down on the prior year

Staff expenses, which accounted for almost two thirds
of total operating expenses, were US$17.8 mullion or 19 per
cent down on the pnor year Staff expenses 1n 2009 included
a one-off, exceptional expense of US$3 7 mullion relaung to
the restructunng of the Group’s London-based subsidiary,
GIBUK Excluding this exceptional cxpense, staff expenses
were 23 per cent lower than in the prior year The sigmficant
ycar-on-year decrease was attnbutable to a reduction n
headcount dunng the year The Group's total headcount at
31st December 2009 of 437 staff was 124 lower than at the
end of 2008 The headcount reduction took place at both
Head Office 1n Bahrain and in GIBUK The reduced staffing
levels were based on a detaled evaluation of resourcing
requirements, undertaken 1n comjunction with external
specialist consultants, m the context of the new level of
business activities following the deleveraging and densking
iutiatives implemented dunng the year, tn addition to the
transfer of GIBUK’s operational support functions to Head
Office 1n Bahrain, and the migration of GIBUK IT systems to
Head Office’s core banking system

Premises expenses were US$1 9 million up on the prior
year The year-on-year increase was attnbutable to increased

Expenses development (US$ millions)
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rent expenses in the Group's overseas offices and one-off
refurbishment expenses 1n its Saud: Arabia offices

Other operating expenses were US$42 mullion down
on the pnor year despite the inclusion of US$3.5 mllion
of exceptional restructuring expenses Reductions were
recorded in most expense calegornes as a result of ongoing
cost saving mtiatives, although most notably 1n IT-related
expenses as a result of the mgration of GIBUK to the Head
Office core banking system

PROVISIONS
In accordance wtth tts traditional conservative policy, the Bank
took prudent provistomng actions in relation to exposures that
were adversely impacted by the credit market cnsis and also
1n anticipation of the hugher level of corporate defaults that are
expected tn the current challenging economic environment

In 2009, there was a US$48 O nullion release of investment
security provisions and a US$361 7 million provision charge
for loans and edvances

The tmvestment secunty provision release principally
aroseon the release of portfolio-related provisions that were no
longer required following the sale of the non-core investment
secunities tn the first quarter of the year As explained 1n note
7 to the consolidated financial statements, the secunties were
sold at amortised cost less specific provisions for impairment
The remaiming unrequired non-specific portfolio-related

provisions were accordingly released to income

Risk asset ratio (%)
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The £J$$361 7 mullion loan prevision charge comprised
specific provisions of US$301 7 million and an increase 1in
the non-specific loan provision of US$600 million The
specific provision charge largely related to a small number
of regional exposures that were impacted by unexpected
exceptional circumstances The potential losses were fully
provisioned n 2009 Excluding the specific provisions
relaung to these exceptional ctrcumstances, the specific
provisioning requirements i 2009 were limited

A further significant addiwon was made to the non-
specific loan provision tn line with the Bank’s traditionally
conservative provisiorung policy As commented on 1n more
detaul 1n the loans and advances section of the Financial
Review, the non-specific loan provision 1s based on histonical
highest probabilittes of default Higher levels of default are
anticipated to result from the impact of the global recesston on
the regional economic environment Whale the Bank's lending
activities are pnmanly focused on providing financing to key
infrastructure projects, shareholder-related entties and top
tier corporates, it was nevertheless considered prudent to
enhance provisions tn order to provide a conservative buffer

1n the current uncertain operating enyironment

CAPITAL STRENGTH
Total equity amounted to US$$1,7794 mullion at 3ist
December 2009 At the 2009 year end, the ratio of equity
and Tier | capital to total assets were 11 0 per cent and 113
per cent respectively, ratios that are high by international
compartson

A US$146 1 million decrease in total equity dunng
2009 compnsed the net of the US$152 6 million loss for the
year, and a US$6.5 mullion net increase 1n the fair value of
avaslable-for-sale secunties and denvative cash flow hedges
In accordance with 1AS 39, changes in the fair values of
securitics classified as avalable-for-sale, and denvative
cash Row hedges are accounted for an equity through the
comprehensive statement of income The net increase in
the fair value of available-for-sale secunuies reflected an
tmprovement tn the market environment and a contraction
tn ¢credit spreads resulung in an smprovement tn the fair
value of the investment secunties portfolio The unreahised
revaluation loss on investment securities at the 2009 year
end was US$64.5 million, representing only 3 per cent of
the total value of the secunties portfolic The relauvely small
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unrealised resatuation loss reflected the ligh quality of the
remaiung secunties portfolio following the sale of the non-
core sccunties in the first quarter of the year The remaining
investment secunties pnncipally compnse investment grade-
rated debt secunties 1ssued by major intemational financial
institutions and government-related entities

With a total regulatory capital base of US$24889
mitlion and total nsk-weighted exposure of US$11,1494
million, the nisk asset rato calculated tn accordance with the
Central Bank of Bahrain’s Basel 2 gindelines was 223 per
cent while the Tier 1 ratio was a particularly strong 16 4 per
cent In accordance with international regulatory guidelines,
the farr value adjustments to equity ansing under [AS 3%
in relation to available-for-sale securities and detivative
cash flow hedges are excluded from the regulatory capital
base, with the exception of unrealised gans and losses on
equity investments As a result, at the 2009 year end net fair
value losses of US$53.4 million were added back to equity
to derive the regulatory capital base for capital adequacy
purposes The Bank's regulatory capital base 15 enhanced by
subordinated term financing facilities amounting 1n total to
US$511 0 rmllion The subordinated term financtng facilities
are approved for inclusion tn Tier 2 capital for capital
adequacy purposes by the Bank’s regutator, the Central Bank
of Bahramn {CBB)

The nsk asset ratio mcorporates both market and
operational nisk-weighted exposures The Basel 2 Pillar 3
report set out 1n a later section of the Annual Report provides
further details on capital adequacy and the Bank’s capital
management framework The Group's policies 1n relation to
capital management are set out in note 26 to the consolidated
financial statements As descnbed in more detail tn the note,
the Group’s poltcy 1s to matntain a strong capatal base so as
to maintain investor, counterparty and market confidence and
to sustaun the future development of the Group's business

ASSET QUALITY

The geographical distnbution of nsk assets s set out 1n note
27 to the consolidated financial statements The credit nsk
profile of financial assets, based on internal credit ratings, 1s
set out 1n note 26(a) to the consolidated financial statements
This note demanstrates that 78 per cent of all financiat assets,
comprising placements, securities and loans, were rated 4- or
above,1.¢ the equuvalent of investment grade-rated
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Further assessment of asset quality can be facilitated by
reference to note 36 to the consolidated financial statements
on the fair value of financial instruments Based on the
valuation methodologies set out n that note, the net fur
values of all on- and off-balance sheet financial instruments
at 31st December 2009 were not signuficantly different
to their carrying amounts All non-trading securitics are
classified as available-for-sale and measured at far vatue
Investment securities are accordingly stated at faur value n
the consolidated balance sheet

At the 2009 year end, placements and investment
securities accounted for 28 per cent and 12 per cent of total
assets respechively while loans and advances represented 57
per cent

Investment Secunities
Investment secunties totalled US$2.018 | mulhion at 31st
December 2009 The investment secunties portfolio, which
15 entirely classified as avalable-for-sale, pnncipally
compnsed investment grade-rated debt secunities 1ssued by
major intermational firancial nstitutions and government-
related entities

An anatysis of the basis used for determrning the fair
values of investment securities 18 set out in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements At 31st December 2009,
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US$1868 0 million or 99 per cent of investment securitics
that were valued at fair value, were valued based on quoted
prices while US$1252 milhion was vatued based on cost less
provisions for impairment Only US$24 9 million was based
on other valuation techniques This represented pnivate equity
fund investments for which the farr values were based on the
net asset values of the funds No fair values of available-for-
sale securitics were denved from modelled-based valuation
methodologtes

Investment securities compnse two types of debt secunty
portfolios and a hmited 1nvesiment 1n equities and equity
funds The larger debt secunty portfolio compnses floating
rate securities or fixed rate securthies that have been swapped
to yield constant spreads over LIBOR These accounted for
84 per cent of the total investment secunties portfolio at the
2009 year end The smaller debt secunty portfolio comprises
fixed income securities Thus portfolio amounted to US$151.5
million at the end of 2009 This largely compnsed GCC
government-related bonds

Equity wvestments at the end of 2009 amounted to
US$171 6 million and largely comprnised pnivate equity-
related tyestments

An analysis of the investment sccunttes portfolio by rating
category 18 set out in note 9(a) to the consolidated financial
statements US5$1.404.8 million or 76 per cent of the debt
secuntes at the 2009 year end were rated A- or above Based
on the mating of the issuer, a further US$365 1 million or 20

Investment delst securities rating profile

per cent of the debt secuniies represented other investment
grade-rated secunties Thus 96 per cent of the total debt
securities compnsed tnvestment grade-rated secunties

Other debt securities, the i1ssuers of which are rated below
BBB- / Baa3 or are unrated, amounted to US$76 6 million at
the end of 2009, thus comprising only 4 per cent of the total
mvestment debt secunities portfolio These largely compnised
secunties 1ssued by unrated GCC entities

There were no past due secuniies at 31st December
2009 Dunng the year, the Group's investments 1n structured
investment vehicles (SIVs) were wntten off against the
related specific provisions The S1Vs were fully provisioned
and accordingly no incremental losses arose as a result of the
wrle offs

Impaired mvestment securities, representing secunties
against which a specific provision 1s maintained, amounted
to only US$841 million at 31st December 2009 They
principally compnsed investments 1n managed funds that
are closed to redemption for the foreseeable future, and
private equity investments The total specific provisions for
impairment at 31st December 2009, amounting to US$67 2
milhon, represented 80 per cent of the gross impaired
unvestment secunties The Group also held non-specific
portfolio provisions of US$303 mullion at the 2009 year end

Loans and Advances
Loans and advances amounted to US$9.298 lmillion at the
2009 year end This represented a US3$3,674 0 mullion or 28
per cent decrease compared to the 2008 year end 95 percent
of the loan portfolio at the 2009 year end represented lending
within GIB’s core market in the GCC states

Bascd on contractual matunties at the balance sheet date,
39 per cent of the loan portfolio was due to mature within one
year while 64 per cent was due to mature within three years
Only 24 per cent of loans were due to mature beyond five
vears Details of the classification of loans and advances by
industry are sef out in note 10{a) to the consolidated financial
statements while the geographical distnbution of lecans and
advances 15 contained 1n note 27 At 31st December 2009,
32 per cent of the loan portfolio compnsed exposure to the
energy, otl and petrochemical sector This refiects the Group's
strategic focus on project finance and syndicated lending
the GCC states

The credit nsk profite of loans and advances, based

2009 ANNUAL REPORT | 19




Financial Review (continued)
%

on nternal credit ratings, 1s set out 1n note 26(a) to the
consolidated financial statements US$6.132 8 million or
66 per cent of total loans were rated 4- or above, 1¢ the
equivalent of investment grade-rated Only US$34100
mullion or 4 per cent of loans and adyances were classified as
individually impaired Individually tmpasred loans represent
loans for which there 15 objective evidence that the Group wall
not collect all amounts due 1n accordance with the contractual
terms of the obligatton Therefore, 96 per cent of loans and
advances were not individually impaired

Total loan loss provisions at 31st December 2009
amounted to US$634 1 mullion Counterparty specific
provisions amounted to US$394 1 million while non-specific
provisions were US$240 0 mullion Total specific provisions
of US$394 1 mullion exceeded the gross book value of
unsecured past due loans by US$299 million Specific
provistons were therefore maintmned aganst loans that
were not past due 1n respect of either principal or interest In
addition, total provisions of US$634 1 million sigmificantly
exceeded the gross book value of unsecured past due loans
by US$269 9 mullion, thereby providing a substanual buffer
to accommodate any addittonal past due oans that may anse

Specific provisions arc determined based on the
recoverable amount of the loan The recoverable amount 15
measured as the present value of the expected future cash
flows discounted based on the interest rate at the inception
of the facility Non-specific provisions are determined on a
portfolio basis utilising an incurred loss model The mcurred
loss model estimates the probable losses tnherent within the
portfolio at the balance sheet date but that have not been
spectfically 1dentificd The model 15 based on apphcable
credit ratings and associated histoncal default probabilities,
loss seventy and rating migrations, and reflects the current
macroeconomic, poliical and business environment and
other pertinent indicators

There was a US$60 0 million tncrease tn non-specific
loan provisions dunng 2009 to US$2400 mullion at the
2009 year end The imncrease n the non-specific provision
was based on the expected probabelities of default used 1n
the calculation of provisions for impairment measured on a
collecuve basis Higher levels of default are anticipated to
result from the impact of the global recession on the regronal
economic environment The probabiliies of default applied
in the calculauon of the non-specific provisions at 3lst
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Loan maturity profile

December 2009 equated to a speculative-grade default rate
of 139 per cent, exceeding the previous highest corporate
default rates witnessed tn July 1991 The default rates apphied
m the calculation of the non-specific loan provision and the
resultant provisioning levels for senior, unsecured expesure

by internal rating category were as follows -

Probability of
Internal rating defoult Senior, unsecured
grade (PDs) provisioning level

i 003% -

2+ 003% -

2 003% -

2- 0 06% -

3+ 0 18% 01%
3 034% 02%
3. 036% 02%
44 102% 07%
4 1 05% 07%
4- 129% 08%
5+ 225% 15%
5 348% 23%
5 621% 4 0%
6+ 987% 64%
] 27 93% 182%
6- 3945% 256%
7 83 61% 543%

The provisiorung level 1s based on a Loss Given Default
(LGD) of 65 per cent for senuor, unsecured exposure
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For the purpose of the calculation of the non-specific
provision, the Bank only takes account of collateral held in
the form of cash While collateral in the form of secunties,
listed equities and physical assets ts used for nsk mitigation
and protection purposes, it 1s not taken tnto account tn the
calculation of the non-specific provision

The gross and net book values of unsecured past due
loans amounted to US$364.2 million and US$91.2 autlion
respectively The provisioning coverage for unsecured past
due loans was therefore 75 per cent Past due loans are defined
as those loans for which either pnneipal or interest 15 over
90 days past due Under 1AS 3%, interest on impaired loans
should be recognised 1n income based on the net book value
of the loan and the interest rate that was used to discount the
future cash flows for the purpose of measunng the recoverable
amount However, 1n accordance with gutdehnes issued by
the Bank's regulator, the CBB, nterest on past due loans 1s
only to be recogmsed 1n income on a cash basis In view of
the Group's high provisionung coverage for impaired loans,
the difference between the two bases of accounting 1s not
material The gross volume of past due loans also continued
to be substanttally less than tota! provisions Total provisions
for loan losses exceeded the gross volume of past due loans
by US$269 9 m:llton This means that rather than earmings
being impaired by the funding cost of the net book value of
past due loans, there 1s an earmings enhancement

Other Asset Categortes
Cash and other liquid assets, which amounted to US$508 2
million at the 2009 year end, are analysed in note 5 to
the consolidated financtal statements They pnncipally
compnised cash and balances with banks, and certificates of
deposits held for iquidity management purposcs

Placements with banks totalled US$4,101 1 mithon at
the 2009 year end and were well diversified by geography as
iltustrated tn note 27 to the consolidated financial statements
Interbank placements were largely with GCC and European
bank counterparties, representing the Group's two principal
operating locations Placements with banks represented 25
per cent of total assets at the 2009 year end A high level of
placements 1s being maintamned 1n the current uncertain and
volatile market environment

Trading secunities at US$502 mullion comprised
investments 1 hedge funds Dunng 2009, the Bank's
mvestments in hedge funds were reduced from US$207
muthon at the end of 2008 to US$50 rmulhion at the 2009 year
end The Bank 1s continuing to reduce its investments 1n hedge
funds with the intenuon of fully exiting the investments at the
earliest possible opportunity

Risk Asset and Commutment Exposure

Risk asset and commitment exposure at 31st December
2009 amounted to US$18,136 | mullion. Risk assets and
commitments compnse all assets included in the balance
sheet (with the exception of other assets) and credit-related
contingent items As referred to earlier, an analysis of nsk
asset and commutment exposure by category and geography 1s
contained 1n note 27 to the consolidated financeal statements
As 15 evident from this note, USS13.511 9 mullion or 75
per cent of total nsk assets and commitments represenied
exposure 1o counterparties and entities located in the GCC
states The remaining risk asset exposure largely represented
short term 1nterbank placements with major European banks
An analysis of denvative and foreign exchange products 1s
set out 1n note 30 while a further analysis of credut-related
conlingent items together with their nsk-weighted equvalents
15 contauned 1n note 31
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Financial Review (continued)

Risk asset and commitment expesure

US$ millions %

Asa 3008 17
Totol 18,1361 1000
FUNDING

Bank and customer deposits at 31st December 2009 totalled
US$10,049.5 mullion Customer deposits amounted o
US$7.495.3 million at the 2009 year end, representing 75 per
cent of total deposits A lower funding requirement resuluing
from the deleveraging imibatives implemented duning 2009,
including the sale of the non-core investment secunties and
the reduction in the loan portfolio, contnbuted to a sigmificant
reduction in the Bank's funding requrements and a resultant
decrease 1n both customer and bank deposits Bank deposits
at 31st December 2009 amounted to US$2,554 2 mullion,
representing only 25 per cent of total deposits

Total deposits arc analysed by geography tn note 13 to
the consolidated financial statements US$6,609 1 mllion or
66 per cent of total deposits were denved from counterparties
in GCC countnies while a further US$2 540 5 miihion or 25
per cent were denived from the wider Middle East and North
Afnica Deposits denved from other countnes, pnncipally
Europe, amounted to US$899 9 mullion or only 9 per cent of
total deposus This compares to placements with non-GCC
counterparties of U$%2 856 6 mitlion The Group is therefore
a net placer of funds in the internationa)l interbank market,
and accordingly has no net rehance on the international
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interbank market This helped to protect the Bank dunng the
unprecedented hquidity squeeze and associated drying up of
liquidity 10 the nterbank market witnessed 1n the lauer part
of 2008 and carly part of 2009

Secunties sold under agreements to repurchase (repos)
were US$565 0 mullion at 315t December 2009 A sigmificant
decrease 1n repos duning 2009 was attnbutable to the sale of
the non-core nvestment secunties The Bank continues to
utihise 1ts remaimung high quality and haghly rated investment
securities to raise funding on a collateralised basis which
were effecttve from a cost and tenor perspective

Senior term financing at 31st December 2009 totalled
US$3.007 9 tillion New semor term finance of US$883.3
mullton was rased m the second half of 2009, including a
groundbreaking SAR 2 billion3 year bondissue The new term
finance was raised 1n 2009 1n advance of matunties in 2010,
amountng in total to US$864 6 million US$1,783 3 million,
or well over half, of the Group's senior term financing 1s not
due to mature untll 2012 Further commentary on liquidity
and funding 1s provided in the Basel 2 Pillar 3 report

Deposits - geographical profile

USS malhons %




The re-affirmation of GIB’s ratings
reflects the Bank’s ability to withstand
the unprecedented pressures caused by
the international financial crisis.




Corporate Governance
e ——

SOUND GOVERNANCE

Headquartered 1n the Kingdom of Bahrain, and registered
as a conventional wholesale bank by the Central Bank of
Bahrain (CBB), GIB has long recognised the importance of
sound corporate governance as a cntical factor in attaiming
fairness for all stakeholders, and achseving organssational
integnty and efficiency

Since 2003, GIB has progressively adopted and
implemented standards of corporate govermnance relevant
to publicly-traded financial institutions, and has published
a statement on corporate governance n s Anneal Report
The Board of Directors and Management of GIB are
fully committed to complying with established corporate
governance best practices,

GIB has tn place the necessary infrastructure and controls
to comply with the requircments of the rules and regutations of
the CBB In addiion, s an miematonal finzncial msutution,
the Bank bas implemented the additional practices required o
comply with the requirements of the regulatory and supervisory
authorities tn the vanous junsdictions where it operates

Dunng 2009, GIB contunued to strengthen its corporate
governance framework and introduced new itiatives mmed
at promoting cnhanced corporate governance practices,
with particular emphasis on increasing the awareness and
understanding of Directors, management and staff on this
important topic

In addinon, a oumber of steps were taken to further
strengthen GIB's corporate govermance (ramework, ranging
from sclf-assessments to ensure compliance with the
requirements of the CBB on corporate govemance, to specific
milestones such as the implementation of GIB's Dsclosure
Policy 1 accordance with Basel 2 Pillar 3 requirements This
reflects the Bank's commitment to enhancing transparency, and
farrness i the disclosure of financia) informanon, for the benefit
of afl users of that information, including regutators, customers,
countcrpartics, raing agencics and other stakeholders
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KEY DEVELOPMENTS IN 2009
» Change n shareholding structure

o New Chief Executive Officer appointed
+ Newly constituted Board of Directors
e New Board Executive Commuttee established

« Letters of Appointment & Guidehnes 1ssued to new
Durectors and new CEO

» Updated Corporate Policy Manual approved by the Board

+  Annual ‘Compliance Message' to all staff 1ssued by the
CEO

+ Al departments of the Bank now produce a quarterly

self-assessment report on Compliance with CBB rules
+  Adopuon of new automated Insututiona! Informatton System

« New Comphance Manager & MLRO apposnted for Sauds
Arabia

*  Complance awarencss programmes for staff conducted
throughout the GCC

« 105 staff aitended AML/CFT traning courses, and 63
addimonal staff compteted online AML/CFT training

» Semtor management ottended special AML/CFT

awareness workshop

«  Sponsored 2009 GCC Regulators Summut 1n Dubar

ORGANISATION

The Bank has a corporate governance structure in place
that segregates functions and responsibiliues, reflecting the
necessary division of roles and responsib:lities between the
Board of Directors and management

+ There 15 an effective and appropnately constituted
Board of Directors responsible for the stewardship of the
Bank and the supervision of the Bank’s business, which
recennes from management the information required to
property fulfill sis duties and the duties of the Commuttees
that assist 11, and which delegates to management the
authonty and responsility for managing the day-to-day
business of the Bank




* There 1s an effective and appropnately organised
management structure responsible for the day-to-day
management of the Bank and the implementaton of
Board-approved strategy, policies and internal controls

* There 15 a clear division of roles and responsibihities
between the Board of Directors and management, and

between the Chairman and the Chref Executive Officer

¢ There are defined and documented mandates and
responsibilities (as well as delegated authontes, where

applicable) for

* The Board of Directors

* The Chairman of the Board
¢ The Board Commuttees

+ The Management

* The Chief Executive Officer

¢ The Management Committees

The Bank’s corporate governance structure and organtsation

chart 1s set out on page 121 of thts Annua! Report

SHAREHOLDERS
In 2009, changes took place 1n the shareholding of GIB
both 1n terms of actual shareholders and i1n shareholding
percentages

The current shareholding structure 1s as follows (as of
January 2010)

[Pubilc Investment Fund, Saud:s Arabia

97 226%
VKuwan Investment Authonty, Kuwait 7 0 7&0%
[ Quas Holdig Company, Quar ____ 0730%
oty s
Bahrain Mumntalakat Holding Company, Bahrain 0438%
_l\.{a_n;slry_of F;na;lcc.()_n_l;m K 0 438%
Minustry of Finance, United Arab Emurates 0 438%

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
In accordance with the Bank’s Articles of Association,
Durectors are appointed by the Bank’s shareholders

The Board comprises seven non-execulive directors,
including the Chairman and Vice-Chairman, who together
bnng a wide range of skills and experience to the Board Their
hiographies are set out on page 122 of this Annual Report

Independence of Directors

In December 2009, the Board of Directors of the Bank
approved a detaled cntena to determine whether a
director should be classified as independent or non-
independent, such cnterta sets out anumber of factors
which would prevent a director from bewng classified as
independent, directors prevented from being classified
as independent by the cntena are automatcally classified
as being non-independent, and all other directors are
automatically classified as being independent The Central
Bank of Bahrain has established rules relaung to when
directors of entittes such as the Bank can be classified as
independent and the cnitena approved by the Board of
Durectors 1s consistent with such rules or 1s more restnctive
The approved critena includes a mateniality threshold relative
1o payments to a director and vanous related parties that
woutd preclude such directors from being classified as being
independent As at 31st December 2009, only two directors
of the Bank are classified as non-independent in accordance
with the approved critena, and all the other directors of the
Bank are classificd as independent (see chart on page 27)

Board Responsibilities
The Board s responsible forthe strategic direction of the Bank,
maintaining an appropriate organisation structure, approving
mayor policies, montoring business performance, operations
and the integrity of internal controls, nurtunng proper and
ethical behaviour, providing appropnate oversight, and
conducting corporate governance tn a transparent manner
The Board performs 1ts responsibilities as a supervisory
board while delegating to the Bank's management the
responsibility for the management of the Bank within
polictes, guidelines and parameters set by the Board
Infulilinent of the requurements of the corporate governance
rules of the CBB, Letters of Appomntment were 1ssued i 2009
by the Chatrman to the newly-appointed directors

*  First, remunding them that directors are responsible for
contnbuting to the oversight of the Bank’s affairs with
professionatism and tntegnty, with the atm of achieving
the strategic and financial objectives adopted by the Board,
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M

* Second, pointing out that a key responsibility of the Board
1s to fill the gap between stakcholders (shareholders,
creditors, employees, depositors, investment account
holders. etc) to whom the Board owes a duty of care,
and execulive management, by monitonng management
closely on behalf of stakehotders, and

+ Third, drawing attention to the fact that a detailed
description of directors’ responsibilities ts outlined 1n the
Mandate of the Board and 1n the Mandate of Directors, as
adopted by the Board, and that these responsibilities are
to be cammed out 1n hine with the standards of the Code of
Conduct adopted by the Board

In preparauon for Board and Commuitiee meetings, the

directors receive 1n a tumely manner regular reports and all

other information required for such meetings, supplemented
by any addiuonal information specifically requested by the
directors from ume to ume The directors also recesve monthly
financial reports and other regular management reporis
that enable them to evaluate the Bank’s and management’s
performance against agreed objectives As prescnbed n
the Bank's Articles of Association, the Board plans at least
four meetings per year, with further meetings to occur at the
discretion of the Board

The detals of committee membershp and directors’
attendance 1n 2009 are set out in the following two tables
(Table | covers the period January to August 2009 for the
then-exusting Board, and Table 2 covers the pertod Augusi to
December 2009 for the newly constituted Board)

TABLE 1 - DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE JANUARY TO AUGUST 2009

(Bahrain Mumntalakar Holding Co , Bahrain)

HR &
Audit Compensation Risk Policy
Board Commiftee Committee Committee
Board Members Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings
H E Mr Jammaz Abdulla Al-Suharm - Chairman 6 (6)
{Saud! Arabian Monetary Agency)
Mr Abdul Aziz M Al-Abdulkader - Vice Chaurman 6 (6)
(Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency)
H E. Dr Hamad Sulaaman Al-Baza 6 {6) sS&5*
(Publtc Investment Fund, KSA)
Mr Saud Nassir Al-Shukaly 5 (6) 35 3(3)
{Munistry of Finance, Oman)
Mr Khalid Abdulia Al-Sowaid) 6(6) I3
(Qutar Investment Authority)
Mr Nasser Khamis Al-Suwaidi 6(6) 5(5)
(Mimstry of Finance United Arab Emurates)
Dr Khalid Abdulla Al-Swetlem 6(6) 5(5) 33"
(Saud: Arabian Monetary Agency)
H E. Dr Abdul Rahman Ahmed Al-Jafary 5(6)
(Sauds Arabian Moenetary Agency)
Mr Ahmed Tahous Al-Rashed Al-Tahous 5{6) 4(5) 2(3)
( Kiewautt fnvestment Authority)
Mr Khahl Ebrahim Noocruddin 6(5) 33
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TABLE 2 - DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE SEPTEMEBER TO DECEMBER 200%

HR &
Audit  Compensation Risk Policy Executive Executive/ Independent/
Board Committee Committee Committee Committee Non- Non-
Board Members Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings  Meetings  Executive Independent
H E. Mr Jammaz Abdulla Al-Suhaim 1(3) Non- Independent
Charrman Executive
Mr Mansour Saleh Al-Maiman i3 Non- Non-
Vice Chairman Executive  Independent
H E Dr Hamad Sulaiman Al-Baza 33 1 Non- Non-
Execative Independent
Dr Abdullah Hassan Al-Abdul-Gader 33 2(2)* Non- Independent
Executive
Mr Sulaiman Abdullah Al-Hamdan 33 1(1) Non- Independent
Executive
Mr Abdutla Mohammed Al Zamul 33 2(2) 1(1) Non- Independent
Executive
Mr Khaled Saleh Al-Mudaifer 33 2(2) Non- Independent
Execotive

* Comnutiee Chairman

Figures in brackets indicate maxumum number of meetings during the period of membership

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Commuttees of the Board of Directors denve their authoriues and powers from the Board Details of Board Commuttee
membership and attendance are listed on pages 26 and 27 of this Annua! Report

Board Committees Member Name Member Position
Executive Commuittee Mr Jammaz Al-Suhaimi Chatrman
Mr Mansour Al Maiman Member
Dr Hamad Al-Baza Member
Mr Sulaiman Al-Hamdan Member
Audit Committee Dr Abdullah Al-Abdul-Gader Chairman
Mr Abdulla Al Zam:l Member
Mr Khaled Al-Mudarfer Member
HR & Compensation Commuttee Mr Mansour Al Maiman Chairman
Dr Abdutlah Al-Abdul-Gader Member
Mr Khaled Al-Mudaifer Member
Rusk Policy Commuittee Dr Hamad Al-Bazai Chairman
Mr Abdulla Al Zamul Member
Mr Sularman Al-Hamdan Member
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Executive Commuttee
In September 2009, the newly-constituted Board of Directors
decided to establish a new Executive Commuttee Detals of
the mandate of this commuttee are pending final review and
approval by the Board

Audit Commttee
The mandate of the Audit Committee requires 11 lo

« Assist the Board 1n fulfilling its statutory and fiduciary
responsibilities with respect to internal controls, accounting

pohicies, auditing and financial reporting practices

«  Assist the Board 1n 1its oversight of (1) the integnty and
reporting of the Bank’s quarterly and annual financial
statements, (1) compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, and (1} the independence and performance

of the Bank’s internal and external auditors

» Review the activities and performance of the internal

audit function

The mandate of the Audit Commuttee provides further

particulars on financial reporing processes, process
improvements, as well as additional ethical and legal
compliance overview responsibilities

The Group Chuef Auditor reports functionally to the Audit

Commutiee, and adminstratively to the Chuef Executive Officer

Human Resources and Compensation Commiitee
The mandate of the Human Resources and Compensation

Comimnittee requires 1t to

* Assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibihities for the

Bank’s human resources and remuneration policies

e Review the Bank’s human rescurces and compensation
pohicy proposals, and make the necessary recommendations
1n that regard for approval by the Board

* Ensure that the Bank’s remuneration levels remain
competitive for the Bank to continue 1o attract, retain
and motivate competent staff to achieve the strategy and
objectives of the Bank

*  Monitor the overall cost of remuneration structures of
the Bank

28 | GULF INTERNATIONAL BANK

« Ensure that effective management systems are in place to

monttor and evaluate the performance of staff

» Review the Bank’s succession plan report for submission

to the regulators

Risk Policy Commuttee
The mandate of the Risk Policy Commmuttee requires 1t to

«  Assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities
with respect 1o settung the Bank’s overall nsk appetite,
parameters and lumts within which 1t conducts s

activities

* Ensure that the Bank has an effectve risk management
framework 1n place and that all nsk controls operating
throughout the Bank are 1n accordance with regulatory
requrements and best practice standards for management
of risks 1n banks

«  Ensure that reahistic policics with respect to management of
all sigmificant nsks are drafted and approved appropnately

* Review the Bank’s nsk profile and sigmficant nsk

positions

«  Approve with management the overall credit nsk policy

limits

+ Receive, review, challenge and recommend for approval,
by the fult Board, any proposed amendments to the overall
nisk appette for the Bank

s Ensure that roles and responsibilities for nsk management
are clearly defined, and that they remain independent of

business development

« Ensure that, on a imely basis, management informs the
Committee of all sigmificant nsks ansing and that it 1s
comfortable with management’s responses and acttons

taken to address such findings

+ Ensure that management reports stgruficant excesses and
exceptions, as and when they anse, to the Committee for

information and review

* Monitor whether managemen! maintains a culture that
rewards the recogmtion, communcation and management
of nsks




.
[y

MANAGEMENT
The Semor Management team, which 18 responsible for the
day-to-day management of the Bank entrusted to it by the
Board, 1s headed by the Chief Executive Officer, who 1s
assisted by the Chief Frnancial Officer, the Chief Investment
& Treasury Officer, the Head of Risk Management, the
Managing Drirector Merchant Banking, and the Managing
Dhrector Operations & Adnumistration  Their biographies are
set out on page 123 of this Annual Report

Dr Yalhva A Ahahva offictally assumed his duties as
Chief Executive Officer on 1st January 2009

Six commuttees assist the Chief Executive Officer in the

management of the Bank.

¢ Management Commuttee

¢  Group Risk Commutiee

» Agssets and Liabihities Committee (ALCO)

¢ Information Technology Steenng Commattee
¢ Information Secunty Management Commttee

* Operational Risk Committee

These commuttees denve their authonties from the Chief
Executive Officer, based on the authonties and hLmuts
delegated by the Board of Directors

In fulfilling its princtpal responsibiity for the day-to-day
management of the Bank, the Seruor Management team 1s
required to implement Board-approved policies and effecuve
controls, within the strategy and objectives set by the Board

Letters of Appointment are i1ssued by the Chairman to
members of the Sentor Management team setting out their
specific responsibilites and accountabthties that include
asststing with and contnibuting to the following

* Formulation of the Bank's strategic objectives and
direction

*» Formulation of the Bank’s annual budget and business
plan

+ Ensuring that high-level policies are 1n place for all areas

and that such policies arc fully applied

+ Settung and managing of nsk/return targets i hine with
the Bank’s overall nsk appetite

*  Determining the Bank’s overall nsk-based performance
measurement standards

* Reviewing business umts’ performance and imtiating
appropriate action

¢ Ensunng that the Bank operntes to the highest ethical
standards, and complies with both the letter and spint of
the law, applicable regulations and codes of conduct

¢ Ensunng that the Bank 1s an exemplar of good business

practice and customer service

Their attention 1s also drawn to the fact that these obligations
arc 1n addition to their specific functional responsibilities
and objectives, and those set out tn the Bank's Corporate
Policy Manual

STAFF COMPENSATION
In line with industry best practice, and 1n consultation with
external independent remuneratton consultants, GIB has
established a comprehensive staff compensation policy based
on total compensation

The scheme consists of the following for al staff except
the CEO

* A fixed component representing basic pay, allowances
and benefits which are reviewed and compared annually
with market levels, based on an independent market

survey and adjusted as appropriate

¢ A vapable component representing a performance-
related award linked to the performance of the Bank
the contnbution of the relevant umt and the individual s
personal performance The scheme 15 based on defined

quantitative as well as qualitative measures

* Based on established cntena, the performance bonus of
the Managing Directors 1s recommended by the CEO
for review and endorsement by the Board’s Human
Resources and Compensation Committee, subject to
Board approval

« Apnually the Human Resources and Compensation
Committee reviews management proposals with regard
to long term retention incentives, and makes necessary
recommendations for Board approval
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CEO COMPENSATION
« The CEO 1s appomnted by the Board of Drrectors for a
term of three years Renewal 15 considered prior to the

expiration of each term

* The fixed compensation components are negotiated and
determined at time of rencwal, with the assistance and
input from independent externat compensation evaluation
experts

¢ The performance bonus of the CEQ s recommended
by the Board's Human Resources and Compensation
Commuttee, and approved by the Board based on the
established scheme mechamsm approved by the Board

BOARD OF DIRECTORS COMPENSATION
To assist with establishing the appropriate structure and
level of compensation, independent external consultants
are mvolved to advise on market pracuice and provide
suggestions Generally, the compensation 15 linked to actual
attendance of meetings

The structure and level of compensation for members of
the Board of Directors are approved by the AGM and consist
of the following

« Attendance fees payable to members attending different
Board and related Commuttees” meetings

¢+ Allowance to cover travelling, accommodation
and subsistence, while attending Board and retated

Commuttees’ meetings

+ A predefined fixed amount representing an annual

remuneration fee

STRATEGY & OBJECTIVES
After having conducted a thorough analysis of its operations
in the context of the regional and global industry in 2002, the
Bank implemented improvements to 1ts governance structure,
orgamisational structure, business model and performance
framework, and started to put mto effect 1ts new objective,
best summansed as follows To become the GCC merchant
bank of choice, with market leaderstup m a dversified
portfolio of activities

Within that objective, every year the Board of Directors

reassesses and approves a detayled strategic plan that covers
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the planned activities of the Bank for the next three years, tn
light of changing global and regional market condiions

Given the impact of the global financial cnsis and
economtc downturn during 2009, the Board has appointed
the Boston Consulung Group to assist the Board and
management in dev eloping a new appropriate bustness model
and a strategy to achieve 1t This 1s expected to be approved
and announced dunng the first half of 2010

COMPLIANCE
The Board has adopted a Comphance framework that reflects
the pnnciples for promoting sound compliance pracuices at
GIB, which demoustrates the Bank's adherence to applicable
legat and regulatory requirements and to high professional
standards The role of the Compliance funcuon 1 to assist senior
rianagement to ensure that the activities of GIB and us stafT are
conducted tn conformty with applicable laws and regulations,
and generally with sound practices perunent to thase activities
The Head of Compliance (Bahrain), who reports directly to
the Chucf Executive Officer, also has access to the Board of
Drrectors through the Audit Commuttee of required

In ensunng that the tone emanates from the top, the
Chief Executive Officer 1ssues a yearly message to all of
GIB reminding everyone of the importance of complying
with all laws and regulations applicable to GIB's operations,
and good compliance behaviour 1s rewarded by making 1t a

mandatory measurcment item 1n staff evaluations

ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING

The Bank's current anti-money laundering and combating
the financing of terronsm (AML/CFT) procedures and
guideltnes conform to the legal and regulatory requirements
of the Kingdom of Bahrain
requrements reflect the FATF recommendations on Money

These legal and regulatory

Laundening and special recommendations on Terronst
Financing

The GiB AML/CFT procedures and guidelines apply toall
of the Bank's offices, branches and subsidianes (collectively
In addition, the GIB
entities located outside Bahraun are subject to the laws and

“GIB entties”), whetever located

requirements of the junsdictions where they opcrate, and 1f
local standards differ, the higher standards apply




[ ————e—————

Systems are 1n place 1o ensure that business relationships
are commenced with clients whose identity and acuvities
can reasonably be established to be legiumate, to collect
and record all relevant client information, to momtor and
report suspicious transactions, to provide penodic AML/CFT
traiung to employees, and to review with external audrtors
the effectiveness of the AML/CFT procedures and controls

A proactive structure of officers 1s tn place to ensure
group-wide comphiance with AML/CFT procedures, and
the ttmely update of the same to reflect the changes n
regulatory requirements  This structure consists of the Head
of Compliance (Bahrain) and Group Money Laundenng
Reporting Officer, Comphance Officers, MLROs, and
Deputy MLROs

CORPORATE COMMUNICATIONS
The Bank has in place a Corporate Communtcations policy
in line with the requrements of the Central Bank of Bahraun,
1o ensure that the disclosures made by the Bank are far,
transparent, comprehensive and tmely, and reflect the
character of the Bank and the nature, complexaty and nsks
inherent 1n tts business acuvities  Man communicauons
channels include an Annuat Report, corporate brochure,
newsletter, and announcements 1n the appropnate media
This transparency ts also reflected in the Bank's website
(www gibonline com) that provides substantial information
on the Bank, including its profile and mulestones, 1ts vision,
mission, strategy and objectives, 1ts Code of Conduct, its
financral statements, and its press releases

DISCLOSURES

The Bank's website also provides access to GIB's Annual
Reports, and all the information contaned in these reports
1s therefore accessible globally That information includes
management discussion on the business acuvities of the Bank,
as well as discussion and analysis of the financial statements
and nsk management The financial nformauon reflects
the latest international accounting standards requirements,
inctuding the increased level of disclosure resulting from the
adoption of IFRS 7 —Financial Instrumeats Disclosures, such
as the disctosures on related party transactions in note 35 to

the consolidated financia) statements

The Board-approved Disclosure Policy reflects the
requirements of Basel 2 Pillar 3, in comphiance with CBB
rules The objective of this policy 1s to ensure transparency
in the disclosure of the financial and nsk profiles of the Bank

to all interested parties

CODE OF CONDUCT
The Bank's website also contauins the Board-approved Code
of Conduct that contans rules on conduct, ethics and on
avoiding conflicts of interest. applicable to all the employees
and directors of the Bank

The Code of Conduct 1s designed to gwde all
employees and directors through best practices to fulfill
their responsibilines and obligations towards the Bank's
stakeholders
suppliers, the public, the host countries 1n which the Bank

(shareholders, chents, staff, regulators,
conducts business, etc ), in compliance with all applicable
laws and regulations

The Code addresses such 1ssucs as upholding the law and
following best pracuices, acting responsibly, honestly, fairly
and ethucally, avoiding conflicts of interest, protecing Bank
property and data, protecting client confidential information
and safeguarding the information of others, complying with
mside information nules and wath the prohubition on tnsider
trading, preventing money laundenngand terronism financing,
rejecting bnbery and corruption, avording compromsing
gifts, as well as speaking up and ‘whistle-blowing’

Members of staff can also access the Code of Conduct on the
GIB intranet, where 1t 1s available both tn English and Aratec

POLICY ON CONNECTED COUNTERPARTIES

In December 2009, thc Board approved a Policy on
Connected Counterparties that governs GIB’s dealings with
such partics  The Policy defines which parties are considered
to be connected to GIB within the ¢ntena set by the CBB,
and imposes not only the limitations placed by the CEB but
also additional cntena imposed by GIB The Policy sets out
the intemal responsibibues for reporhing GIB's connected
counterpartics exposures to the CBB, and the disclosures to
be made in GIB's financial statements and Annual Reports, in
Iine with applicable disclosure requrcments
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As we strive towards becoming the “Employer
of Choice” we will continue to attract, develop
and retain the best talent in the industry.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders

Repart fo the consolidated financial statements

We haove audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Gulf International Bank BSC {“the Bank’}
and its subsidianies (together the “Group”), which compnse the consolidated statement of hnancial pesition as at
315t December 2009, and the consol:dated statements of ncome, comprehensive income, cash flows and the changes in equity
for the year ended, and a summary of signiicant accounhing policies and other explanatory notes

Responsibility of the directors for the consolidated financral statements

The directors of the Bank are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consohdated hnancial statements
in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards This responsibility includes designing, implementing and
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentahon of the consolidated financial statements that are free
from matenal misstatements, whether due fo fraud or error, seleching and applying approprate accounting policies, and making
accounhng eshmates that are responsible in the circumstances

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility 15 to express an opinion on these consohdated financial statements based on our audit We conducted our
audit in occordance with International Standards on Audiing Those standards require that we comply with relevant ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obiain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial statements ore
free from matenal misstotement

An cudit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements The procedures selected depend on our judgment, tncluding the assessment of the risks of matenal misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error In making those nsk assessments, we consider infernal
control relevant to the entity’s preparahion and fair presentahon of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropnate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opunion on the effectiveness
of the ently’s internal control An audit also includes evaluahng the appropriateness of accounhing principles used and the
reasonableness of accounting eshmates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements

Wae believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 15 sufficient and appropricte to provide a basis for our audit opinion

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated hinancial statements present farrly, n all motenal respects, the financial posihon of the Group
as at 3151 December 2009, and of is hnancial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the
Internakonal Financial Standards

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

In additon, in our opintan, the Bank has mantained proper accounting records and the consolidated financial statements are
in agreement therewith We have viewed the accompanying Chairman’s Statement and conhrm that the imformation contaned
therein 1s consistent wath the consolidated finanaial statement We are not aware of any vidkahon of the Bahrain Commercial
Law 2006, terms of the Bank's license or ifs memorandum and arhicles of associahon having occurred during the year ended
315t December 2009 that might have had a matenal effect on the busiess of the Bank or on s inancial positon Sahsfactory
explanahons and information have been provided fo us by the management in response to all our requests

KPMG

Public Accountants

Manama, Kingdom of Bahraimn
27th February 2010
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

31.12.09 311208

Note US$ millions US$ millions
ASSETS
Cash and other hiquid assets 5 508.2 3030
Placements 6 4,101.1 4037 4
Dve from shareholders 7 - 4,8320
Trading securihes 8 50.2 2071
Investment securihes 9 2,018.1 2,2205
loans and advances 10 9.,298.1 12,9721
Other assets n 232.0 4614
Total assets 16,207.7 25,0335
LIABILITIES
Deposits from banks 13 2,554.2 33859
Deposits from customers 13 74953 15,009 1
Secuntes sold under agreements to repurchase 14 555.0 1,2448
Crher habilihes 15 2949 4867
Senior term financing 16 3,007.9 2,431 5
Subordinated term hnancing 17 511.0 5500
Total liabilites 14,428.3 23,1080
EQUITY
Share capital 18 2,500.0 2,5000
Share premum 7.6 76
Reserves 19 2225 2160
Retained earnings 950.7) (798 1)
Totol equity 1,779.4 19255
Total habilities & equity 16,207.7 25,0335

The consalidated finoncial statements wers approved by the Board of Directors on 27th February 2010 and signed on «s behalf by

Mansour bin Saleh Al Maiman Abdullah bin Hassan Al-Abdul-Gader Yohya bin Abdullah Alychyo
Vice Chairman Chairman of Board Audit Committee Chief Executive Officer

The nctes an pages 40 to 85 form an integral part of these consdlidated financial statements
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Consolidated Statement of Income

M

Interest income
Interest expense
Net interest income

Fee and commission ncome

Net trading income / {lass)

Realised profits on investment secuntes
Other income

Total income

Staff expenses

Premises expenses

Other operahng expenses
Total operating expenses

Net income before provisions and tax

Provisions for investment secunhes
Provistons for loans and advances

Net loss before tax
Taxchon charge on overseas achvihes
Net loss

Earnings per share

Mansour bin Saleh Al Maiman
Vice Charman

Year ended Year ended

311209 311208

Note USS millions Us$ millions
21 442.8 1,2220
21 256 3 9337
206.5 2883

22 40.7 733
23 28 2 {86 7}
1.2 394

24 24 84
286 0 3227

77.2 950

12.3 104

333 375

122.8 1429

183.2 1798

Q 48.0 {365 1)
10 (381.7) (201 7}
{150.5) {387 Q)

{2.1) (9 2)

{152.4) 1396 2}

37 {US50.08) {US$0 16}

Abdullsh bin Hassan Al-Abdul-Gader Yahya bin Abdullah Alyahyo
Chatrman of Board Audit Committee Chief Executive Officer

The notes an pages 40 ko 85 form an integral port of these consalidated financial statements
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Net loss

Other comprehensive income
Cash flow hedges -

- net foir value gains

- transfers to consolidated statement of income
Available-for-sole secunties -

- net fair value gains
- transfers o consolidated statement of income

Total other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income

Year ended Year ended
31.1209 311208
USS millions Us$ millions
(152 6) {396 2)
@9 105
{60 {4 4)
2.6 82
- 921
6.5 106 4
(146.1) (289 B)

The nates en poges 40 to 85 form an integrel pant of thesa consalidated financia! staternents
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

At 1st January 2008
Transfer to share capital

Total comprehensmve ncome for
the year

At 315t December 2008

Total comprehensive income for
the year

At 315t December 2009

#

Proposed .
Share  increase in Share Retained

copital  share capital premium Reserves earnings Total
USS milbions  USS millions  US$ milkons  US$ millions  US$ millions  US$ millions
1,500.0 1,000.0 76 109.6 {401.9) 22153

1,000 ¢ {1,000 0} - - - -
- - - 106 4 {394 2) 1289 8)
2,500.0 - 7.6 2160 (798.1) 1,925.5
- - - 65 {152.6} 146 1)
2,500.0 - 76 2225 {950.7) 1,779.4

The notes on pages 40 to 85 korm an mtegral port of these consdlidated financial statements
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss after tax

Adjusiments to reconcile net loss to net cash inflow
from operahng achwihes

Provisions for investment securihes
Provisions for loans and cdvances

Profits on investment securihes

Amorhsation of investment secunhes
Decrease in occrued interest recervable
Decrease n occrued interest payable

Net {increase) / decrease in other ne! assets
Net decrease in froding securthes

Net cash inflow from opercting activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Net decrease in due from brokers
Net (increase) / decrease in placements
Decrease / {increase) in due from shareholders
Net decrease / [increase) in loans and advances
Purchase of investment securihes
Sale and matunty of investment secunhes

Net cash inflow from investing activities

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net decrease in deposits from banks
Net {decrease) / increase in deposits from customers
Net decrease in securihes sold under agreements to repurchase
Net decrease in secunihes sold but not yet purchased
Net increase / (decrease) in senior term financing
Decrease in subordinated term hnancing
Increase in share capital

Net cash outflow from financing adtivities

Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents ot 15t Januvary

Cash and cosh equivalents at 31st December

Year ended Year ended
31 12.09 311208
US$ millions US$ millions
{152.4) (396 2)
(48.0) 3651
817 2017
12 {39 4)

0.3 07
177.6 1097
(143.5) {77 2)
{40 3) 367
1569 1,1355
3109 1,336 6

- 2433
63.7) 1,591 6
4,832.0 4,832 0)
33124 {5720)
47 7 {452 4)
349.2 60713
8,3822 20398
87 {2,584 9)
(7,513 8 1,3350
(679 8) {2,896 7)
- {233 2}
576.4 {226 3}

{39.0) -

- 1,000 0
8.487.9) {3,606 1)
205.2 2297
303.0 5327
508.2 3030

The notes on poges 40 1o 85 form an infegral part of these consdlidated financial stotements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 315t December 2009

1. INCORPORATION AND REGISTRATION

The parent company of the Group (the Group), Gulf Internahonal Bank B S C {the Bank}, 1s a Bahraini Shareholding
Company incorporated in the Kingdom of Bahrain by Amin Decree Law No 30 dated 24th November 1975 and 13
regustered o3 a conventional wholesale bank with the Central Bank of Bahrain The regustered office of the Bank 15 located
at Al-Dowa!i Building, 3 Paloce Avenue, Manama, Kingdom of Bahroin

The Group 15 pnnaipally engaged in the provision of wholesale commercial and mvestment banking services The Group
operates through subsidiaries, branch offices and representative offices located in six countries worldwide The total number
of staff employed by the Group at the end of the hinancial yeor wes 437

2.  ACCOUNTING POLCIES
The principal accounting policies adopted 1n the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are set out below -

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Internahonal Financial Reporting
Standards and in conformity with the Bohram Commercicl Comparmes Law and the Central Bank of Bahrain and
Finanaial Inshivhons Law The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the hustorical cost
convention as modified by the revaluahon of trading secuntes, avadable-for-sale secunihes and dervative hnanadl
tnstruments as explained 1n more detall in the following accounting policies Recognised assets and liabilihes that are
hedged by dervative financial istruments ore also stated ot Fair value i respect of the nsk that 1s being hedged The
accounting policies have been consistentty applied by the Bank and its subsidianes and are consistent with those of
the previous year, except as noted below

The amendment to Infernahona! Accounting Standard (LAS) 1 - Presentahon of Finanaial Statements become effechve
as of 15t January 2009 As a resuly, the Group has amended the presentahon of the consolidated financiol statements,
most notubly the inclusion of the consolidated statemen) of comprehensive income As o result, cll owner-related
changes in equity are presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity, whereas all non-owner reloted
changes 1n equity are presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income The amendment 1o LAS 1 only
impacts presentation, and as such, there 1s no impact on the hnancial posihon of the Group Comparative informahon
has been re-presented in conformity with the omended standerd

The Group has applied the amendments o Infernational Financral Reporting Standard {IFRS) 7 - Financial Instruments
Disclosures that require enhanced disclosure about fair value measurements and hquidity risk in respect of hnancial
instruments The amendments require disclosure of information relahing to Fair value measurement that was previously
voluntanly disclosed by the Group, and hence has limited impact on the consolidoted financial stotements The
disclosures in respect of the farr values of Ainancial instruments are set out in note 36 The disclosures in respect of
hquidity nisk are set out in notes 28{c), 28 and 31

The Group has adopted the new IFRS 8 - Opercting Segments which became effective as of 1st January 2009
The standard replaces IAS 14 - Segment Reporting In accordance with the new standard, operating segments are
determined and presented based on the nformaton that 1s infernally provided 1o the Board of Directors, and the
Group Management Commttee which 15 the Group’s chief operching decision maker The new standard requires the
prasentahon of operating segments on the same basis as were previously disclosed by the Group, and hence has no
impact on the consolidated hinanaal statements The disdosures in respect of operating segments are set out in note 25

22 Consolhdahion principles
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Gult Internatonal Bank B SC and s subsidiaries
Subsidiary undertokings are companies and other entities, including special purpose entihes, in which the Bank
holds, directly or indirectly, more than one half of the vohng nghts, o otherwisa has the power to exeraise effective
control over the financial and operating policies of the entity Al intercompany balances and transactions, including
unrealised gains and losses on lransachions between Group companies, have been eliminated
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e ——————————— |
2.  ACCOUNTING POUCIES {continued)
2.3 Foreign currencies
tems inchuded in the consolidated financial statements of the Bank and s pnncipal subsidianes are measured based
on the currency of the primary enviranment in which the enhity operates {the funchonal currency) The consohidated
financial statements are presented tn US Dollers, representing the Bank's funchonal and presentahon currency
Transachons in forexgn currencies are converted to US Dellars at the rate of exchange prevailing at the date of the
transachion Manetary assets and liabilines denominated tn foreign currencies are translated into US Dollars ot market

rates of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date Redlised and unrealised foreign exchange gains and losses
are included in troding income

2.4 Finanaal assets and habdites
Financial assets and habilihes compnsa all assets and hobilibes reflected on the statement of financial posihon,
cithough excluding tnvestments in subsidianes, associated companies and joint ventures, emplayee benefit plans,
property and equipment, deferred toxahion and taxahon payable

a)  Initial recognibion and measurement
Finanaial assets are dassthed at ncephion into one of tha followang three categones -
. he'd'FOr'h'udlng
¢ loans and recervables
» avalable-for-sale financial assets

Finanaial assets, other than those held-for-trading, are mrhally recogmised at foir value, including transachon costs
that are directly attnbutable to the acquisihon of the financic! asset

Finanaia! habilines are inally recogrised at fair value, representing the proceeds receved net of premiums, discounts
and Iransaction costs that are directly attnbutable to the financial habihity

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets and licbilines held-for-trading are recogrused on the trade
date, 10 the date on which the Group commuts fo purchase or sell the hnancial osset or Labilty All regular way
purchases and sales of other financial assets and liobilihes are recogrised on the setlement date, 16 the date on
which the asset or hobility 15 received from or delivered to the counterparty Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of hnanciol assats that require delivery within the hme frame generdlly established by regulation
or convenhon in the market place

bl  Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to Inihcl measurement, hnancial assets and liabilines are measured at either Farr value or amorhised cost,
depending on their dassification -

Held-for-trading

Held-for-trading financial gssets and liabiihes are assels or lichilibes acquired or incurred for the purpose of
generating o profit from short-term Auctuations in pnce or are induded m o portiolio in which a pottern of short-term
profit taking exists

Held-for-trading hnancial assets and liabilies are measured at farr value The foir vaolue for fnancial assets and
habilihes traded in actve markets is based on quoted pnices, induding quotahons cbtained from lead manogers,
brokers and dealers The bid price 1s used to measure financial assets and the offer price 15 used to measure financial
habilihes Mid-market pnees are used to measure Fair value only to the extent that the Group has brancial assets and
habilihes with offsetting nisk posihons

Realised and unrealised gains ond losses, mierest earmed or incurred, and dvdends recerved on held-for-trading
hnanaal assets and habilihes are included in troding income
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 315t December 2009

2  ACCOUNTING POLUCIES (confinued)

42

24
b)

<

25

Financial assets and liabilihes (conhnued)

Subsequent measurement {conhnued)

Loans and recervables

Loans and recevables are non-denvahve financial assets wath fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted n
an active market, ofher than those classified as held-for-trading The majonty of the Group’s loans and receivables
are included in the loans and advances category

Financiol assets dassihed as loans and recervables are stated ot amorhsed cost using the effective mterest rate method
as descnbed in note 2 7o}, less provision for impairment, wth inferest revenue recognised in the consolideted
statement of income

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are assets which are intended to be held for an indefimte period of hme and may
be sold in response to needs for hquidity, changes in interest rates, or concerns with respect to credit detenorchion

Available-for-sale financial ossets are measured at fair value The fair value for availoble-for-sale finanaial assets in
achve markets 1s based on quoted prices, nduding quotations cbtained from lead managers, brokers and dealers

The fair value for available-for-sale nancic! assets in mnactive markets 15 determined vsing appropriate valuahon
techniques Voluation techniques nclude companison o similar instruments for which there are observable prces, and
discounted cash flow techniques Unguoted and dlliquid equity investments for which fair values cannot be relrably
measured are stated at cost less provision for impairment

Unrealised gains and losses ansing from changes in the fair values of available-for-sale hnanaal assets are recogmsed
in other comprehensive income The cumulative foir value adjustments on available-for-scle inancial assets which are
sold or otherwise disposed or become impaired, and which had previously been recogmised in other comprehensive
income are transferred fo the consolidated statement of income

Non-trading finanaal habilities
All fnancial habiihes, other than those designated as held-for-rading, are classified as non-frading financial liabilies
and are measured at amorhsed cost using the effective interest rate method as deseribed in note 2 7(a)

Derecognihon of financial assets and habulihes

Finanaial assets are derecognised and removed from the consolidated statement of inancial posiion when the nght to
recetve cash flows from the assets has expired, the Group has transferred its contractual nght to receive the cash Aows
from the assets, and substantally all the risks and rewards of ownership, or where control 1s not retained Financial
lisbiities are derecogmised and removed from the consclidated statement of financial posiion when the obliganon 15
discharged, cancelled, or expires

Impairment of financial assets

A provision for impairment 15 estoblished where thera 15 objectve evidence that the Group will not callect all amounts
due, including both principal and interest, m accordance with the contractual terms of the credit facility Objectve
evidence that o financial asset s impaired may include o breach of contract, such os defoult or delinquency in inferest
or prncipal payments, the granting of a concession that, for economic or lagal reasons relahng to the borrawer’s
hnanaial difrculhes, that would not otherwise be considered, indicatons that 1t 15 probable thot the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other hinanciol reorganisahon, the disoppearance of an active emarket, or other cbservable data
relahing to a group of assets such as odverse changes in the payment status of borrowers or 1ssuers i the group, or
economic condihons that correlate with defaults in the group For equity securihes classihed as available-for-sale, a
signihcant or prolonged decline in fair value below cost 1s considered n determining whether o secunty 1s mpaired
Where such evidence exists, the cumulahve net loss that has been previously recognised 1n other comprehensive
income 13 transferred fo the consolidated statement of income The amount of the cumulative loss that 15 removed
from other comprehensive income and recognised m the consalidated statement of income 18 the difference between
the acquisiion cost and curvent fair value, less any impairment loss on that secunity previously recognised in the
consolidated statement of income
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2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

2.5

Impairment of financial assets (conhnued)

With the exception of prowisians for the mpairment of available-for-sale hnancicl assets, provisions for tmpairment
are determned based on the difference between the net carrying amount and the recoverable amount of the hnancial
asset The recoverchle amount 1s measured as the present value of expected future cash Aows, induding smounts
recoverable from guarantees and collateral, discounted based on the interest rate ot the incephion of the credit kacility
or, for debt instruments remeasured to fair value, ot the current market rate of interest for a similar financial asset
Provisions for the impairment of available-for-sale hinaneial assets are determined based on the difference between
the acquisition cost, net of principal repayments and amorhisahon adjustments, and the fair value of the financial asset,
fess any impairment loss previously recogrised in the consohdated statement of income  Cumulahve losses previously
recognised in other comprehensive income, are redossified from the availoble-for-sale securihes revaluaton reserve
m equity fo the consohdated statement of iIncome

Provisions for impairment are also measured and recognised on a collechve basis in respect of impairments that exist
at the balance sheet date but which will only be individually identhied in the future Future cash flows for Bnancial
assets that ara collechvely assessed for impairment are eshmated based on contractual cash flows and historical loss
expenences for assets with similar credit nisk charactenstics Histoncal loss expertence 1s adjusted, based on current
observable datua, to reflect the effects of current condiions that did not affect the period on which the histonical loss
expertence 15 based

Provisions for impairment are recognised in the consolidated statement of income and are reflected in an cllowance
account ogainst loans and odvances and investment secuntes

Financial assets are wnitten off cfter all restructuning and collechion achvihies have taken place ond the possibility of
further recovery 1s considered to be remote Subsequent recoveries are included in other income

With the excephon of provisions for the impairment of available-for-sale equity investments, provisions for impairment
are released and transferred to the consolidated statement of income where a subsequent increase in the recoverable
amount ts reloted objactively to an event occurning affer the provision for impairment was established Impairment
provisions for available-for-sale equity investments are only relecsed and transferred to the consolidated statement of
income on the redemphon or sale of the investment

Financiol assets which have been renegohated are no longer considered to be past due and ara reploced on performing
status when all prncipal and interest payments are up to date and future payments are reasonably assured Finenaal
assefs subject to indmdual impairment assessment and whose terms hove been renegohated, are subject to engoing
review to determine whether they remain impaired or should be considered past due

Offsetting financial assets and habilihes

Finoncial ossets and financial habilibes are only offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position when there s a legally enforceabla nght to set off the recognised amounts and there 15 an intenhon
to settle on o net basis, or o rectise the asset and settle the hobility simultaneousty

Revenue recogrihon

Interest income and mierest expense

Interest income and nterest expense for all interest-beanng financia! assets ond liabihties except those classiked as
held-for-trading are recogmsed using the effective interest rate method The effective interest rate method 15 @ method
of ealeulehing the amorhsed cost of a financial asset or hability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense
over the expected life of the osset or liability The effechve interest rate 1s the rote that exactly discounts estmated
future cash flows through the expected life of the hnancial asset or liabity or, where appropnate, a shorter penod,
to the net carrying amount of the finanaial asset or hability The opplication of the effective interest rate method has
the effect of recogmising interest Income and nterest expense evenly tn proportion fo the amount outstanding over
the penod to matunly or repoyment In cakulating the effechve interest rate, cash Rows are eshmated taking into
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ﬂ

For the year ended 31st December 2009

+“

ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

27

a}

b)

14

d)

28

29

Revenue recognihon (continued}

Interest income and interest expense [continued)

consideration ol contractual terms of the financial asset or habifity but excluding future credit losses Fees, including
loan onginahon fees and early redemphon fees, are induded i the calculahon of the affective interest rale to the
extent that they are considered 1o be an integral part of the effective interest rate

Interest income 15 suspended when erther interest or pninaipal on a credit facility 1s overdue by more than 90 days
whersupon all unpaid and accrued interest 1s reversed from income Inferest on non-accrual facilihes 15 ncluded
in income only when receved Credit faciliies are restored to accrual stotus only after all delinquent interest and
prncipal payments have been brought current and future payments are reasonably assured

Fees and commussions
Fees and commissions that are infegral to the effective mterest rate of a hnanaial asset or licbiity are included n the
calculahon of the effective interest rate

Other fees and commussions are recogmised as the related services are performed or recerved, and are included in fee
end comnussion income

Net trading mcome

Trading income anses from eamings generated from customer business and market making, and from changes in fair
valus resuling from movements in interest and exchange rates, equity prices and other markat variobles Changes
fair value and goins and losses ansing on the purchase and sale of net frading instruments are included in net trading
income, fogether with the reloted interest income, inferest expense and dividend income

Dividend income

Dividend income 1s recognised as follows -

- dwdends fom equily imnstruments dassified as held-for-troding are recognised when the nght o recerve the
dradend 1s established and are included in net troding income

- dmdends from equity instruments classihed as avarlable-for-sale are recogmised when the night to recerve the
dmdend 1s established and cre included in other income

. dmdends from structured finance investments are recognised when receved and are included in interest income
- n the separate inancial statements of the Bank, dividends from subsidianies are recognised when recerved

Secunhes financing arrangemenis

Secunihes purchased under agreements o resell (reverse repurchase agreements) and secunties sold under agreements
to repurchase {repurchase agreements) are treated as collaterchsed lending and borrowing transachions and cre
recorded n the consolidated statement of financial posihon at the amounts the securihes were inihally ccquired or
sold Interest earned on reverse repurchase agreements and inferest incurred on repurchase ogreements are included
in interest income and inferest expense respechvely Securihes purchased under agreements to resell are included in
cash ond cther hquid assets

Premises and equipment

Land 1s stated ot cost Other premises and equipment are stated ot cost less accumulated depreciahion The residual
values and useful lives of premises and equipment are reviewed ot each balance sheet date, and odjusted where
appropniate Where the carrying amount of premises or equipment is greater than the eshmated recoverable amount,
the carrying amount 1s reduced to the recoverable amount

Generally, costs associated with the maintenance of exishing computer sofiware are recognised as an expense when
incurred However, expenditurs that enhances and extends the benefits of computer software progrommes beyond
their onginal specihcahions and lives 15 recognised as a caprtal improvement and capitalised s part of the ongenal
cost of the software
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES {conhinued)

2 10 Other provisions

Other provisions are recogmsed when the Group has a present legal or constructive obhigahon as a result of a pas!
event, it 1s probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will ba required to seltle the obhgation,
and a reliable eshmate can be made of the amount of the cbligation

Denvative financial instruments and hedge accounhng
Desivative financidl nstruments ars contracts, the value of which 1s denved from one ar more underdying finanaiad mstruments
or indices, ond induds futures, forwords, swops and options in the inferest rate, foreign exchange, equity and credit markets

Denvative financial instruments are recognised in the consolidoted statement of hnoncial pesition at Far value
Farr volues are denved kom prevailing market prices, discounted cash flow models or ophon pricing models as
appropriate In the consolidated statement of hnanaial position, denvative financial mstruments with positve fair
values {unrealised gains) are included in other assets and dervative knancial mstruments with negative fair values
(unreahsed losses} are included in other habihihes

The changes in the fair valves of dervative finanaial instruments entered into for trading purposes or to hedge other
trading posihions are included in net trading ncome

The recognihon of changes in the Fair values of denvative hnanaial instruments entered into for hedging purposes
ts determined by the nature of the hedgng relahonship For the purposes of hedge accounhng, denvative financial
instruments are designated as a hedge of either (1} the fair value of o recogmised asset or habality {farr value hedge),
or (1} the huture cash flows attnbutable to a recogrised asset or hiability or a hrm commitment {cash flow hedge}

The Group's entenia for a denvative financic] instrument fo be accounted for as a hedge include -

the hedging mstrument, the related hedged ttem, the nature of the nsk being hedged, and the nsk management
objective and sirategy must be formally documented at the tncephon of the hedge,

it mys! be dearly demonstrated that the hedge 1s expected to be highly effective in offsething the changes n faur
values or cash flows atnbutable to the hedged nsk in the hedged item,

the effectiveness of the hedge must be copable of being reliably measured, and
the hedge must be assessed on an ongoing basis and determined to have actuatly been highly effechve throughout
the inanaial reporting penod

Changes n the fair values of dervative financial instruments that are designated, and qualify, os fair value hedges
and that prove to be highly effective in relation to the hedged risk, are included in net rading tncome together with
the corresponding change i the fair volue of the hedged asset or liability that 1s altnbutable to the nsk that 1s being
hedged Unreahised gains ond losses ansing on hedged assets or liabilihes which are atinbutable to the hedged nsk
are adjusted against the camying amounts of the hedged assets or habihihes n the consolidated statement of inancial
posihon I the hedge no longer meets the critenia for hedge accounting, any adjustment to the carrying amount of a
hedged interest-beaning finencial instrument 1s amortised to ncome over the remaining penod to matunty

Changes in the kair values of denvative finanad! mstruments that are designated, and quallfy, as cash flow hedges
and that prove to be highly effectve in relation fo the hedged nsk, are recognised in other comprehensive income

Unredlised gains or losses recognised in other comprehensive incoma are transferred to the consohidated statement of
income o the same hme that the income or expense of the comesponding hedged item 1s recogmised n the consolidated
statement of mcome and are incdluded n the same income or expenso category as the hedged item Unrealised gains
or losses on any ineffective pertion of cash flow hedging fransachons are induded 1n net roding income

The interest compenent of denvatives that are designated, and qualfy, as foir value or cash low hedges 13 included
in inferest income or inferest expense relating o the hedged item over the life of the dervatve instrument

Hedge accounhng 1s discontinued when the dervahve hedging instrument esther expires or ts sold, terminated or
exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting Gains and losses ansing on the terminahon of denvatives
designated as cash fow hedges are recogrised in interest income or inferest expense over the onginal tenor of the
terminated hedge ransachon
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2  ACCOUNTING POUCIES [kontnued)
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2.1

212

213

Derivahve financial nstruments and hedge accounhng (continued)

Some hybnd instruments contain both a denvahve and non-derwahive component In such cases, the denvative ts
categonsed as an embedded denvanve f the economic charactenshes and nisks of the embedded denvative are not
closely related to those of the host contract, and the overall contract itself 15 not camed ot fair value, the embedded
dervahve 1s bifurcated and measured at fair value Ifitis not prachically possible to bifurcate the embedded denvative,
the entire hybrid insirument 1s categonsed os held-for-trading and measured ot farr value Changes in farr value are
included in net rading income

Finanaial guarantees

Fenancial guarantees are contracts that require the Group to make specified poyments to reimburse the holder for
a loss 1t incurs because o speaihc debfor foils to make payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument Finanaial guarantees are 1ssued fo financial instituhions and other counterparties on behalf of customers to
secure loans, overdrafts and other banking facrlities, and to other parties i relation to the performance of customers
under obligations related to contraets, advance payments made by other parties, tenders and retentions

Financia] guarantees are inhally recognised at fair value on the date the guarantee 1s issued The guarantee licbility
15 subsequently measured o the higher of the inihal measurement, less amorhsation to recognise the fee income
earned over the period, and the present value of any expected hnancial obligahon anising as a result of an anhcipated
non-recoverable payment under o guarantee Any increase in a kabilty relaing to guorantees 1s recognised in
the consohdated statement of income In the consolidated statement of financial position, hranaal guorantees are
included in other hiabilihes

Post retirement benefits

The majority of the Group's employees are eligible for post rehrement benehts under erther defined bensht or defined
contribution pension plans which are prowded through separate trustee-administered funds or insurance plans
The Group also pays contributons to Government defined contnbuhon pension plans in accordance with the legol
requirements in each location

The Group's contnibutions to defined contnbuhon pension plans are expensed in the year fo which they relate

The pension costs for defined beneht pension plans are assessed using the projected umit credit method The cost of
providing pensions 15 charged to income so s fo spread the regular cost of pensions over the service lives of the
employees, n accordance with the advice of an independent qualibed octuary who cendudts o kil valuahon of the
plan every three years The pension obligation 1s measured as the present value of the eshmated future cash Aows using
interest rotes of gavemment secuniies which have terms to matunty approximating the terms of the related habiity

Actuanal gains and losses are recognised in income when the net cumulative unrecogrised acduanal gain or loss at
the end of the previous financial year exceeds 10 per cent of the higher of {1} the fair value of the plan assets, and
(n] the present value of the fund obligahons That portion of the et cumulative unrecogmised actuanial gain or loss 15
recogmsed 1n income over the expected average remaining working lives of the employees parhicipating n the plan

Ctherwise, the actucrial gain or loss 15 not recogmsed

2 14 Taxahon

a}

b)

Current tax
Current taxahon 13 the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the yeor, using tax rates enacted at the balance
sheet dote, and indudes any adjusiments to tox payable in respect of previous years

Deferred tax

Deferred tax 15 provided, using the hiability method, for temporary differences ansing between the tax bases of assets
and habikihes and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes A deferred tax asset 1s recogmised only to
the extent thot 1t 1s probable that future taxable income will be available agomst which the unublised tax losses and
credits can be utihsed Currently enacted tax rates are used to determine deferred taxes
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ACCOUNTING POUKCIES (continued)

2 15 Cash and cash equivalents
In tha consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents compnise cash and other hgyuid assets

2 16 Segment reporting
An operating segment 1s a distinguishable component of the Group that 1s engaged 1n business activihes from which

revenues are earned and expensas are incurred, including revenues and expenses that relate fo fransactions wath any
of the Group's other operating segments All segments have discrete knancial informahon which 1s regulady reviewed
by the Group's Management Commuttes, being the Group's chief operating dectsion maker, to make decisions about
resources allocated to the segment and to assess its performance

2.17 Fiduciary achvities
The Group administers and manages assets owned by cients which are not reflected in the consolidated hrancial
statements Asset managemenl fees are earned for providing investment management services ond for managing
mutual fund products Asset administration fees are earned for providing custodicl services Fees are recogmised as
the services are provided and are included in fee and commission income

2.18 Drvidends
Dwidends on 1ssued shares are recogmsed as a liability and deducted from equity when they are opproved by the
Bank's shareholdars

2 19 Comparatives
Where necessary, comparatve figures have been adjusted to conform wath changes in presentahion tn the current

year

2.20 Future accounting developments
The Internationa] Aceounting Standards Board {IASB} have 1ssued o number of new standords, amendments
to standards, and terpretahions that are not yet effective and have not been applied in the preparaton of the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 3¥st December 2009 The relevant new standards, amendments
to stondards, and interpretohons, are os follows -

- IAS 39 - Finanadl Instruments  Recognition and Measurement - Eligible Hedged ltems The omendment to 1AS
39 becomes effective, with retrospective application, for hnancial years beginning on or after 15t January 2010
The amendment to LAS 39 clanfies the application of exishng panciples that determine whether specihc rnisks or
portions of cash flows are eligible for designahion in a hedging relahonship The adophon of this amendment 1s
not expected to have any matenal impact on the consolidated knancio! statements

- IFRS % - Financial Instruments The new standard 1s effective for financial years beginning on or after 13t January
2013 The standard amends the measurement categonies currently defined under 1AS 39, spechcally, held-to-
matunty, loans and recewvables and available-for-sale categones are eliminated The standard also amends the
accounting for embedded dervatves The Group is currently evaluating the potennal affect of this standard which
s expected lo require certain valuation and associated presentahonal changes
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ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of the censolidated hinancial statements requires management to make estmates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of certain financial assets, habilihes, income and expenses

The use of eshmates and assumphons 15 pancipally imited to the determination of provisions for tmpairment, the valuahon
of knancial nstruments, and the valuation of the Group’s defined benefit pension plan as explaned in more detail below -

Provisions for impairment
Financio] assels are evaluated for impairment on the basis set out In note 2 5

In defermining provisions for impairment, judgement 1s required in the estmation of the amount and tming of future
cash flows

tn addihon to provistons for impairment aganst specific assets, the Group also maintains provisions that are measured and
recognised on a collectve basis Key assumphons included tn the measurement of the portiolio provisions include data on
the probability of default and the eventual recovery amount in the event of o forced sale or write off These assumphons are
based on observed historical data and updated as considered appropriate to reflect current conditions: The occuracy of the
porthalio provisions would therefore be affected by unexpected changes i these assumptions

Equity secunihes classihied as available-for-sale are considered fo be impaired when there has been o signihcant or prolonged
decline i fair value below cost The determination of significant or prolonged requires judgement In making the judgement,
o number of factors are taken it account including the normal volatility in voluahon, evidence of a detencrction in the
financial condihion of the investes, tndustry and sector performance, and operatonal and financing cash flows

Fair value of financial assets ond habilities

Where the fair valve of inancial assets and liabiliies cannot be denved from active markets, they are determined using
o vanety of valuahion techniques that include the use of mathemancal models The nput to these models 15 denved from
observable markets where ovailable, but where fhis 15 not feasible, o degres of judgement 13 required in determining
assumphons used m the models Changes in assumptions used in the models could affect the reported fair value of financial
assets and liabilihes

Retirement benefit obligations

Management, 1n coordination wath an independent qualified octuary, are required to make assumphons regarding the
defined beneht pension plan, changes in which could affect the reported habilty, service cost and expected return on pension
plan assets The principal actuanal assumphions for the defined benehit pension plan are set out n note 12 and include
assumphons on the discount rate, expected retumn on pension plan assets, mortality, future salary tncreases, and inflation
Changes in the assumphons could affect the reported asset, service cost and expected relurn on pension plan assets
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CLASSIFICATION OF ASSETS & LIABILTIES

The classification of assets and liabilihes by accounting categonsation was as follows -
Finanaal Non-
Babilihes finanaal
Heldto loansand  Held-for-  Avoilable- at amortised assels &

maturity  receivables trading for-sale cost habdities Total
USS$ millons US$ rull US$ milhons  US$ mull US$ mull US$ mll US$ mulhions
At 315t December 2009
Cash and other hquid assets 277.6 2306 - - - - 508 2
Placements 4,101.1 - - - - - 41011
Trading secunhes - - 50.2 - - - 502
Investment secunhes - - - 2,018.1 - - 2,018
Loans and advances - 9,298.1 - - - - 9,298.1
Other assets - 104.9 60.5 - - 66.6 2320
Total assets 4,378.7 9,632.6 1107 20181 - 666 162077
Deposits from bonks - - - - 2,554.2 - 2,554.2
Deposits from customers - - - - 74953 - 7.495.3
Secunhes sold under
agreements to repurchase - - - 5650 - 565.0
Other hiabilihes - - 1375 - - 157 4 2949
Senior term firancing - - - - 3,007.9 - 3,007.9
Subordinated term financing - - - - 5n.o - 5Nno
Equity - - - - - 1,779 4 1,779.4
Total habilhes & equity - - 137.5 - 14,133.4 19368 16,2077
At 315t December 2008
Cash and other hquid assets 10 3020 - - - - 3030
Placements 4037 4 - - - - - 4,037 4
Due from shareholders - 48320 - - - - 48320
Trading secunties - - 2071 - - - 2071
Investment secunhes - - - 22205 - - 22205
Loans and advances - 12,9721 - - - - 12,9721
Other assets - 005 1167 - - 442 461 4
Total assets 40384 18,4066 3238 22205 - 442 250335
Deposits from banks - - - - 3,385¢9 - 3,3859
Depostts from customers - - - - 15,009 1 - 150091
Securihies sold under
agreements fo repurchase - - - 1,244 8 - 1,244 8
Other habilihes - - 158 ¢ - - 3278 48867
Semor term financing - - - - 24315 - 2,431 5
Subordinated term financing - - - -~ 5500 - 5500
Equity - - - - - 1,9255 1,925 5
Total licbilihes & equity - - 158 ¢ - 22,621 3 2,2533 250335

The held-for-treding category includes the fair values of dervatives designated as fair value and cash flow hedges

The Group did not have any finanadl assets or financial habdihes dassihed as fair value through the statement of income,
other thon those classihed as held-for-trading, at either 313t December 2009 or 313t December 2008
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

M

For the year ended 31st December 2009

5.

CASH AND OTHER UQUID ASSETS
311209 311208
USS millions US$ millions
Cash and balances wath banks 230.6 3020
Certificates of deposit 251.0 10
Government bills 26.6 -
508.2 3030
PLACEMENTS

Placements at 31st December 2009 included placements with central banks omounting to US$1,251 2 million (2008
US$44 0 milion} The placements with central banks represented the placement of surplus liqud funds

DUE FROM SHAREHOLDERS

Bosed on the Asset Sale and Purchase Deed effective 31t December 2008, and the associated Share Re-allocahon Deed,
the Group sold, without recourse, a significant portion of its investment securihes portfolio to shareholders of the Bank
The securihes were sold o their amorhsed cost less specific prawisions for impairment as at the effechve date of the sale
Accordingly, no proft or loss wos recorded on the fronsachon

The fotal amorhsed cost less specific prowisions for tmpairment of the sold secunhes af the effective dote of sale on 31st
December 2008, based on rates of exchange prevailing on that date, was US$4,832 0 milion This was net of spealic
provisions for impasrment of US$544 7 midlion As reported in nate 9{b), the specihc provisions relating to the sold securihes
were writien off The setflement date for the sole of the securhes was 27th March 2009 The receivable due from the
shareholders in respect of the sale of the securhes based on rates of exchange prevailing ot 31st December 2008 1s
separately disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position

The securihes sold to the shareholders compnsed the Bank's entire expasure o collateralised debt obligahions and other asset
backed secunhes other than those sold or maturing prior to the setilement date of the transaction, investments in non-GCC
financial instiuhon subordinated debt, and impaired financial inshiution sentor debt Following the sale, the Group hod no
exposure, net of specific provisions, to collateralised deb obligahons or other asset backed securthes

This transachon protected the Group from any future losses from these secunties, materally densked and delevered the
balance sheet, reduced risk-weighted assets thereby increasing the regulatory capital adequacy ratio, and eliminated the
funding nisks of tha assets

TRADING SECURITIES
31.12.09 311208
US$ millions US$ milhons
Managed funds 502 207 0
Equihes - 0t
50.2 2071

Managed funds represent funds placed for svestment wath external specalist managers At 313t December 2009, the funds
had been redeemed and were in the process of hiquidahon
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¢ INVESTMENT SECURITIES
a) Composthon

The credit rahng prohle of investment secuntes, based on the lowest rahing assigned by the major mternational rating
agencies, was as follows -

31.1209 311208
US$ millions % US$ millions %
AAA b A- / Acato A3 1,404 8 76. 1,690 4 841
BBB+ to BBB- / Baal to Baa3 3651 19.8 256 4 127
Cther debt securihes 766 41 64 4 32
Total debt securihes 1,846 5 100.0 20112 1000
Equity investments 1716 209 3
2,0181 22205

Investment secunihes at 31st December 2009 principally compnised investment-grode rated debt secunties 1ssued by
major internahonal hnancral nshtuhons and government-related enhhes

At 315t December 2009, 76 1 per cent of debt secunihes were rated A- / A3 or above (2008 84 1 per cent}

At 15t October 2008, and w accordance with the amendments to IAS 39 - Financial Instruments Recognition and
Measurement, a number of externally managed funds that were no fonger held for the purpose of sale in the short term
were reclossihed from held-for-trading to available-for-sole Due to the odverse impact of the credit erisis, which was
considered to meet the IAS 39 amendment definition of a rare event, the managed funds are closed to redemphions
for the foreseaable future The funds were reclassified ot their net asset values on the date of ransfer on 15t October
2008 The movements i the cormying amount of the redassifed funds were as follows -

Carrying
amount
US$ millions

At 15t October 2008 60.8
Provisions for impairment (37.7)
Net movement in fair value 4.2
At 315t December 2008 27.3
Redemptions and maturhes 8.2)
Net movement in fair volue {0.1)
At 315t December 2009 19.0

Duning 2008, subsequent 1o the date of transfer, no emounts were recognised in mcome other than provisions for
impairment Dunng 2009, realised gamns of US$0 5 million were recognised as realised prohits on investment secunhes
in the consolidated statement of income These profits would have been recognised as troding income hod the assets
not been reclassified
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31st December 2009

9  INVESTMENT SECURITIES (continued)
b}  Provisions for impairment

The movements in the provisions for the impairment of investment secunties were as follows -

2009 2008
US$ millions US$ millions
At 1st January 776.5 9850
Exchange rate movements {0.8) -
Amcunts uhhsed {630.2} {573 &)
(Release) / charge for the year (48.0} 3651
At 3151 December 97.5 776 5

Amounts utilsed during the years ended 315t December 2009 and 31st December 2008 represented provisions
utlised on the sale or write off of the related securihes The amounts uthised dunng the year ended 313t December
2009 prncipally compnsed US$563 5 million on the wite off of the Group's investments in structured investment
vehidles [SVs), and write offs of US$49 5 million on the seffement of credit default swaps The wnite offs on the SIVs
and credit default swaps were hully covered by specifiic provisions for imparment No mcremental bosses arose as o

rasult of the write offs

¢)  Impaired securities

Impatred secunhes represent secunhes for which there 1s objective ewidence that the Group will not collect all amounts
due, including both principal and inferest, n accordance with the contractua! terms of the secunty

Impaired investment securihes and the related specihc provisions for impairment were as follows -

na2.09 311208
Impairment  Corrying Impawrment  Carrying
Grass  provisions amount Gross  provisions amount
US$ millions USS nullions US$ millions Us$ millions US$ millions US$ milhons
Equity mvestments 84.1 67.2 16.9 958 685 273
Structured investment vehucles
{S4vs) - - - 5645 5645 -
Resdential mortgage-backed
CDOs - - - 95 95 -
84.1 67.2 1469 6698 642 5 273
Non-specific / portfolio provisions 30.3 1340
Totat provisions for impairment 97.5 7765

Total specihc provisions for impairment at 315t December 2009 represented 79 & per cent of gross impaired investment

securthes (2008 95 9 per ceni)

As referred Io tn nate 9(b), the investments i structured investment vehidles (SIVs} at 315t December 2008 were wniten
off aganst the related specific Impairment provisions during 2009 No gain or loss arose as a result of the write offs

The impaired investment securthes tn the table above include past due debt securities as set out In note ?{d) below
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INVESTMENT SECURITIES (conhnued)

d)

Past due debt securihes
The gross and carrying amounts of debt secunties for which either principal or interest was over 90 days past due
were as follows -

311209 311208
Carrying Cammying
Gross amount Gross amount
USS millions  US$ milliens US$ millions  US$ millions
Residenhal mortgage-backed CDOs - - 95 -

At 315t December 2009 uncollected interestin-suspense on past due debt secunties amounted to mil (2008 US$0 &
million)

Unquoted equity investments

Investment securihes at 315t December 2009 included US$125 2 million (2008 US$130 8 million) of unquoted equity
investments for which fair values cannot be rehably measured These investments are stated at cost less provision for
tmpairment They principally represent private equity investments and mvesiments in managed enhhes, the underlying
invesiments of which are pnimarily of erther a corporate debt or private equity nature, managed by external specialist
managers and infernotional investiment banks There are no active markets or other approprate metheds from which
to denve rehiable fair values for these mvestments The Group intends to esat these nvestments principelly by means of
IPOs or private placements

10. LOANS AND ADVANCES

311209 311208

US$ millions US$ milliens

Gross loans and advances 92,9322 13,246 3

Provisions for impairment {634.1) {274 2)
Net loans and advances 9.298.1 12,9721
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For the year ended 31st December 2009

10. LOANS AND ADVANCES (continued)

al  Indusinal dassification
The classification of loans and cdvances by industry was as follows -

31.1209 311208
US$ millions Us$ mdlions
Energy, oll and petrochemical 3,135.5 3,3522
Financial 1,598 3 2,2607
Trading and services 13717 2,231 6
Transportahon 827.8 93460
Red! estate 7680 8451
Manufacturing 691.9 1,154 4
Construchon 6410 1,093 ¢
Communicahon 4446.4 6168
Government 320.1 4508
Other 131.5 3048
99322 13,246 3
Provisions for impairment {634.1} (274 2)
9,298.1 12,9721

The classtheation of loans and advances by industry reflects the Group's historical sirategic focus on project and
structured finance in the Gulf Coaperahon Counail (GCC) shates

b)  Provisions for impairment
The movements in the provisions for the impairment of loans and advances were as follows -

2009 2008
Non- Non-

Specific Specific Total Specific Spacihc Total

US$ milions US$ milhons  US$ millions US$ millions  US$ milions  US$ rmilhons

At 1st January 94.2 180.0 2742 104 650 754
Amounts uhlised (1.8) - (1.8) (29 - (29
Cherge for the year 3017 60.0 7 B67 1150 20017
At 315t December 394 240.0 6341 242 1800 2742

Tota! provisions at 315t December 2009 exceeded the gross book value of unsecured past due loans by US$2692 9
million (2008 US$268 2 million)

The increase 1n non-specihic loan provisions during the year ended 31t December 2008 reflected increases in the
expected probabilihes of default used in the calculahon of prowisions for impairment measured on a collective basis
Higher probabilihes of default are anticipated to result from the impact of the global recession on the regional
economic emvironment The probabilihes of defoult applied in the calculation of the collechve provisions of impairment
at 315t December 2009 and 31st December 2008 equate to o speculctive-grode mean default rate of 13 ¢ per cent,
exceeding the previous historical high corporate default levels wimessed in July 1991

Amounts utlised duning the years ended 31st December 2009 and 31st December 2008 represented provisions
uhlised on the setflement of the related loans
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10 LOANS AND ADVANCES [conhnued)

¢ Pastdue loans
The gross and carrying amounts of loans for which esther pncipal or interest was over 90 days past due were as follows -

1209 311208
Secured Unsecured Securad Unsecured

Carrying Carrying Carrying Carmng
Gross amount Gross amount Gross amount Gross amount
US$ milllons USS mullions US$ midhons USS mullions  US$ millions USS$ millions USS$ millions US$ millions

Corporates 198.1 198 1 238.3 73.2 - - 40 -

Financial

Inshiutions - - 125.9 180 - - 20 10
1981 198.1 364.2 ?12 - - &0 10

Corporates include loans extended For investment purposes

The secured post dve loan focilihes were fully secured by shares listed on recognised stock exchanges Af 31st
December 2009, the market value of the collateral represented 134 per cent of the total pnnapal amount of the
secured past due loan focilihes

The overdue status of past due loans based on onginal contrachral matunhes was os follows -

N.12.09 311208
US$ millions US$ millions

Less than 1 year 5574 -
210 5years 4.9 60
562.3 60
At 315t December 2009 uncollected interest-in-suspense on past due loans amouated to US$25 4 millien (2008

US$0 4 million)

d)  Renegohated loans
There were no renegohated loans dunng erther the year ended 31st December 2009 or 313t December 2008
Renegotated loans are foans that have been restructured due to a deteniorahion in the borrower’s hnanaial posinen
and where the Group has made concessions that it would not have otherwase considered

e] Collateral

The Group did not take possession of any collateral as o result of o loan defoult dunng erther the year ended 315t
December 2009 or 315t December 2008
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For the yeor ended 31st December 2009

11 OTHER ASSETS

31.12.09 311208

U5$ millions US$ millions

Denvative financial inskruments 0.6 N335
Accrued inferest, fees and commissions 57.8 2354
Prenuses and equipment 40.4 442
Prepaid pension cost 17.6 162
Prepayments 100 87
Deferred items 4.0 62
Other, including accounts recervable 41.6 372
2320 461 4

Denvatve hinancial instruments represent the positive fair values of denvative financial instruments entered into for troding
purposes, or designated os fair value or cash flow hedges An analysis of the fair value of denvative finanaial instruments
i1s se? out in note 30{d)

An analysis of the prepoid pension cost 1s set out in note 12

12. POST RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group contributes o defined benefit and defined contribution pension plans which cover substanhally ofl of ts employees

The Bank mamtcins defined contnbution pension plans for the majonly of its employees Coninbuhons are based on a
percentage of salary The amounts fo be paid as rehrement benehts ore determined by reference o the omounts of the
contribuhons and investment earnings thereon The total cost of contribuhons to defined contribution pension plans for the
year ended 315t December 2009 amountad to U5$5 3 million (2008 US$6 3 miullion)

The Bank’s principal subsidiary, Gulf Infernahonal Bank {UK) Urnited (GIBUK), maintains a dehined beneht pension plan for a
large number of tts employees The assets of the plan are held independently of the subsidiary’s assets in a separate trustee
administered fund The pension costs are charged to income so os to spread the regular cost of the pensions over the service
lives of the employees, in accordance with the adwice of an independent qualihed actuary who conducts a full valuahon of
the plan every three years using the projected vnit credit method In the intervening years the caleulation 1s vpdated based
on information receved from the actuary The latest full actuanal valuahon was comed out of 15t January 2008

o)  The amount recognised in the consohidoted statement of financial posion 1s analysed as follows -

31.12.09 311208

US$ millons US$ milhons
Fair valve of plan assets 1448 175
Present value of fund obligations 149.8 1015
Plan (dehait) / surplus (50) 160
Unrecogrised actuanal! loss 22,6 02
Met asset tn the consolidated statement of inanaial posihon 17.6 162
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12 POST RETIREMENT BENEFITS (continued)

bl  The movements in the fair volue of plan assets were as follows:-

2009 2008

US$ milbons Us$ millions

At Tst January 117.5 169 ¢
Expected return on plan assets 7.1 109
Contnbuhons paid by the Group 1.5 29
Benehts paid by the plan (3.1 (27)
Actuanal goins / (losses) 7.0 {19 3)
Exchange rate movements 14.8 {44 2)
At 315t December 144.8 1175

The plan assets at 31st December 2009 compnise equity and debt secunhies in the roho of 30 per cent and 70 per
cent respectively {2008 23 per cent and 77 per cent respectively) Cash holdings wathin the plan assets are mdluded

in debt securihes

The expected and octual returns on the plan assets for the year ended 313t December 2009 were US$7 1 milkon and
US$10 5 million respectively [2008 US$10 9 million and US${8 8) million respectively} The overall expecied rate of
retun on the plan assets 1s defermined based on market pnces, applicable to the period over which the obligation 1s
to be settled The expected refurn 1s determined separately for equity and debt secunhes

The movements in the present value of fund obligathions were as follows -

2009 2008

US$ millions US$ millions

At Vst January 101.5 1625
Current service cost 1.1 22
Interest cost 7.7 ?4
Actuonadl losses / (gains) 27.3 (317
Benehts paid by the plon (3.1} (27)
Exchange rate movements 15.3 (38 2}
At 315t December 149.8 101 5

d)  The movements in the net asset recognised in the consolidated statement of financial posthon were as follows.-

2009 2008

US$ millons US$ mullions

At 1st Janvary 16.2 144
Net expense included in staff expenses (0.5) (09}
Contnbutions paid by the Group 1.5 29
Exchange rote movements 0.4 [0 4}
At 315t December 17.6 162

The Group pa:d US$1 5 million in contnbuhons to the plan dunag 2009 and expects to pay US$0 8 million dunng
2010
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For the year ended 315t December 2009

12. POST RETIREMENT BENEFITS {confinued)

el  The amounts recogmsed in the consolidated statement of income were as follows -

2009 2008
USS$ millions US$ millions
Current service cost 1.1 22
Interest cost 7.7 94
Expected return on plan assels 7. (109
Amorhsahon of actuarial loss - 01
{Gains) / losses on curiailments and setlements 1.2} ol
Net expense included in staff expenses 0.5 09
f  The prncipal actuanal assumptions used for accounting purposes were as follows -
2009 2008
Discount rate 5.7% 6 4%
Expected return on plan assets - equities 7.3% 80%
Expected return on plan assets - bonds 51% 58%
Future sclary increases 4.8% 42%
Future increases to pensions in payment 4% 30%
g)  Histonical mformahon
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
USS millions  US$ mullons  US$ milions  US$ miflions  US$ millions
Fair volue of plan assets 144.8 1175 169 9 1325 1059
Present volue of lund obligations 149.8 1015 1625 1617 138 1
Plan {deheit) / surplus {50 160 74 {29 2) (32 2)
Experience gains on plan assets 10.0 32 42 35 104
rience {losses) / gains on plan
lLiabiles (2.6) {14 6) {12} 03 50
13 DEPOSITS
Deposits from customers include deposits from centrol banks
The geographical composition of total deposits was as follows -
31.12.09 311208
US$ millions US$ millions
GCC countries 6,609.1 12,223 4
Other Middle East and North Africa countries 2,540.5 42139
Other countries 899.9 1.9577
10,049.5 18,3950
GCC deposits comprise deposits from GCC country governments and central banks and other instiutons headquartered 1n

the GCC states
GCC deposits ot 313t December 2009 represented 65 8 per cent (2008 66 4 per cent] of total deposits
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13 DEPOSITS {continued)

The significant decrease in deposits during the year ended 31st December 2009 reflected the Group’s reduced funding
requirement resulhing from the densking and deleveraging of the bolance sheet, and in particular the sale of non-core
investment securihies ko shareholders, as referred to in note 7, and & mancged reduction in the loan portfolio fo o lower level
in the prevailing credit environment

Total deposits at 31st Decemnber 2009 included Islamic-related transachons amounting to US$H1,459 2 million {2008
US$1,086 O milkon} Istamic-related transactons compnsed murabaha contracts

14 SECURITIES SOLD UNDER AGREEMENTS TO REPURCHASE

The Group enters info collateralised borrowing transachons [repurchase agreements) in the ardinary course of its financing
actvihes Collateral 1s provided in the form of securihes held within the investment securihes porticlio At 31st December
2009, the fair value of investment securihes that had been pledged as collateral under repurchase agreements was US$858 2
million [2008 US$1,687 O milhen) The collateralised borrowing transachons are conducted under standardised terms that
are usual and customary for such transachons

Al 315t December 2008, the fair value of investment securihes that had been pledged as collateral under the term repo
facihty referred to 1n note 16 was US$106 1 million This was in addition o the investment securihes pledged as collateral
under repurchase agreements referred fo above The ferm repo facility matured and was fully repaid in 2009

15 OTHER LIABILITIES

3112.0¢9 311208

US$ millions us$ milhons

Denivative hnancial nstruments 137.5 1589
Deferred items 53.2 754
Accryed interest 39.6 1831
Other, including accounts payable and cccrued expenses 64.6 693
2949 4867

Dervatve hinancial instruments represent the negative fair values of derivotve Ainancial snstruments entered nto for trading
purposes, or designated as fair value or cash flow hedges An analysis of the fair value of denvative inancial instruments
ts set out 1n note 30{d)

16. SENIOR TERM FINANCING

Matunty 31.12.09 311208
US$ millions US$ milhions
Floahng rate loan 2010 850.0 8500
Islamic murabaho term foclity 2010 14.6 146
Floahng rate loans 20n 360.0 600
Floahng rate loans 2012 1,733.3 1,2000
Istamic murabaha term facdity 2012 50.0 -
Floating rate repo 2009 - 1000
Floohng rate loans 2009 - 177 9
Islamie murabeha term facidihes 2009 - 290
3,007.9 2,431 5
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For the year ended 31st December 2009

17 SUBORDINATED TERM FINANCING

Matunty 311209 311208

US$ millions Us$ millions

Floahng rate note 2015 3610 4000
Floating rate loans 2016 150.0 1500
511.0 5500

The subordinated term financing facilibes represent unsecured obligahons of the Group and are subordinated in nght of

ent o the claims of depositors and other creditors of the Group that are not also subordinated The subordinated
E:Z:cmg facilines have been approved for nclusion in e 2 capital for capital adequacy purposes by the Bank's regulator,
the Central Bank of Bahrain

During the year ended 313t December 2009, the Group repurchased US$39 0 mihion of the subordinated floating rate note
matuning 1n 2015 The subordinated notes were repurchased at a discount The proht realised on the repurchase of the
subordinated notes was recogrised 1n other income In the consolidated statement of income

18. SHARE CAPITAL

The authonsed share capital ot 315t December 2009 compnised 3 O biflion shares of US$1 each (2008 3 0 bllian shares of
US$1 each) The issued share copital at 315t December 2009 compnised 2 5 billion shares of US$1 each (2008 2 5 billion
shares of US$) each) All issued shares are fully paid

19. RESERVES
Available-
for-sale
Cash flow secunties
Compulsory Voluntary hedge  revaluahon
reserve reserve reserve reserve Total
US$ millions  US$ milllons  US$ millions  US$ millons  US$ millions
At 1st January 2008 169 2 1067 11 (167 4) 1096
Ansing n the year -
- Available-for-sate securities
net foir value gans - - - 82 82
- Cash flow hedges
net farr value gains - - 105 - 105
Transkers in the year -

- Transfers to consalidated statement of 1ncome - - i4 4) 921 877
Net gains - - 61 1003 106 4
At 315t December 2008 169 2 1067 72 {67 1) 2150
Anising in the year -

- Available-for-sale securihes

net fair value gains - - - 26 26

- Cash flow hedges

net fair value gains - - 99 - o9
Transfers in the year -

- Transfers fo consalidated statement of income - - 16 0) - (6 0)
Net gains - - 3¢9 26 65
At 315t December 2009 169.2 106.7 ni {64.5) 2225

In accordance with the Bank’s articles of associaton, 10 per cent of the Bank's net profit for the year 1s required to be
transferred to each of the compulsery and voluntary reserves Transfers lo the non-cﬁ::nbufabla compulsory reserve are
required unhl such hme as this reserve represents 50 per cent of the 1ssued share capital of the Bark The voluntary reserve
may be uthsed ot the discretion of the Board of Directors No transfers were made o the compulsory or voluniary reserve
for either the year ended 315t December 2009 or 31st December 2008
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20 DIVIDENDS

No diwdend 1s proposed i respect of the financial year ended 31st Decembar 2009

NET INTEREST INCOME

2009 2008
USS millions US$ millions
Interest income

Placements and other hiquid assets 565 2212
Due from brokers - 08
Investment securihes 7.1 3704
Lloans and advances 329.2 629 6
Total interest ncome 4462.8 1,2220

Interest expense
Deposits from banks and customers 1934 6626
Secunties sold under agreements to repurchase 240 1521
Term financing 389 1190
Total interest expense 256 3 9337
Net interest income 206.5 288 3

Interest income on tnvestment securihes includes dvidends receved from siructured finance mvestments

Interest income on loans and advances includes loan anginahon fees that form an infegral part of the effective interest rate
of the boan

Accrued but uncollected inferest on impaired loens included in interest income for the year ended 315t December 2009
amounted to U5$1 3 million {2008 US$1 1 million) There was no accrued but uncollected interest included in interest income
on past due loans or past due investment secunihies for either the year ended 31t December 2009 or 3135t Decernber 2008

. FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

2009 2008
US$ millions US$ milhons
Fee and comnussion income

Investment banking and management fees 246 481
Commussions an letters of credit and guarantee 147 228
Loan commitment fees 1.5 32
Other fee and commission income 1.6 14
Total fee and commussion income 424 755
Fee and commussion expense 11 {22)
Net fee and commission income 407 733

Investment banking and management fees comprise fees relating o the prevision of invesiment management and knancial
services, including asset and hund management, underwniing activibes, and services relating to structured hnancing,
privatisations, 1POs, and mergers and acquisihons

Investment banking and management fees for the year ended 313t December 2009 included fee income relating to the
Group’s hduciary activities amounting to US$17 7 mulkon (2008 US$29 5 million)

Fee ond commussion expense principally comprises secunty custody fees
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23. NET TRADING INCOME / {LOSS)

2009 2008

US$ millions US$ mullions

Managed funds 13.0 (65 8)
Foreign exchange 1.2 161

Debt secunties 27 {30 5)
Interest rate derwahves 1.3 33
Loans held for trading - 02

Equity secunhes - {100)

282 (867)

Treding income comprises gains and losses ansing both on the purchase and scle, and from changes n the fair value,
of trading instruments, together with the related inferest income, inferest expense and dvidend income Trading income
accordingly tncorporates all income and expenses related to the Group's trading actvihies

Foreign exchange includes spot ond forward foreign exchange contracts, and currency futures and options

Interest rate dervatives includes nferest rate swaps, forward rate agreements, interest rate ophons, inferest rate futures, and
credit derivatives

Equily securthes includes equities, equiy converhbles, and contracts for differences

The loss on debt secunhes for the year ended 31st December 2008 included a loss of US$28 4 million anising on the
liquidahion of the Group's asset backed secunity proprietary trading portfolio The portfolic was entirely liquidated during
the year ended 315t December 2008

An andlysis of the basis used for determining the fair values of held-for-trading financial ossets and habiihes 1s set out in
note 36

24 OTHER INCOME

Other income prncipally compnsed profits of US$8 3 million ansing on the repurchase of subordinated debt as referred to
in note 17 Other ncome also includes profits realised on the sale of premises and equipment, dividends on available-for-
sale equity investments, and loan recovenies

25 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

Segmental information 1s presented in respect of the Group’s business and geographical segments The pnmary reporting
format, business segments, reflects the manner in which knancial information 1 evaluated by the Board of Directors and the
Group Management Commitiee

a)  Business Segments
For Anancial reporhng purposes, the Group 1s orgamsed into four main operahing segments -

- Merchant Banking the provision of wholesale commeraal financing and other credit facilihes for corporate and
inshiuhonal customers, and the provision of inanaial advisory services relating fo structured hnancing, privahsahans,
IPOs and mergers and acquisihons

- Treasury the provision of a broad range of treasury and capital market products and sernices to carporate and

financial inshtution chients, money market, proprietary nvestment ochvihes and the management of the Group's
balance sheet, including funding
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25 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION {continued)

a}  Business Segments [continued)
Financial Markets the provision of asset and fund management services, and propriefary troding actvihes

- Corporate and support units income arising on the invesiment of the Group’s net free capital funds and expenses
incurred by support units

The results reported for the business segments are based on the Group’s internal iinaneia! reporting systems The
accounting policies of the tegments are the same as those applied in the preparahon of these consolidated fnancial
statements and are set out in note 2 Transachons between business segments are conducted on normal commeraal
terms ond condihons Transfer prncing between the business units 1s based on the market cost of funds

Segment results, assets and liabilihes compnse items directly atnbutable to the business segments Liabilihes reported
for corporate and support unris comprise senior and subordinated term finance facilities and related accrued interest,
the cost of which 1s recharged to the relevant operating business segments

The business segment analys:s 15 as follows -

Corporate
Merchant Financial and
Banking Treasury Markets support units Total
USS$ millions US$ millions US$ millions USS millions US$ millions
2000
Net interest income 145.5 26,9 - 34 206.5
Total income 170.4 51.4 21.8 424 286.0
Segment result (209.4) 27.9 98 212 {150 5)
Taxaton charge on overseas achvihes (21}
Net loss after tax {152 &}
Segment assets ?,731.6 6,392.1 6.5 77.5 16,207.7
Segment liabilihes - 11,353.2 144 3,060.7 14,428.3
Total equity 1,779.4
Total habilites and equity 16,207.7
2008
Net interest income 1553 382 {0 4) 952 288 3
Total income 202 4 79 (2 2) 130 4 3227
Segment result {33 &) (364 4) (27 7} 387 (387 0)
Taxaton charge on overseas actvihes (?2)
Net loss after kax (396 2)
Segment assets 13,5198 11,3826 507 804 25,0335
Segment habilikes - 20,597 4 275 2,4831 23,1080
Total equity 19255
Total habdives and equity 250335
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25 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued)

26

64

b} Geographical segments
Although the Group's three main business segments are managed on a worldwide basis, they are considered to
operate in two geographical markets the GCC and the rest of the world

The geographical composition of total income and total ossets based on the location in which ransachons are booked
and income 15 recorded was as follows -

2009 2008
Total Total Total Total
income assets income assels
US$ millions US$ millons US$ millions US$ millions
Bahrain 195.9 10,9324 241 4 18,947 6
Saudi Arabia 424 3,013.9 49 4 2,4501
Other countnes 47.5 2,264 N9 3,6358
286.0 16,207 7 3227 25,0335

The geographical analys:s of deposits and nsk assets are set out in notes 13 and 27 respectvely

RISK MANAGEMENT

The principal nisks associated with the Group's businesses are credit nisk, market nisk, liquidity nsk and operahonal nsk
The Group has o comprehensive sk management framewark wn place for managing these nisks which 15 constantly evolv-
ing as the business achvities change i response to credit, market, product and ofher developments The risk management
framework 1s guided by @ number of averniding principles including the formal definition of nsk management governance,
an evaluahon of risk appetite expressed i terms of formal risk himifs, nsk oversight independent of business units, discr-
phined nsk assessment and measurement induding Value-at-Risk (VaR} methodologres and portfolio stress festing, and nsk
diversihcahon The Board of Directors set the Group’s overall nsk parameters and nsk tolerances, and the signficant nsk
management policies A Board Risk Policy Committee reviews and reports fo the Board of Directors on the Group's nisk
prohle and nsk taking activities A Management Commuttee, chaired by the Group Chief Execuhve Officer, has the primary
responsibility for sanchoning nsk taking achvihes and nisk management policies within the overall risk parameters and foler-
ances defined by the Board of Directors A Group Risk Commitiee, under the chairmanship of the Managng Director - Risk
Management and compnsing the Group's most senior nisk professionals, provides a forum for the review and approval of
risk measurement methodologies, sk control processes and the approval of new products The Group Risk Committee also
reviews all nsk policies and limits that require the formal approval of the Management Commitiee The risk management
control process 1s based on a detailed structure of policies, procedures and hmits, and comprehensive nsk measurement and
management informahon systems for the control, monitoring and reporting of nsks Periodic reviews by internal and exter-
na! auditors and regulatory authorities subject the nisk management processes fo addianal scrutiny which help to further
strengthen the nsk management environment

The princpal risks associated with the Group's businesses and the related nisk management processes are described in detail in the
Base! 2 Pillor 3 disdosure report n the Annual Report, and ore summansed below together with additonol quantiative analyss -

a) Creditrisk

Credit nisk 1s the nisk that counterparhies will be unable to meet their obligahons to the Group Credit nisk anses prin-
cipally from the Group’s lending and investment actvihes 1n addition fo other transactions invobang both on- and
off-balance sheet financial instruments Disciplined processes are in place at both the business unit and corporats level
that are intended to ensure that nsks are accurately assessed and properly approved and monitored Format credit
limuts are applied ot the individual transaction, counterparty, couniry and portiolio levels Overall exposures are also
evaluated to ensure a broad dversification of credit nsk The credit management process involves the monitoring of
concentratons by product, ndustry, single obligor, nsk grade and geogrophy, and the regular appraisal of counter-
party credit quality through the analyss of qualitative and quanhiatve mformahon
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26 RISK MANAGEMENT {conhnued)

a)  Credit risk [continyed)

Credit nsk 15 achively managed and ngorously monitored in accordance with well-defined credit palicies and proce-
dures Prior to the approval of a cradit proposal, o detalled credit nsk assessment 1s camed out which includes an
analysis of the obligor's hnancial condinon, market position, business environment and quality of management The
nsk assessment generates an internal credit risk rating for each exposure, which affects the credit approval decision
and the terms and condihons of the transachion Fer cross border transachons an analysis of country nsk 1s also con-
ducted The Group bases its credit decision for an individual counterparty on the aggregate Group exposure fo that
counterparty and all its related entibes Groupwide credit imit sething and approval authorisahon requirements are
conducted within Board approved guidelines, and the measurement, monitoring and confrol of credit exposures are
done on a Groupwide basis in 0 consistent manner

The Group olso mitigates its credit exposures on foreign exchange end derivative financial instruments through the use
of master nething agreements and collateral arrangements

Maxsmum exposure to credit sk
The gross maximum exposure to credit sk before applying collateral, guarantees and other credit enhancements was
os follows -
31.12.09 311208
US5 millions US$ millions
Balance sheet items:
Cash and other iquid assets 508.2 3030
Placements with banks 4,101.1 4037 4
Due from shareholders - 48320
Trading securihes 50.2 2071
Investment securities 2,018.1 2,2205
Loans and odvances 9,298.1 12,9721
Other assets, excluding denvative-related rems 57.8 2354
Total on-balance sheet credit exposure 16,033 5 24,807 5
Off-balance sheet items:
Credit-related contingent tems 2,160.4 3,637 5
Foreign exchange-related items 2.5 760
Denvative-related stems 469.0 1233
Total off-balance sheet credit exposure 2,238 9 38368
Total gross aedit exposure 18,272.4 28,644 3
Credit risk profile

The Group monttors, manages and cantrols credit nsk exposures based on an internal credit rating system that rates
indwidual obligors based on a rating scale from 1 to 10, subject to posihive (+} and negative {-) modikers for ratng
grades 2 to ¢ The internal credit rating 15 a measure of the credit-worthiness of a single obligor, based on an as-
sessmen! of the credit nisk relating to senior unsecured, medium term, foretgn currency credit exposure The pnmary
objectives of the infernal credit rating system are the maintenance of a single uniform standard for credit quality mea-
surement, and to serve as the pnmary basis for Board-approved nsk parameters and delegated credit authonty hmits
The internal credit rahing system also serves as o key input into the Group’s nsk-adjusted return on capital (RAROC)
performance measurement system Rahngs are assigned to obligors, rather than facilies, and reflect a medium term
time honzon, thereby roting through an economic cycle The infernal rahngs map diredtly o the rahing grades used
by tha international credit rating agencies as set out an the following page
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26 RISK MANAGEMENT [continued)}

66

a)

Credit nsk [confinued]}

External Rating
Internal Historical default Fiich and
Internal rahing grade dassification rate range  Standard & Poor's Moody's
%
Investment grade
Rating grade 1 Standard 000-000 AAA Aaa
Rahing grade 2 Standard 000-004 AA Aa
Rating grade 3 Standard 006-009 A A
Rating grade 4 Standerd 015-034 BBB Bao
Sub-investment grade
Rahng grade 5 Standard 057-138 BB Ba
Rohng grade 6 Standard 256-884 B B
Rahng grade 7 Standard 2567 ccC Caa
Classified
Rating grade 8 Substandard 2567 cC Ca
Rahng grade ¢ Doubthul 2567 C C
Rahng grade 10 Loss - D -

The historical default rates represent the range of probability of defaults between the posiive and negative modihers
for sach rahng grade based on Standard & Poor's one yecr default rates for the 28 years from 1981 to 2008 for
senior unsecured obligatons The default rates represent the averages over the 28 year period and therefore reflect

the Full range of economic conditions over that penod
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26 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

al  Credit nsk [conhnued)
The credit nsk profile, based on internal credit ratings, was as follows -

N1209 AN1208
Plu:emanh,
due
from
Placements shareholders
& other hquid Lloans and & other higuid Loans and
assefs Secunhes advances assels Securihes advances

USS millornrs  USS millions 1SS mulhons  US$ millions  US$ millions  US$ mullions

Neither past dve nor impaired

Rahng grodes 1 to 4- 4,573 3 1,769.9 6,132.8 21724 1,946 8 9,378 3
Rating grades 5+ to 5- 30 29.5 1,858 6 - 295 3,124 6
Rating grades 6+ to 4- - 30.2 570.1 - 150 3548
Rating grade 7 - 16.9 128.5 - 199 67
Equity imvestments - 2049 - - 3891 -
Carrymng amount 4,609.3 2,051.4 846900 91724 24003 128444
Past due but not impaired
Rating grades 1 to 7 - - 26.7 - - -
Roting grode 8 - - 171.4 - - -
Carrying amount - - 198.1 - - -
Past due and indmdually

impaired
Rahng grade 8 - - 9.3 - - -
Rahng grade ¢ - - 81.9 - - 10
Carrymg amount - - 1.2 - - 10
Individually impaired but not

past dve
Rohing grades 1 1o 7 - - 257.2 - - -
Reting grade 8 - - 3563 - - 262
Rehing grade 9 - - 253 - - 805
Equity investments - 16.9 - - 27 3 -
Camrying amount - 16.9 318.8 - 273 1067
Totdl 4,609.3 2,068.3 9,298.1 91724 24276 12,9721

The obove anatysis 1s reported net of the following provisions for impairment--
Provisions for mpairment - (97.5) 634.1) - (776 5) (274 2)

Indvidually imparred financial assets represent assets for which there 15 objective ewidence that the Grovp will
not collect all amounts due, indluding both prncipal and inferest, 1n accordance with the contractual terms of the
obligahon

The Group holds collateral against loans and advances i the form of physical assets, cash deposits, secunhes and
guarantees The amount and type of callateral ts dependent upon the assessment of the credit nsk of the counterparty
The market / fair value of the collateral 1s achively monitored an a regular basis ond requests are made for addimonal
collateral in accordance with the terms of the underlying agreements Collateral 1s not usudlly held against securihes
or plocements and no such collateral was held of erther 315t December 2009 or 315t December 2008
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26  RISK MANAGEMENT [(continued)

68

a)

b}

Credit risk [continued)

An analys:s of the credit nsk in respect of foreign exchange and denvative financial instruments s set out in note 30
while the nohanal and nisk-weighted exposures for off-balance sheet credit-related financial instruments are set out in
note 31

Credit nsk concentrahion

The Group monitors concentrations of credit nsk by sector and by geographic location The industnal dessiicahon of
loans and advances 15 set cut in note 10 The geographical distribution of nsk assets 1s set out in note 27 An analysis
of the credit risk in respect of fareign exchange and denvative financia) nstruments 15 set out in note 30

Settlement risk
Setlernent risk ts the nisk of loss due o the failure of a counterparty fo honour its obligahions to deliver cash, securihes,
or other assets as contractually agreed

For certain fypes of ransachons, the Group mihgates this nsk by conducting settlements through a settlement or
dlearing agent to ensure that ¢ trads 15 setiled only when both parties have fulflled their contractual setlement
obligations Setflement limits form part of the credit approval and limit monitoring process

Market nisk

Market risk 18 the nisk of loss due fo adverse changes in interest rotes, foreign exchange rates, equity prices and market
condihons, such as hquidiy The principa! market nisks to which the Group 1s exposed are inferest rate nsk, foreign
exchange nsk and equity price risk associated with its trading, investment and asset and hability management achvihes
The portfolio effects of holding a diversified range of insiruments across o variety of businesses and geographic areas
contrbute to a reduchon n the potenhal negctive impact on earnings from market nsk factors

- Trading market risk: The Group’s trading achvihes principally compnise trading in debt and equity secuntes,
foreign exchange and dervatve financial instruments. Denvahve hinancial instruments include futures, forwards,
swaps and ophons in the Interest rote, foreign exchange, equity, credst ond commodity markets The Group
manages and controls the market nisk within its trading portfolios through limit structures of both a VaR and non-
VaR nature Non-VaR based consiraints relate, inter alia, to posiions, volumes, concentrahons, allowable losses
and matures VoR 1s o nsk measurement concept which uses stahsheal models to eshmate, within o given level
of conhdence, the maximum potental negative change in the market value of a portfolic over a specihed hme
horizon resulting from an adverse movement in rates and prices It 1s recognised that there are hmitahons fo the
VaR methodology Thesa limitations include the fact that the historical data may not be the best proxy for future
pnice movements The Group performs regular back teshng exercises o compare actuel profits and losses with the
VaR eshmates to montor the stahshcal validity of the VeR mode! VoR 1s calculated based on the Group's market
nsk exposures at the dose of the business each day Infra-day risk levels may vary from those reported at the end
of the doy In addihon, losses beyond the specified conhdence level are not captured by the VaR methodology
VaR 15 not @ measure of the absolute limit of market sk and losses in excess of the YaR amounts will, on occasion,
arse To manage the nsk associated with extreme market movements, the Group conducts stress teshng which
measures the impact of simulated abnormal changes in market rates and prices on the market values of the
portfolios The composihion of the debt and equity trading secunhies 15 set out in note 8 An analysis of dervative
hinancial nstruments, sncluding the VaR of foreign exchange ond dervative trading contracts, 15 set out in nofe 30
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26 RISK MANAGEMENT (conhnued)

b}

Market nsk (conhnued)
The VaR by nsk class for the Group's trading positions, as caleulated 1n accordance wath the basis set out in note 33,
was as follows -

2009 2008
311209  Average High low 311208 Averogs High
US$ miflions US$ milions US$ milions USS millions US$ milions USS milhons US$ millions USSnu‘!m
Inferest rate risk 01 04 1.4 0.1 14 16 26 11
Foreign exchange risk - 01 0.2 - - 02 0¥ -
Equity sk 06 2.3 40 0.6 38 58 76 38
Total diversihed nsk 06 2.5 49 0.6 46 71 97 46

Non-trading market nsk: Structural interest rate nisk anses tn the Group’s core balonce sheet as a result of
mismatches 1n the repricing of interest rate sensitive financial assets and hobiies The associated inferest rate nisk
15 managed within VaR imits and through the use of models to evaluate the sensitmty of eamings to movements in
interest rates The repneing profile and related inferest rafe sensivity of the Group's finanaial assets and liabilites
are set out in note 29 The Group 1s exposed to the impact of changes in credit spreads on the Fair value of
availuble-for-sale debt securities Movements in the fair volue of available-for-sale secunties are accounted for in
equity Credit spread risk 13 managed within VaR hmits and through the use of models to evaluate the sensitraty
of changes i equity to mavements in credst spreads Based on the ovailable-for-sale debt secunties held ot 315t
December 2009, a 1 b p increase in credit sprecds would result in @ US$0 5 million decrease in foir velue (2008

US5$0 6 million) The Group does not maintmn matenal non-trading equity or kereign currency exposures In
general, the Group's policy 1s o match financial assets and habilibes in the same currency or to mitigate currency
risk through the use of currency swaps Details of sigmihicant foreign currency net open posiions are set out in note
30(e)

The more significant market nisk-related activiies of a non-trading nature undertaken by the Group, the related nsks
assoctated with those achvihes, and the types of derivative financiol instruments used fo manage and mihgate such
nsks are summansed as follows -

Achvity Risk Risk Mitigant
Management of the return on vaniable rate  Reduced profitability due to o Recerve fixed interest rate swaps
assets funded by shareholders' funds fall in short term interest rates
Fixed rate assets funded by floohng rate Sensihvaty to increases tn short  Pay hxed inferest rate swaps
lrabulites term interest rates
Investment in foreign currency ossets Sensihvily lo strengthening of ~ Currency swaps
US$ aganst other currencies
Profits generated i foreign currencies Sensitviy to strengthening of  Forward for:gn exchange coniracts
US$ against other curencies  and purchased currency ophions
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26. RISK MANAGEMENT (conhnued)

<)

Liquidity risk
Liquidity sk 15 the nsk thot sufficient funds are not available fo meet the Group's hnancial obligations on a punctual
basis as they fall due

Liquidity management policies are designed to ensure that funds are available at all fimes to meet the funding
requirements of the Group, even in adverse condihons In normal conditions the objechve 1s fo ensure that there are
sufhcient Funds available not only to meet current hnancicl commutments but also to foclitate business expansion
These objechves are met through the apphcation of prudent liquidity controls These controls provide security of
access Io funds without undue exposure to increased costs from the liquidahon of assets or the aggressive bidding for
deposits The Group’s liquidity controls ensure that, over the short term, the future profile of cash flows from matunng
assets 1s adequately matched fo the maturity of habilihes Liquidity controls also provide for the maintenance ofa
stock of iquid and readily realisable assets and o diversthed deposit base in terms of both matunties and range of
depositors

The management of hquidity and funding ts primarily conducted in the Group's indmidudal! geographic enthes within
houts set and approved by the Board of Directors The hits take account of the depth and hquidity of the market
in which the entity operates It 1s the Group’s general policy that each geogrophic entity should be self-sufhcient in
relahon to funding its own operahons

The Group's liquidity managemen? policies include the following -

- the monitoning of [1] future confractual cash fows agenst approved limits, and {u} the level of hiquid assets
available in the event of a stress event

the monrtoring of balance sheet liquidity ratios
the mantorng of the sources of funding in order to ensure that funding 15 denved from o diversified range of
sources
the monitoning of depositor concentrotions m order to avord undue reliance on tndmidual depositors
- the maintenance of a satsfoctory lavel of term hnanaing, and
- the mamntenance of liquidity and funding contingency plans These plans idenhfy eardy indicators of stress

conditions and prescnibe the achons fo be taken in the event of systemic or other crisis, while minimising adverse
long term implicahons for the Group's business activihes

The Group has established hmuts which resinct the volume of habilihes matuning in the short term An independent nsk
management funchon momitors the future cash flow matunty profile against approved limits on a daily bass The cash
Aows are monitored against hmits applying fo both daily and cumulative cash Rows occurming over a 14 day peniod
The cash flow analysis 1s also monitored on a weekly basis by the Assets and Liabilihes Commuattee [(ALCO)

Customer deposits form o signihcant part of the Group's funding The Group places consideroble importance on
matntaining the stability of both its customer and interbank deposits The stability of deposits depends on maintaining
conhdence in the Group's financial strength and financial transparency

The matunty prohle of assets and kabilities 13 set out in note 28 An analyuis of debt investment secunthes by rating
classificahon 15 set out in note 26 (a)

Operational risk
Operationd nsk 13 the nsk of unexpected losses resulting from inadequate or failed internal controls or procedures, systems
hﬂum,&wd,hnmummmﬁm,mpﬁmbm,hmmmmﬂhﬂtnwgmdqmmﬁg

A fromework and methodology has been developed o dentfy and control the various operational nisks While
operahonal nsk cannot be entirely eliminated, it s managed and mihgated by ensuring that the appropriate
infrastructure, controls, systems, procedures, and trained and compelent people are in place throughout the Group
A strong internal audit funchon makes regular, independent apprarsals of the control environment in all idenhhed nsk
areas Adequately tested confingency arrangements are clso in place to support operahions in the event of a range of
possible disaster scenanos
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26 RISK MANAGEMENT [continued)

e}  Capital management
The Group's lead regulator, the Central Bank of Bahrain (CBB}, sets and momitors capital requirements for the Group
as a whole The parent company and individual banking operations are directly supervised by therr local regulators

As referred to in more detail in note 33, the Group adopted the Basel 2 capital adequacy framework wath effect from
1st Jenuary 2008

In applying current capital requirements, the CBB requires the Group to maintain o prescribed minimum raho of
total regulctory capital to total nsk-weighted assets The CBB's minimum risk asset roko 15 12 per cent compared
to & minimum ratio of 8 per cent prescnbed by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision The Group caleulates
regulatory capral requirements for generol market risk en iis rading portfolios using a Value-at-Risk model and uses
the CBB's prescribed nsk weightings under the standardised approach to determine the nsk-wesghted emounts for
credit nisk and specihic market nsk Operahonal nsk 1s calculoted by applying the CBB's presenbed alpha co-efhcrent
to the Group's average gross income for the preceding three financial years

The Group's regulatory capital 1s analysed into two ers -

Tier 1 capital, comprising wssued share capital, share premium, retained earnings and reserves, adjusted to
exclude revaluahon gains and losses ansing on the remeasurement to fair volue of available-for-sale secunhies and
denvative cash flow hedging transachions with the exception of unrealised losses ansing on the remeasurement to
fair value of equity secunhes dassified as available-for-sale secuntes

- Tier 2 capital, comprising quahfying subordinated term finance, collectve impairment provisions and 45 per cent
of unreglised gains arising on the remeasurement to fair value of equity securihes classified as available-for-sala
secunhes

The CBB applies vanous hmits fo elements of the capital base The amount of innovative hier 1 securihes cannot exceed
15 per cent of total tier 1 capital, qualifying her 2 capital cannot exceed her 1 capital, ard qualifng subordinated
term finance cannot exceed 50 per cent of ter 1 capital There are also restnctions on the amount of collectve
impairment provisions that may be induded as part of hier 2 copital Collective impairment provisions cannot exceed
1 25 per cent of total nisk-weighted assets

The Group's nisk exposures are categorised as either trading book or banking book, and nisk-weighted assets are
determined occording to specihied requirements that seek fo reflect the varying levels of risk attached to assets end
off-balance sheet exposures

The Group's policy 15 to maintain a strong capital base so as to mantain investor, creditor and markst confidence
ond fo sustan the future development of the business The impact of the level of capifal on shareholders’ return
i1s also recogmised as well as the need to mainiain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible
with greater geaning and the advantoges and secunty afforded by o sound capital posihon The Group manages
its capital structure and makes adjustments to the structure taking account of chonges In economie condihons and
sirategic business plans The capital siructure may be adjusted through the dwidend payout, the 1ssus of new shares,
subordinated term hinance and innovatve tier 1 copital secunihes

The Group ond tis indvidually regulated operations complied with oll externally imposed capital requirements
throughout the years ended 313t December 2009 and 3135t December 2008

There have been no matenal changes in the Group's manogement of caprtal during the years ended 31st December
2009 and 31st December 2008

The capitol adequocy rahe caleulation 1s set out In note 33
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27 GEOGRAPHICAL DISTRIBUTION OF RISK ASSETS

31 12.09 311208

Placements Credit-related

& other liquid loansand  contingent
assefs Secunfies advances items Tolal Total
US$ milions  USS millons US$ millons  USS mullions  USS millions  US$ millions
GCC 1,7527 1,3387 8,810.9 1,609.6 13,5119 222727
Other Middle East & North Afnco 54.0 429 233.6 122.3 4528 5439
Europe 20275 63.0 2389 2417 2,571 1 40400
MNorth Amenca 530.0 5825 0.2 186.8 1,299.5 1,090 6
Asio 245.1 41.2 145 - o8 262 4

4,609.3 2,068.3 9,298.1 2,604 18,1360 28,2096

At 3131 December 2009, risk axposures to customers and counterparhies in the GCC represented 74 5 per cent {2008 79 0 per
cent) of total nsk assets The nsk asset profile reflects the Group's strategic kocus on merchant banking activihes in the GCC states

An onalysis of dervative and foreign exchange instruments 15 set out in note 30

28 MATURITIES OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The matunty profile of the carrying amount of assets and habrlihes, based on the contractual matunty dates, was os follows -

Within 4 months Years Yoars 5 years
3 months fo 1 yeor 2and 3 4and 5 and other Total
USs$ milhons  US$ mllms USS millions  USS millions  US$ millions  USS milhions
At 31st December 2009
Cash ond other iquid assets 507.2 1.0 - - - 508.2
Plocements 4,101.1 - - - - 4,101.1
Troding secunhes 50.2 - - - - 50.2
Investment secunhes 165.3 218.0 724.5 288.1 622.2 2,018.1
Loons and advances 2,031.5 1,582.2 2,301 6 1,105.0 2,277.8 9,298.1
Other assets 156.8 28 56 3. 429 2320
Total assets 7,0121 1,824.8 3,031.7 1,396.2 2,942.9 16,207.7
Deposits 8,824.8 1,216.3 8.4 - - 10,049.5
Secunhes scld under
agreements to repurchase 565.0 - - - - 5650
Other hab:lihes 1746 59.4 325 9.5 189 2949
Term hnanaing - 864.6 2,1433 - 5110 3,518.9
Equity - - - - 1,779.A 1,779 4
Total habilihes & equity 9,564 4 2,140.3 2,184 2 9.5 2,309.2 16,207.7
Al 315t December 2008
Total assets 13,0852 3,037 2 3,5667 1916 4 3,4280 25,0335
Total habilihes & equity 18,2531 2,026 1 988 8 1,255 4 25101 250335
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28 MATURITIES OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES {confinued)

The asset and hability matunhes presented in the table obave are based on contractual repayment arrangements and as
such do not take account of the effective matunties of deposits as indicated by the Group's deposit reterthon records Farmal
liquidity controls cre nevertheless based on contractua! asset and hability matunhes

The gross cash flows payable by the Group under financial habilities, based on contractual matunty dates, was as follows -

Within 4 months Years Years Over
3 months to | year 2and 3 4and 5 5 years
UsS milions  USS millions  USS milkons  USS millons  US$ mullions
At 31st December 2009
Deposits 8,854.1 1,236.2 9.2 - -
Secunties sold under agreements to repurchase 573.5 - - - -
Term hnoncing 2.6 886.3 2,256.0 55.0 544.7
Denvative finoncial instruments
- confractual amounts payable 66.1 88.4 189.5 145.6 2104
- confractual amounts recevable {10.5) {57.8) (167.9) (146 8} (212.8)
Totdl undiscounted financial habilihes ©,504.8 21533 2,286.8 53.8 5423
At 315t December 2008
Deposits 17,050 3 1,502 5 163 48 -
Sacurities sold under agreements to repurchase 1,044 3 2253 - - -
Term hnancing 59 2 3102 10207 1,2731 596 3
Dertvahve financial instruments
- contractual amounts paycble 1160 1833 2932 1637 2143
- confractual amounts recevable {52 0) (137 7) (228 4) {149 4) {193 0)
Total undiscounted financial habilihes 18,217 6 2,083 6 1,101 8 1,2922 617 6

Information on the contractual terms for the drawdown of gross loan commitments 1s set out in note 31

The figures in the table obove do not agree directly ko the carrying amounts in the consohidated statement of financial
posihon as they incorporate all cash flows, on an undiscounted basis, related to both principal as well as those associated

with future coupon and interest poyments Coupons and interest payments for perods for which the interest rate has not yet
been determined have been calculated based on the relevant forward rates of interest prevailing at the balance sheet date

A matunty analysis of dervative and foreign exchange nstruments based on notional amounts 13 set out in note 30(c}

2009 ANNUAL REPORT | 73



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

M

For the yecr ended 31st December 2009

29

74

INTEREST RATE RISK

The repricing profile of assets and liabilihes categones were as follows -

At 315t December 2009
Cash and other hquid assets
Placements
Trading secunhes
tnvestment securthes -

- Fixed rate

- Floahng rate

- Equihes & equity funds
Loans and advances
Other assefs
Total assets

Depostis
Secunities sold under
agreements fo repurchase

Other habilihes

Term hnancing

Equity

Total habilities & equity

Interest rate sensitivity gap

Cumulafive inferest rate
sensitivity gap
At 3151 December 2008

Cumulative interest rate
sensitvty gap

Non-mterest
Within Months Months Over beoring

3 months 406 712 1 (eclr items Total
USS millions  USS millions  USS millions  USS millions  US$ milhons  USS mdlions
480.6 27.6 - - - 508.2
4,101.1 - - - - 41011
- - - - 50.2 50.2
- - - 151.5 - 151.5
1,6727 52.6 - - {30.3} 1,695.0
- - - - 1716 1716
7.7559 1,706 6 60.4 15.2 {240.0) 9,298.1
- - - - 232.0 232.0
14,0103 1,786.8 60.4 166.7 183.5 16,207.7
§8,8227 5636 559.2 4.0 - 10,049.5
545.0 - - - - 565.0
- - - - 2949 294.9
2,208 9 1,260.0 500 - - 3,518.9
- - - - 1,779.4 1,779.4
11,596.6 1,923.6 609.2 40 2,074.3 16,207.7

2413.7 {136.8) {548 8) 1627 (1,890.8) -

2,413.7 2,276 9 1,728.1 1,890.8 - -

(692 3) 1,3767 1,381 6 1,848 4 - -

The repnaing profile 15 based on the remaining period o the next nterest repnicing date The repncing profile of placements
incorporates the effect of interest rafe swaps used to lock-in o return on the Group’s net free capital funds Dervahve
tinancial mstruments that hove been used for asset and liability management purposes to hedge expasure to inferest rate
nsk are incorporated in the repricing profiles of the reloted hedged assets and habilihes The non-specific loan provision s

deducted from non-interest beanng assets

The substanhal majority of assets and habilihes reprice within one year Accordingly there 1s limited exposure fo inferest
rate nsk The prncipa! nferest rate nsk beyond one year as set out in the asset and lisbility repnicing prohle, represents the
investment of the Group's net free captal n fixed rate govemment secunhes At 31t December 2009 the modified durahon
of these hxed rate secunhes was 3 55 Modified durahon represents the approximate percentoge change in the portfolio
value resulting from o 100 basis point change in yield More precisely in doliar terms, the prce value of o basis point of the

Fixed rate securthes was US$54,000
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INTEREST RATE RISK iconfinued)

Based on the repnicing profile at 313t December 2009, and assuming that the financial assets and labilies were to remain
unhl maturity or setflement with no achen token by the Group to alter the interest rate nsk exposure, an immediate and
sustained one per cent tncrecse in inferest rates across all matunties would result in a reduchon n net income before tax
for the Followang year and m the Group’s equity by approximately US$5 6 million and US$10 9 million respectively (2008
U5%7 0 million and US$22 1 million respectively) The impact on the Group's equily represents the cumulative effect of
the increase in interest rates over the entire duration of the mismatches in the repricing profile of the interest rate sensitive
fnancial assets and habilihes

The Value-at-Risk by nisk class for the Group's frading posthons 1s set out in note 26 The market nsk relating to fereign
exchange and dervative trading instruments 15 set out 1n note 30

DERIVATIVE AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE INSTRUMENTS

The Group uhlises dervathive and foreign exchange insiruments to meet the needs of its customers, o generate trading
revenues and as part of its asset and hiability monagement (ALM] actrty to hedge ifs own exposure to market nsk Denvative
instruments are contracts whose value 1s derived from ene or more knancial instruments or indices They indlude futures,
forwards, swaps and ophions in the interest rate, foreign exchange, equity, credit and commodity markets Derivatives and
forexgn exchange are subject bo the same types of credit and market nsk as other hnanaial instruments The Group has
approprate and comprehensive Board-approved policies and procedures for the control of exposure to both market and
credit nsk from its dervative and foreign exchange achvihies

In the case of dervatve transachons, the nohonal principal typically does not change hands It 1s simply a quanhty which
15 used to caleulate payments While nohonal principal 1s a volume measure used in the denvative and foreign exchenge
markets, it 13 neither o measure of market nor credit nsk The Group’s measure of credit exposure ts the cost of replocing
contracts at current market rotes should the counterparty defautt prior to the setlement date Credit nsk amounts represent
the gross unrealised ganns on non-margined transactions before taking account of any collateral held or any master nething
agreements in place

The Group participates in both exchange traded and over-the-counter {OTC} derivatve markets Exchange traded mstruments
are exacuted through a recogmised exchange as standardised contracts and primanly compnise futures and options GTC
contructs are executed between two counterparhes who negohate specihic agreement terms, including the underlying
instrument, nohonal amount, matunty and, where appropricte, exercise price In general, the terms and conditions of these
transachons are tailored to the requirements of the Group's customers dlthough conform ko normal market prachce Industry
standard documentation 1s used, most commanly in the form of a master agreement The existence of a master nefting
agreement 1s intended to provide protection fo the Group in the avent of a counterparty default

The Group's principal foreign exchangs transachons are forword foreign exchange contracts, currency swaps and currency
ophions Forward foreign exchange contracts are agreements to buy or sell a specihed quanhiy of foreign exchange on a
specific future date at an agreed rate A currency swap involves the exchange, or notonal exchange, of equivalent amounks
of two currencies and a commitment to exchange interest penodically untl the principal emounts are re-exchanged on o
specified future date Currency ophions prowide the buyer with the nght, but not the cbligation, erther to purchase or sell a
fixed amount of a currency at a specified exchange rate on or before a specihied future date As compensahon for assuming
the ophon nsk, the ophon seller {or wniter} recerves a premium af the start of the ophion penod

The Group's principal interest rate-related denvative transachons are interest rate swaps, forward rate agreements, futures
and options An interest rate swap 1s an agreement between two parhes to exchange fixed rata and floahing rate interest by
means of periodic payments based upon a notional prncipal amount and the interest rates defined in the contract Certain
ogreements combine inferest rate and foreign currency swap transactions, which may or may not indude the exchange of
princtpal amounts In o forward rate agreement, two partes ogree a future setflement of the difference between on agreed
rate and a future interest rate, applied to a notional principal omount for an agreed penod The setfement, which generally
occurs at the start of the contract peniod, s the discounted present value of the payment that would otherwase be made at
the end of that penod  An tnterest rate future 1s on exchange traded contract for the delivery of a stondardised amount of
a fixed ncome security or ime deposit at a future specihed date Inferest rate ophons, mduding caps, floors and collars,
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30 DERIVATIVE AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE INSTRUMENTS icontinued)

provide the buyer wath the nght, but not the cbligahon, erther to purchase or sell an interest rate hnancial instrument ot @
specified price or rate on or before a specified fuhure date

The Group's pnncipal equity-related denvatve transachons are equity and stock index options An equity ophon pravides
the buyer wath the nght, but ot the obhigahon, erther fo purchase or sell o specihed stock or index at a specified price or
level on or before a speaified future dote

The Group buys and sells credit protection through credit default swaps Credit default swaps provide profection aganst
the decline tn value of o referenced asset as a result of credit events such as default or bankruptey Itis similar in structure
fo an ophon whereby the purchaser pays a premium to the seller of the credit default swap in retum for payment related to
the detenorahion n value of the referenced asset Credit defoult swaps purchased and sold by the Group are dassified as
denvative ingnaial instruments

The Group also transacts i other dervative products including totel return swaps used to hedge trading fransachons
a)  Product analysis

The toble below summanises the aggregate nohonal and eredit nsk amounts of foreign exchange, interest rate, credit
and equity-related denvative contracts

Notional amounts Credit nsk
Trading Hedging Total amounts
US$ millons  US$ millions  USS mullions  US$ millions
A 315t December 2009
Foreign exchange controcts -

Unmatured spot, forward and futures contracts 4195 2,890.9 3,3104 9.5
Interest rate contracts -

Interest rate swaps and swaphons 2,505.1 1,131.5 3,636 6 678

Finoncial futures - 181.6 1816 10

Ophons, caps and floors purchased 24.3 - 243 0.2

Ophons, caps and floors written 24.3 - 24.3 -

2,553.7 1,3131 3,866.8 &9.0
Credt contracts -

Protection sold 390 - 390 -
Total 3.0022 4,204.0 7,216.2 78.5
At 3151 December 2008
Total 4,087 2 56236 97108 199 3

There 18 no credit nsk i respect of options, caps and floors wnitten, and profechon sald on credit controcts as they
represent obligahons of the Group

Al 31 st December 2009 the Value-at-Risk of the foreign exchange, interest rate and credit denvatve trading contracts
andlysed in the table above, as caleulated in accordance with the basis set out in note 33, was mil, US$0 1 mithon
and mil respectively (2008 U35$0 2 miflion, US$0 2 mullion and US$1 1 million) Value-at-Risk 1s a measure of market
nsk exposure and 15 accordingly separate and 1 addihon to the credit nsk exposure represented by the credit nsk
amounts in the table cbove
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30 DERIVATIVE AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE INSTRUMENTS [continued)

b}

Counterparty analysis

Credit risk amounts
QECD countries
GLCC countries
Other countnes

'
Y
L ]

Na2.09 311208

Banks Corporales Total Total

USS millions US$ millions USS millions  US$ millions
18.9 - 18.9 1001

24 47.2 49.6 988

- 10.0 10.0 04

213 57.2 78.5 1993

Credit nisk 13 concentrated on major OECD-based banks and GCC-related customers

Matunty analysis
Year 1 Years2&3 Years 4 &5 Over 5 years Total
USS$ millions USS milions  USS millions  USS millions  US$ millions
At 315t December 2009
Foreign exchange controcts 33104 - - - 3,3104
Interest rate contracts 824 6 1,414.1 343.1 1,285.0 3,866.8
Credit contracts - 10.0 25.0 4.0 39.0
Totol 4,135.0 1,424.1 3468.1 1,289.0 7,216.2
Al 315t December 2008
Tokal 6,393 2 1,088 5 9717 1,257 4 97108

The Group’s denvative and foreign exchange actvities are predomtnantly shori-term in nature Transactions with
matunhes over one year principally represent either fully offset trading transachons or transachons that are designated,

ond qualify, as fair value and cash Row hedges

Fair value analysis

Denvatives held for troding -
Forward foreign exchange contracts
Foreign exchange ophons
Interest rate swaps and swaphons
Tota! return swaps

Dervatves held as cash flow hedges -
Interest rate swaps
Forvard foreign exchange contrachs

Derivatives held as for value hedges -
Interest rate swaps
Amount included in other assets / [other licbilifies}

31.12.09 311208

Positive Postve  Negatve
fair value fair volue fair valve forr value
USS millions USS milhons  US$ millions  US$ millions
2.2 {44 7} 70 {7 0)
- - 03 [0 3)
58.3 (537) 20 (86 &)
- - - 03)
60.5 {(98.4) 993 (94 2)

- - 142 -
0.1 - - {7 0}
0.1 - 142 (7 0)
- (39.1) - {57 7}
60.6 (137.5) 1135 {158 9)
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30 DERIVATIVE AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE INSTRUMENTS (continved)

78

e)

Significant net open posihons
There were no significant denvative rading or foreign currency net open posihions ot erther 31t December 2009 or
at 31st December 2008

Hedge effechiveness
Gains and losses recogmised in the consohdated statement of income relating to fair valus hedging relationships were
os follows -

2009 2008

US$ millons U5$ millions

Met gains / (losses) on dervahve Fair value hedging instruments 274 19 6)
Net {losses) / goins on hedged tlems afinbutable to the hedged nsk {27.4) 196

There were no ineffective portions of dervative fair value or cash fow hedging transachons recogmised in the
consohdated statement of income m erther the year ended 315t December 2009 or 315t December 2008

The periods over which the Group was hedging iis exposure o the vanability in future cash flows for forecasted
transactions were as follows -

31209 311208

US$ millions Us$ millions

Year 1 - 750
Years 28 3 - 2000
Years 4 & 5 - 1000

The dervative cash flow hedging transachons at 315t December 2008 were unwound during the year ended 31st
December 2009 in anhapation of a nse in inferest rates The resuliont rechsed profits are being recognised 1a the
consolidated statement of mcome aver the respechve tenors of the onginal fransachons for periods to 2014
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CREDIT-RELATED FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Creditrelated hnancial instruments include commitments to extend credit, standby letters of credit and guarontees which
are desrgned to meet the Anancing requirements of customers The credit sk on these transactions 1s generally less than the
controctual omount The table below sets out the nehonal prinepal amounts of outstending credit-related contingent items
and the nisk-weighted exposures calculated 1n accordance with the capital odequacy gurdelines of the Basel Commuttee on
Banking Supervision

31.12.09 31208

Nohonal Risk- Nohonat Risk-

principal  weighted prnaipal weighted

amoun!  exposure amount exposure

US$ millions  US$ millions  US$ millions  US$ millions

Direct credit subshhutes 171.6 161.4 3346 283 6

Transachon-related contingent items 808.7 3224 1,147 2 4400

Short-term sell-lquidating trode-related contingent stems 234.3 433 545 4 899
Commitments, including undrawn loan commutments and

underwrihng commitments under note 1ssuance and
revolving facilibes 945.8 450.2 1,609 3 7828
2,160.4 982.3 3,637 5 1,596 3

Commitments may be drawndown on demand

Durect credit substiutes at 31st December 2009 included financial guorantees amounting to US$138 5 mullien (2008
US$154 5 milion) Financial guorantees may be called on demand

Credit-related financial instruments are reported gross before applying credit nsk mihgants, such as cash collaterdl,
guarantess and counter-ndemnihes At 315t December 2009 the Group held cash collateral, guarantees, counter-
indemnihes or other high quality collateral in relahion to credit-reloted financial instruments amounhing to US$115 1 million
{2008 US$433 8 million}

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Litigahon

The Bank and its subsidiaries are engaged in lihgahon in vanous junsdichions The hiigahon involves claims by and aganst
Group companies which have arisen in the ordinary course of business The directors of the Bank, ofier reviewing the daims
pending agoinst Group companies and based on the advice of relevant professional legal adwisors, are sahshed that the
outcoma of these claims wall not have o matenal adverse effact on the financial posion of the Group

CAPITAL ADEQUACY
The CBB's Basel 2 guidelines became effectrve on 15t January 2008 as the common framework for the implementation of the

Basel Committea on Banking Supervision’s (Basel Commatiee) Basel 2 capital adequacy framework for banks incorporated
tn the Kingdom of Bahrain
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 315t December 2009

33 CAPITAL ADEQUACY (continued)

The nisk asset ratio caleulated in accordance with the CBB's Basel 2 guidelines was as follows -

311209 311208
US$ millions US$ mithons
Regulatory capital base
Tier 1 capital
Total equity 1,779.4 1,925 5
Adjustment to exclude net fair value losses 53.4 599
Tier 1 capital 1,832.8 1,985 4
Tier 2 copital
Subordinated term knancing 51.0 5500
Non-speciiic provisions subject fo 1 25% nsk weighted exposure hmitation 139.4 1987
Unrealised gains on karr value of equity investments 5.7 138
Tier 2 capital 656.1 7625
Total regulatory capital base {a) 2,488.9 2747 9
Risk-weighted exposure
311209 1208
Nofional Risk- Nohonal Risk-
principal weighted prncipol weighted
amount exposure amount exposure
US$ milllons  US$ millions  US$ millions  US$ millions
Credit nsk
Balance sheet tterns
Cash and other liquid assets 508.2 738 3030 505
Placements 4,101.1 593.5 4,037 4 7987
Due from shareholders - - 4,8320 -
Investment secunhes 2,018.1 1,067.9 2,220.5 11671
Loans and advances 9,298.1 7,557.1 12,9721 10,637 7
Other assets 232.0 186 4 461 4 3432
94787 12,997 2
Off-balance sheet items
Credit-related contingent ttems and forward placements 2,160.4 982.3 3,642 1,597 3
Foreign exchange-related items 3,104 100 4,3393 27 4
Denvative-related ilems 39058 34 53715 31
Repo counterparty nisk - 797
?95.9 1,707 5
Credit risk-weighted exposure 10,474.6 14,7047
Market nisk
General market risk 41.5 3147
Specihc morket nsk 828 2669
Market risk-weighted exposure 124.3 581 6
Operational nisk
Operational risk-weighted exposure 550 5 807 9
Total risk-weighted exposure b) 11,1494 15,8942
Risk asset rutio [ [a}/(b) x 100 ] 22.3% 17 3%
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33 CAPITAL ADEQUACY {conhnued)

For regulatory Basel 2 purposes, the Group has inshally adopted the stondardised opproach for credit nsk In time and
subject to approval by the CEB, the Group plans to adopt the foundation internal rotings-based (FIRB) opproach for cradit
nsk as 1t 13 more closely afigned fo the Group’s internal nisk and caprtal manogement methodologies For market nisk, the
Group uses the interna! models approach GIB has iihally adopted the basic indicator approach for determining the capital
requirement for operahonal nsk, although 15 planning to adopt the standardised approach for operational sk subject to
approval by the CBB

In accordance with the capital adequacy guidelines of the CBB, revaluation goins and losses onsing on the remeasurement
to fair value of ovailable-for-sale secunties and dervative cash flow hedging transachons are excluded from tier 1 capiial
with the excephon of losses ansing on the remeasuremant to Fair value of equity secunhes classihed os ovalable-for-sale
In accordance with the CBB's guidelines, gains ansing on the remeasurement to fair value of equity secunties dassihed as
avalable-for-sale are induded in tier 2 capital, although hmited to 45 per cent of the unrealised revaluation goin

The Group caleulates the regulatory copital requirement for general market nisk using o Value-at-Risk model The use of the
internal model approach for the calculation of the capital requirement for general market nsk has been approved by the
Bank’s regulator, the CBB The mulhplicahion factor to be applied to the Value-at-Risk calculated by the internal model has
been set at 3 50 {2008 3 75 by the CBB

Valve-at-Risk 1s calculated bosed on a $9 per cent conhidence level, a ten-day holding peniod and a twelve-month historical
observation penod of unweighted data from the DataMatnes regulatory data set Correlahons across broad nisk categonies
are exduded Prescribed addihons in respect of specihe nsk are made to the general market nsk The resultant measure of
market nsk 1s mulhplied by 12 5, the reciprocal of the 8 per cent infernational mimimum capital rato, to give market risk-
weghted exposure on a basis consistent with credit risk-weighted exposure

The Group caleuiates the regulatory copital requirement for operahonal nisk by applytng on algha co-efficient of 15 per cent
to the averoge gross income for the preceding three financial years

FIDUCIARY ACTIVITIES

The Group conducts investment manogement and other hduciary actvities on behalf of dients Assets held in trust or in
o fiduaary capacily are not assets of the Group and accordingly have not been induded in the consolidated financial
statements The oggregate amount of the funds concerned at 31st December 2009 was US$16,638 7 million (2008
U5$14,337 3 million)

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group's related party transachons are mited to the compensahon of its directors and executive officers
The compensation of key management personnel was as follows -

2009 2008

US$ millions US$ millions

Short lerm employes benefits 7.5 53
Post-employment benehts 0.5 44
8.0 97

Key management personnel compnse members of the Board of Directors, the Group Chief Exacutive Officer and the
Managing Directors of the Group

Post-employment benefits prinaipally comprise compensahon paid fo personnel on retrement or resignation from the
services of the Group

There were no other related party ransactions
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 315t December 2009

36 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

82

The Group's hnancial instruments are accounted for under the historical cost method with the excephion of rading securihes,
available-for-sale secunhes and denvahive financial instruments By contrast the fair value represents the amount at which
an asset could be exchanged, or o liability setfled, in o fransachon between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm's
length transachon Differences therefore can anse between book values under the tustonical cost method and kair value
estmates Underlying the defimiion of fair value 1 the presumphon thot the Group 1s a going concernt without any infenhion
or requirement fo curtail matenally the scale of its operation or o undertoke a fransachon on adverse terms Generally
accepted methods of determining farr value indlude reference to quoted prices or to the pncing prevailing for similar
finanaial instruments and the use of estmation techmiques such as discounted cash flow analysis

Based on the valuahon methodologies outlined below, the fair values of all on- and off-balance sheet financial instruments
were not signihicantly different o their carrying amounts, other than term bnancing as referred to i note 36(c)

a}

b}

d

d)

€]

Trading and investment securilies
The fair values of securties are based on quoted prices or valuchon techmiques with the excephon of investments in
unquoted equily investments for which foir volses cannot be reliably meosured, the fair valies of which are based on

therr corrying amount

Loans and advances

The fair values of loans held for trading are based on quoted market prices The fur values of other loans on o floating
inferest rate basis are prncipally eshmated of book value less provisions for impairment The fair volues of troubled
sovereign debt are based on market bid prices The foir values of impaired loans are estmated of the recoverable
amount, measured os the present value of expected future cash flows discounted based on the mterest rate at the
wncephon of the loan The fair volues of fixed rate loans are eshmated on a discounted cash flow basis utilising discount
rates equal ko prevailing market rotes of interest in the respective currencies for loans of similar residual matunty and
credit quality

Term financing

The fair value of term financing 15 bosed on observable market data, induding quoted market prices for debt
wnstruments 1ssued by similarly rated financial inshiuhons and wath similar matuntes, or eshmated on o discounted
cash flow basis utlising currently prevailing spreads for borrowings with similar matunbes The fair volues of senor
term hnancing ond subordinated term financing at 31st December 2009 were US$2,958 2 million and US$461 7
million respechvely (2008 U5$2,206 7 million and U$$491 2 million respectvely}

Other on-balance sheet items

The kair values of foreign exchange and denvative financial instruments are based on market prices, discounted cash
flew techniques or ophion pncing models as appropriate The fair values of all other on-balance sheet financial assets
and habilihes approximate therr respective book values due to their short term nature

Credit-related contingent items

There was no matersal Far value excess or shortfall in respect of credit-related off-balance sheet financiol instruments,
whsch nclude commitments to extend credit, standby letters of credit and guorantses, os the related future income
streams reflected contractual fees and commissions actually charged ot the balance sheet date for agreements of
similor credit standing and matunty Specihc prowisions mada 1 respect of indmdual ransactons where a potential
for Yoss has been identhied cre indudad m provisions for the impairment of loans and advances

GULF INTERNATIONAL BANK




L — — ]
36 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS [conhinued)

The valuation basis for inanaal assets end hnancial liabilities cormed at fair value was as follows -

Vatuation
based on Other
Quoted observable valuation
prices market data techniques
[level 1) {level 2} (level 3)
US$ millions USS millions US$ millions
At 315t December 2009
Finanesal assets
Troding securihes 502 - -
Investment secunhes 1,8680 - 249
Dervative finanaial instruments - 60.6 -
Financral habiles
Denvative financial instruments - 95.3 -
Al 3)st December 2008
Financial assefs
Trading secunhes 2071 - -
Investment securihies 2,0401 - 49 &
Derivative hinancial tstruments - 1132 03
Financial habdities
Derivative financial instruments - 1586 03

Quoted prices include prices obtamned from lead managers, brokers and dealers Investment secunties valued based on
other valuahon techniques compnise pnvate equity investments that have been valued based on price / sarmings rahos for
similar enhhes The majonty of the Group's financial assets and habilites thot are carmied at fair value are valued bosed on
quoted market prices At 31st December 2009, 95 7 per cent of finanaia! assets camed at foir value were valued based on
quoted prices (2008 93 2 per cent)

Durtng the year ended 313t December 2009, the value of investment securhes whose measurement was determined by
other valuahon techniques (level 3 measurement] decreased by US$24 7 million The decrease entirely compnised changes
tn assignad valuations, as recogmised in other comprehensive income No transfers out of, or into, the level 3 measurement
dassificahon occurred dunng the yeor ended 315t December 2009

37. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share 15 calculoted by dividing the net loss oftnbutable to the shareholders by the weighted average
number of shares in issue dunng the year

2009 2008
Net loss ofter tax {US$ mdhons) {152.8) (396 2)
Werghted average number of shares m issue (mullions) 2,500 2,500
Basic earmings per share {US$0.06) (US$0 16)

The diluted earnings per share 13 equivalent o the basic eamings per share set oul above
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 315t December 2009

38. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

39

81

The principal subsidicry companies were as follows -

Country of Ownership interest
incorporation 2.9 311208
Gulf International Bank {UK) Limited United Kingdom 100% 100%
GIB Financial Services L L.C Kingdom of Saudi Argbia 100% 100%
GIB Investment S PC Kingdom of Bahrain 100% 100%
AVERAGE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
The average consolidated statement of hinancial position wos as follows -
311209 311208
US$ millions US$ millions
Assets
Cash and other iquid ossets 255.3 2223
Plocements 44819 5,549 4
Due from shareholders 1,148 2 132
Troding secunihes 1336 4352
Investmen! secunhes 2,052.6 77146
Loans and advances 11,228.1 13,0900
Other assets 273.1 3861
Total assets 19,582.8 27,4108
Liabilhes
Deposits from banks 28357 4,451 8
Deposits from customers 10,808.2 134818
Secunihies sold under agreements to repurchase 1,026.8 33523
Other habilihes 2181 897 2
Senior term hnancing 2,219.7 2,5850
Subordinated term finoncing 533.9 5500
Total liabilities 17,643.4 255181
Total equity 1,939.4 18927
Total ficbilities & oquity 19,582 8 27,4108
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The condensed unconsolidated hnancial statements of Gulf Infernationol Bank B S C were as Follows -

o}

Condensed statement of finanaial posihon

Assets

Cash and other hquid assets
Placements

Due from shareholders
Trading secunhes
Investment secunities
Investments in subudianes
Loans and advances
Other assets

Total assets

Liabilities

Deposits from bonks
Deposits from customers

Secunhes sold under ogreements to repurchase

Other habilihes

Seruor term financing
Subordinated term hnanaing
Total liabilities

Total equity

Total liabilities & equity

KV X ) 311208
USS$ millions US$ millions
197.0 154 3
2,258 9 Q434
- 4,8320

47 9 174 6
2077 2,2198
2357 2286
¢,307.4 13,0092 5
1954 4077
14,260.0 21,9699
23260 3,2628
5,557.4 11,8768
790.0 1,45648
288.3 458 5
3,007.9 24315
511.0 5500
12,480.6 20,044 4
1,779.4 19255
14,260.0 21,9699

The investments in subsidianes are accounted for ot fair value Gains and losses arsing from changes in the fair values

of the investments are accounted for in equity

Condensed statement of income

Net interest income

Fee and commission income

Trading income / (loss}

Reahsed profits on imvestment secunhes
Other income

Tota! income

Operohng expenses

Net income before provisions and tax
Provisions for mvestment securihes
Provisions for loans and advances

Net loss before tax

Taxahon charge on overseas achvihes

Net loss

Year ended Year ended
312,09 311208
US$ millions US$ millions
193.3 2693

20.3 99

17.2 {599

0.5 370

8.8 77

2401 2940
77.6 986

1625 1954

48.4 {353 5)
(361.7} {201 7)
(150.8) {359 8)
1.7) (32)
(152.5) (363 0)
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GIB is confident of its ability to maintain its
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Basel 2 Pillar 3 Report

#

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Central Bank of Bahromn (CBB) Base! 2 guidehines became effective on Tst January 2008 as the common framework for the
implementation of the Basel Commitiee on Banking Supervision's (Basel Commitioe) Basel 2 capital adequacy framework for
banks incorporated 1n the Kingdom of Bahrain

Since 2006, GIB (the Group) has rouinely been monitaning copital edequacy for internal capital management purposes based on
both the Basel 2 standardised and the foundation infernall ratings based {FIRB) approaches for credit nsk, and the basic indicator
and standardised opproaches for operatonal risk, 1n addihion fo the internal models approach for market nisk

For regulatory purposes, GIB has wutially adopted the standardised approach bor credit nsk In time ond subject to approval
by the CBB, GIB plans to adopt the FIRB opproach for credit nsk, as it 15 more dlosely aligned to the Group’s mnternal copital
management methodologies For market nsk, GIB uses the nternal model approach GIB has mtally odopted the basie ndicator
approach for determining the capital requirement for operational nisk although 15 planning to adopt the standardised approach
for operahonal nsk when approved by the CBB

This Risk Management and Capital Adequacy report encompasses the Basel 2 Pillar 3 disclosure requirements prescribed by the
CBB based on the Basel Commutiee’s Pillar 3 guidelines The report contains a deseriphion of GIB's nsk management and capital
adequocy pohiaies and prochices, including detailed informahon on the capital adequocy process

The disclosed tier 1 and total caprtal adequacy ratios comply with the minimum capital requirements under the CBB's Base 2
framework

GIB's totol nsk-weighted assets ot 313t December 2009 amounted to US$11,149 4 mullion Credit nisk accounted for 94 O per
cent, market nsk 1 1 per cent and operahonal nsk 4 9 per cent of the total nsk-weighted assets Tier 1 ond total regulatory capital
were US$1,832 8 million and U$$2,488 9 million respectively

At 313t December 2009, GIB's ter 1 and fotal capital adequacy ratios were 16 4 per cent and 22 3 per cent respectively GIB
aims o maintain a her 1 capital raho above 8 per cent ond a total capital rabo in excess of 12 per cent

GIB views the Basel 2 Pdlar 3 disclosures as an important contribution to increased nisk transporency within the barking industry,
and partcularty important during market conditons charactensed by high uncertainty In this regard, GB has provided more
disclosura in this report than 1s required in accordance with the CBB's Pillor 3 guidelines in order o provide the level of transparency
that is believed to be appropniate and relevant fo the Group's vanous stakeholders and market parhcipants

All hgures presented in this report are as at 315t December 2009 unless otherwisa stated

1 INTRODUCTION TO THE BASEL 2 FRAMEWORK

The new capstal adequacy module of the Central Bank of Bahrain {CBB) ndebook was mtroduced with effect from 1t
January 2008 The module includes a change of methodology from the previcus {Base! 1) non-nsk based method of
calculating the capital adequocy requirements of banks incorporated in Bhrain The Basel 2 framework provides o more
risk sensitive approach o the assessment of nsk and the caleulation of regulatory capital, 1@ the minimum <opital that o
bank 1s required to maintain The Basel 2 framework 15 intended to strengthen sk management prachces and processes
within financal inshiutons

The CBB's Basel 2 framework 1s bosed on three pillars, consistent with the Basel 2 framework developed by the Base!
Committee, as follows -

«  Pillar 1 the calculation of the nsk weighted amounts (RWs) and capital requirement

e Pilor 2 the supervisory review process, including the Internal Capited Adequocy Assessment Process (ICAAP)

e Pillar 3 the disclosure of nsk management and caputal adequacy mformation

1V Pillar 1

Pillar 1 prescribes the basis for the calculation of the regulatory capital adequacy roho Pillar 1 sets out the defimihon
and colaulations of the RWAs, and the dervation of the regulalory capital base The capital adequacy ratio 1s
caleulated by dividing the regulatory capital base by the total RWAS
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INTRODUCTION TO THE BASEL 2 FRAMEWORK (continued)

1.1

mj

Pillar 1 [conhinued)

The resultant roto 1s fo be mamntained above o predetermined and communicated level Under the previously applied
Basel 1 Capital Accord, the minimum capital adequocy raho for banks incorporated in Bahrain was 12 per cent
compared o the Basel Commuttee’s minimum rato of 8 per cent

With the imminent wntroduchion of Pillar 2, the CBB will implement o minimum raho threshold to be determined for
each nshituton indradually, as deseribed in more detail in the Pillar 2 sechon en poge 3 of this report As ot 315t
December 2009, and pending the knalisahon of the CBB's Piller 2 guidelines, all banks incorporated i Bohrain were
required to maintain @ minimum capital adequacy rato of 12 per cent

The CBB also requires banks incorporated i Bahrain to mamtam o buffer of 0 5 per cent obove the mimmum capital
adequacy ratio In the event that the capital adequacy raho Falls below 12 5 per cent, oddikonal prudential reporhing
requirements apply and a formal achon plan setting out the measures to be taken to restere the roho above the
target level 1s to be formulated and submitted to the CBB Consequently, the CBB requires GIB to maintain an effective
mimmum capital adequacy raho of 12 5 per cent No separate minimum her 1 raho 1s required to be mamtained
under the CBB's Base! 2 capital adequacy framework However, the maintenance of o strong her 1 rahio s nevertheless
o focus of GIB's intfernal capital odequacy assessment process, as o represents the core capital of the bank.

Under the CBB's Basel 2 capital adequacy framework, the RWAs are calculated using more sophisheated and nsk
sensitive methods than under the previous Basel 1 regulations Credit nsk and market nisk are two essential nsk types
that were included under Base! |, while operational risk has been introduced as @ new nsk type 1n the CBB's Basel 2
capital adequacy framework The table below summanses the approaches avallable for caleulahing RWAs for each
risk type in accordance with the CBB's Basel 2 capital adequacy framework -

[Ehndardlsetj Ap;;o;;gﬂ o Standardised Approach Basic Indicator Approach }
Foundaton Internal Ratings Based  Interna! Models Approach Standardised Approach ]
Approach [FIRB) ] J

The approach applied by GIB for each nsk type 15 as follows -

Credit Risk

For regulatory reporting purposes, GIB is using the standardised approach for credit nsk The standardised approach
1s simifar fo the basis under the previous Bosel 1 capital adequacy regulahons, except for the use of external rahings
to derive RWAs and the ahility to use a wider range of financial collateral

The RWAs are determined by multiplying the credit exposure by o nsk weight factor dependent on the type of
counterparty and the counterparty’s external roting, where availoble

Internally, GIB dlso calculates the capikal requirement under the more nsk-sensitive and complex FIRB approach,
although the resultant raho 13 not being used for regulatery comphance purposes at present

Market Risk

For the regulatory market nisk capital requirement, GIB 1s using the infernal models approach based on o Value-at-
Risk (VaR) mode! The use of the internal models approach for the calculation of regulatory market risk capital has
been cpproved by the CBB

Operahonal Risk

Under the CBB’s Basel 2 copital odequacy Framework, all banks incorporoted in Bahrain are required to apply the
basic indicator approach for operahonal nisk unless approval 1s granted by the CBB 1o use the standardised approach
The CBB's Basel 2 guidelines do not currently permit the use of the advanced measurement approach [AMA) for
operational nsk For regulatory reporting purposes, GIB 1s currently using the bosic indicator approach, dlthough
tnternally the Group also calculotes the capital requirement based on the more odvanced standardised approach
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Basel 2 Pillar 3 Report (continued)

H

INTRODUCTION TO THE BASEL 2 FRAMEWORK {continued)

1.1

m)

12

1.3

Pillar 1 {continued)

Operahonal Risk {contnued)

Under the basic indicator approach, the regulatory capitaf requirement is calculated by applying on alpha co-efhicient
of 15 per cent to the average gross income for the preceding three financial years Under the standardised approach,
the regulatory capital requirement 1s calculated based on o range of beta coefhicients, ranging from 12 to 18 per cent,
applied to the averoge gross mcome for the preceding three financial years for each of eight predefined business hines

Pillar 2
Pillar 2 defines the process of supervisory review of an mshtuhon’s nsk management framework and, ulhimately, its
capitel odequqcy

Under the CBB's Pullar 2 guidelines, each bank 15 to be indvidually assessed by the CBB and an indvidual minimum
capital adequacy raho 15 to be determined for each bank The CBB 1s currently undertaking the assessment exercises,
which will allow therr setting of minimum capital ratios in excess of 8 per cent, based on the CBB's assessment of the
financicl strength and nisk management prachices of the inshiution Currently, pending finalisahon of the assessment
process oll banks incorporated m Bohrain are required to continue to mamntain a 12 per cent minimum capital
adequacy raho as under the previous Basel 1 framework

Pillar 2 compnises two processes
¢ an Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP), and
e asupervisory review and evaluahon process

The ICAAP incorporates a review and evaluation of nisk management and capil relative to the nsks to which the
bank 15 exposed GIB 15 currently developing its ICAAP around its economic capital framework which 15 designed to
ensure that the Group has sufficient capital resources available to meet regulatory and infernat capital requirements,
even during penods of economic or finanaial stress The ICAAP addresses all components of GIB's nsk management,
from the daily management of more matenal risks to the sirategic capitul management of the Group

The supervisory review and evaluahon process represents the CBB's review of the Group's capttal monagement and
an assessment of infernal controls and corporate governance The supervisory review and evaluahon process 1s
designed to ensure that inshtuhons denhfy thesr material nsks and dllocate adequate capital, and employ sufficient
management processes to support such nsks

The supervisory review and evoluation process also encourages snshiutions to develop and apply enhanced nsk
management techniques for the measurement and montioring of rsks m addition o the credit, market and operahonal
risks addressed in the core Pillar 1 framework Other nsk types which are not covered by the minimum capital
requirements in Pillar 1 include hquidity risk, interest rate nisk in the banking book, business nsk and concentrahon
nsk These are covered either by capital, or risk management and mihgahon processes under Pillar 2

Pillar 3
in the CBB's Basel 2 framework, the third pillar prescrbes how, when, and at what level informathon should be
disclosed about an ishtuhon'’s nsk management and capital adequocy prachees

The disclosures compnse detarled qualitative and quantfatve informahon The purpose of the Pillor 3 disdosure
requirements 1s to complement the first two pillars and the ossociated supervisory review process The disclosures are
designed to enable stakeholders and market parhcipants to assess an inshtuhion’s nisk appefite and nisk exposures and
fo encourage all banks, via merket pressures, fo mave foward more advanced forms of nsk management

Under the current regulations, partal disclosure consishng mainly of quantitahve analysis 1s required duning half year
reporting, whereas fuller disclosure 1s required to comaide with the finanaial year end reporhing

I this report, GIB's disclosures are beyond the minimum regulatory requirements and provide disclosure of the nsks 1o

which i 13 exposed, both on- and off-balance theet The disclosures in fhus repont are in oddition to the disclosures set ot
i the consolidated financic! statements presented in accordance with international Financial Reporting Standards {IFRS).
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GROUP STRUCTURE AND OVERALL RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

This section sets out the consohidation principles and the capital base of GIB os caleuloted in accordance wath the Pillar 1
guidelines, and describes the prinaiples and policies applied i the management and control of nsk and caprtal

21

22

Group structure

The Group's fnancial staterments are prepared and published on o ull consolidahon basis, with ol subsidianes being
consohdated in accordance with IFRS For copital adequacy purposes, all subsidianes are induded within the Gulf
Internchional Bank B S C Group structura However, the CBB's capital adequacy methodalogy accommodates both
normal and aggregation forms of consolidahon

Under the CBB capital cdequacy framework, subsidianes reporting under o Basel 2 framework in other regulolory
junsdichions may, at the bank’s discretior, be consolidated based on that (unisdichon’s Basel 2 Framework, rather
than based on the CBB's guidelines Under Hhis aggregation consohdahon methodology, the nsk weighted assets of
subsidianes are consolidated with those of the rest of the Group based on the guidelines of their respective regulator
to determmne the Group’s total nisk weighted assets

GIB's princtpal subsidiary, GIBUX, 15 regulated by the Finanaial Services Authonty (FSA) of the United Kingdom, and
has caleulated its risk weighted assets in accordance with the FSA's guidelines

The prncipal subsidianes and basts of consolidahon for capital odequacy purposes are as follows -

| Gulf Intematonal Bank (UK} Lmited ~~ UniedKingdom ~ 100%  Aggregahon

—— ]
[ GIB Financial Services LLC Saudi Arabia 100% Full Consolidahon }
| GIB tvestment SPC Bahrain 100% Full Consolidaton |

Nao investments in subsidianes are treated as o deduchon from the Group’s regulatory capital

Risk and caprial management

GIB mamtams o prudent and disciphned approach to nsk taking by upholding a comprehensive set of risk management
policies, processes and hmits, employing professionclly qualified people with the appropnate skills, investng n
tachnology ond training, and actively promoting a culture of sound nisk management ot dll levels A key tene! of this
culture 13 the clear segregation of duhes and reporting lines between personne! transacting business and personnel
processing that business The Group's nsk management 1s underpinned by rts ability to identfy, measure, oggregate
and manage the different types of nsk it foces

The Board of Directors has crected from among its members a Board Risk Policy Commuttee to review the Group's nisk
taking actvhes and report fo the Board in this regard The Board has the ulhmate responsibility for sethng the overall
nsk parameters and tolerances within which the Group conducts its actvihes, induding responsibility for sethng the
capital rakio targets The Board reviews the Group's overall nisk profile and significant nsk exposures as well as the
Group's major nsk policies, processes and controls

The Monogement Committes, chatred by the Chief Executive Officer [CEQ), has the pnmary responsibility for
sanchoning nsk taking policres and octvities within the tolerances defined by the Board The Group Risk Commuttee
assists the Manogement Committee in performing its nsk reloted funchons

The Group Risk Committes, under the charrmanship of the Managing Director = Risk Management {MD RM} and
comprising the Group's most senior nisk professionals, provides a forum for the review and approval of new products,
nsk measurement methodologies and nsk control processes The Group Risk Committes also reviews dli risk policies
and limits that require approval by the Mancgement Committee The Assets and Lisbilites Commuttee (ALCO), chaired
by the Chief Investment and Treasury Officer (CI&TO), provides a forum for the review of asset and hobility actvihes
within GIB It co-ordinates the asset and hability functions and serves os o hink between the lunding sources and usoge
in the different bustness areas
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GROUP STRUCTURE AND OVERALL RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT {continued)
22 Risk and capital management [conhinued)

From a control perspectve, the process of nsk management 1s facilitated through o set of independent funchons,
which report directly to semior management These funchons indude Credit Risk, Market Risk, Operational Risk,
Finaneial Control and Internal Audit This mulhi-Faceted approoch aids the effective management of nsk by identifying,
measunng and monifonag nsks from o variety of perspectives

Internal Audit 1s responsible for carmying out a nisk-based progromme of work designed to provide assurance that
assets are being safeguarded This involves ensuring that controls are in place and working effectively in occordance
with Group policies and procedures as well as with faws and regulatons The work carned out by Internal Audit
includes providing assurance on the effectiveness of the nsk management funchons as well as that of controls operated
by the business units The Audit Committee approves the annucl audit plan and also receves regulor reports of the
results of oudit work

The Group's policy 1s fo maintain o strong copital base so os fo maintain investor, creditor and market conhdence and
o sustan Future business development The Group manages ifs capital structure and mokes adjustments fo the structure
taking account of changes in economic conditions and strategae business plans The capital structure may be adjusted
through the dividend payout, and the 1ssue of new shares and subordinated term finance

The Chief Financial Officer (CFO) 1s responsible for the capital planning process Capital planning indudes capital
adequacy reporting, economic capital and parameter eshmahon, 1 e probabihity of default (PD) and loss grven default
(LGD] eshmates, used for the calculahon of economic capital The CFO s also responsible for the balance sheet
management framework

The governance structure for nsk and capital management 15 illustrated in the table below -

Board/cH
Audit Committee Board Risk Policy Committee

Group Risk Commttee Asset and Liability Committee
(Chairman: MD RM) {Chairman- CI&T0)

Management Committee
_ [Chirman: CEO)

The nisk, liquidity and capital management responsibslines ore illusrated in the toble below -

GhetlExecutive] Officer
Chief Financial Officer

2.3 Risktypes

The major nisks associated with the Group's business actwvihies are credit, market, operahonal and iquidity nsk These
risks fogether with a commentary on the way m which the nsks are managed and controlled are set out below, based
on the Basel 2 pullar in which the nsks cre oddressed

24 Riskin Pdlar 1

Pilar 1, which forms the basis for the calculahon of the regulatory copital requirement, oddresses three speaific nsk
types credit, market and operatonal nsk
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GROUP STRUCTURE AND OVERALL RISK AND CAPMTAL MANAGEMENT (continued)
24 Risk in Pillar 1 [continved)

i}

n

Credit nsk

Credit nsk 13 the nsk that o customer, counterparty or en wssuer of sacurthes or other finoncial instruments fails to
perform under its contractual payment obligations thus causing the Group to suffer a loss in terms of cash flow or
markst value Credit nisk 15 the predominant nsk type faced by the Group in its banking, investment and treasury
actvihies, both on- and off-balance sheet Where appropriate, the Group seeks to minimese its credit exposure using
a vanety of techniques including, but not imited to, the following -

* enlenng nethng agreements with counterparhes that permit the offseting of recervables and payables
» oblaining collateral

* seeking third party gucrantees of the counterparty’s obligahons

* imposing restnchons and covenants on borrowers

Credit risk 1s actively managed and ngorously monitored 10 accordance with well-defined credit policies and
procedures Pror to the approval of a credit proposal, o detailed credit sk assessment 1 undertaken which includes
an analysis of the obligor's financial condition, market posthon, business environment and quality of monagerment
The nisk assessment generates an internal credit nisk rating for each counterparty, which affects the credit opproval
decision and the terms and condihions of the transachon  For cross-border transactions, an andlysis of country nsk s
also conducted The credit decision for an indrvidual counterparty is based on the oggregate Group exposure to that
coynterparty and all its related entihes Groupwide credit imit setting and approval authonsahon requirements are
conducted within Board approved guidelines, and the measurement, monitoring and coniret of credit expasures are
done on a Groupwide basis in a consistent manner Overall exposures are evaluated to ensure broad diversification
of credit nsk Potenhal concentrahion risks by product, industry, single obligor, credit nsk raing and geography are
regularly assessed with 6 view to improving overall portfolic diversihcation  Established himits and actual levels of
exposure are regularly reviewed by the MD RM, Chief Credit Ofhcer and other members of senior management All
credit exposures are reviewed at least once o year Credit policies and procedures are designed to identfy, ot an early
stage, exposures which require more detailed monitoring and review The credit sk associated with foreign exchange
and dervahve instruments 1s assessed \n a manner similar o that associated with on-balance sheet actvhes The
Group principally utilises denvative ransactions to facilitate customer transactions and for the management of interest
and foreign exchange nsks associated with the Group’s longer-term lending, borrowing and investment achwihes
Unlike on-balance sheet products, where the princtpal amount and interest generally represent the maximum credit
exposure, the nohonal amount relating to a foreign exchange or denvative transochon typreally exceeds the credit
exposure by o substanhal margin The measure of credit exposure for foreign exchange and desvative instruments s
therefore more opproprictely considered to be the replacement cost at current market rates plus an add-on amount
commensurate with the posthon's size, volohhity and remaining life Derivahive contracts may also carry legal nsk, the
Group seeks to minimise these risks by the use of standard contract agreements

Market nsk

Market nisk 1s the nsk of koss of value of o hinancial nstrument or o portfolie of financial instruments as o result of
adverse changes i market pnces ond rates, and market conditions such as hquidity Market nsk anses from the
Group's trading, asset and habulity management and investment actvinies

The categones of market nisk to which the Group 15 exposed are as follows -

Interest rate risk resubs from exposure ko changes in tha level, slape, curvature and volatility of interest rates ond eredit
spreods The credil spreod risk is the risk thot the interest yield for o secunty will increase, with a reduction in the security
price, refative 1o benchmark yields as o result of the genera! market movements for that rafing and dhass of secunly
Interest rate risk 1s the prncipal marke? risk fuced by the Group and orises from the Group’s investment activttes in debt
secunties, asset and licbility manogement, and the trading of debt and off-balance sheet denvative instnaments

Foreign exchange risk results from exposure fo changes in the price and volatility of currency spot and forward rotes
The princtpal foreign exchange nsk arises from the Group's foreign exchange forward and dervative troding ecimbes

Equity risk anses from exposures to chonges in the price ond volatility of indvidual equittes or equity indices
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GROUP STRUCTURE AND OVERALL RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT {conhnued)
2.4 Riskin Pillor 1 (continued)

1i)

Market nsk lconhinued)

The Group seeks fo manage exposure fo market nisk through the dversification of exposures across disstmilar markets
and establishment of hedges in related securities or off-balance sheet denvative mstruments To manage the Group's
exposures, in oddihon to the exeraise of business judgment and management expenence, the Group utihses lmit
structures induding those relating fo posihons, portfolios, matunhies and meamum allowable losses A key element in
the Group's market nsk management framework 1s the eshmaton of potenhal future losses that moy anse from adverse
market movements The Group uhhses Value-at-Risk {VaR) to eshmate such losses The VaR 1s derved from quanhtative
models that use stahsheal and smulation methods that take occount of ofl market rates and prices that may couse o
change 1n a posihon's value These include inferest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices, therr respective
volohlihes and the correlahions between these vanables The Group's VoR s calculated on aMonte Caro simulahon basis
using histoncal volatlires and comelatons to generate a proht and loss disinbution from several thousand scenanos

The VaR takes account of potenhal diversiicahon benehts of different posihons both wathin and across different
portfolios Consistent wath general market practice, VaR 1s computed for all hnancicl instruments for which there are
readily available daily prices or suitable proxies VaR 1s viewed os an effective nsk management tool and o valuable
oddihon to the non-stahshcally based limit structure It permts o consistent and umiform measurement of market risk
across all applicable products and actvities Exposures are monitored agarnst a range of hmits both by nsk category
and portiolio and are regularly reported to and reviewed by senior management and the Board of Directors

An inherent hmitation of VaR 1s that past marke! movements may not provide an accurate predichon of future market
losses Historic analyses of market movements have shown that extreme morket movements {1 e beyond the 99
per cent confidence level) occur more frequently than VaR models predict Stress tests are regularly conducted to
eshmate the potential economic losses in such abnormal markets Stress testing combined wath VaR prondes o
more comprehensive picture of market nisk The Group regulary performs siress tests that are constructed around
changes i market rates and pnces resuling from pre-defined markel stress scenanos, including both historical
and hypothetical market events Histonical scenanos include the 1997 Asian cnisis, the 1998 Russian cnsis, the
events of /11 and the 2008 credit crisis In addition, the Group performs siress teshing based on internally
developed hypothetical market stress scenanios Stress teshing 15 performed for all matenal market ntk porffolios

Operahonal risk

Operational nisk 1s the nsk of loss ansing from nadequate or failed mtemal processes, people and systems or from
external events, whether infentional, unintenhonal or natural It s an inherent nsk Faced by dll businesses and covers
a large number of potenhal operational nek events including business mterruphon and systems Fallures, internal and
external fraud, employment prachices and workplace safety, cuslomer and business prachces, fransachon execuhion
and process management, and domoge to physical assets

Whilst operational risk cannot be eliminated m its entirety, the Group endeavours fo mimimise tha nsk by ensunng
that a strong control nfrostructure 15 in place throughout the orgamsation The various procedures and processes
used to manage operahonal nsk indude effechive staff training, appropnate conirols to safeguard ossets and records,
regular reconciichon of accounts and transachons, close monstoring of risk imits, segregation of dutes, and hnanciat
manogement and reporting In oddihion, other control strategres, including business continuity planning and insurance,
are in place to complement the control processes, as applicable

The Group hos an independent operatonal nsk funchon As part of the Group’s Operatonal Risk Management
Framework [ORMF), comprehensive nsk assessments are conducted, which wdentfy operahonol nisks nherent n
the Group's actvihes, processes and systems The controls in ploce to mihgate these nsks are also reviewed, and
enhanced if necessary
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2  GROUP STRUCTURE AND OVERALL RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued)
2.5 RuskinPillar 2

u}

Other nisk types are measured and assessed in Pillor 2 GIB measures and manages these risk types although they are
not ndfuded in the calculahon of the regulatory capital adequacy ratie Most of the Pillar 2 nsks are included in GIB's
calculahon of internal economic capital Pillar 2 nisk types include liquidity nsk, interest rate rsk in the banking book,
business risk and concentration nsk

Liquiddy nsk

Liquadity risk 1s the nisk that sufficient funds are not available to meet the Group's financial obligahions on @ punchual
basts as they foll due The nsk anses from the hming differences between the matunty profiles of the Group's assets
and habilihes Itincludes the nsk of losses ansing from the following -

* Forced sale of assets ot below normal market prices

* Raising of deposis or borrowing funds at excessive rates

¢ The investment of surplus funds at below market rates

Liqu:dity management policies are designed lo ensure that funds are avallable ot oll hmes to meet the funding
requirements of the Group, even in adverse condihons In normal condihians, the objective 15 to ensure that there are
sufhcient funds available not oaly to meet current hnanc:al commitments but olso to facilitate business expansion
These objectives are met through the application of prudent hquidity controls These controls provide access to funds
wathout undue exposura to incraosed costs from the iquidahon of assets or the aggressive bidding for deposis

The Group's hiquidity controls ensure that, aver the short term, the future profile of cash flows from matunng assets 15
adequately matched to the matunty of labilihes Liquidity controls also provide for the maintenance of a stock of iquid
ond readily realisable assets and a diversified deposit base in terms of both maturihes and range of deposiors

The management of hquidity ond funding s pnmanly conducted in the Group’s indimdual geographic enhihes within
approved limits The hmits toke account of the depth and hquidity of the market in which the entity operates

It 1s the Group’s general policy that each geographic enhty should be self-sufhcient in relahon to funding its own
operahons

The Group's iquidity management policies include the followang -

e the monstoring of [} future contractual cash Aows against approved hmits, and [u} the level of hquid assets
avolable in the event of o stress event

¢ the momtoring of balance sheet Liquidity ratios
» the monitonng of the sources of funding in order to ensure that funding 15 derved from a diversihed range of

sources
¢ the monitonng of depostior concentrahions in order to avoid undue reliance on individual depostors
+ the maintencnce of o sahshactory level of term hnancing, and

* the maintenance of liquidity ond funding contingency plans These plans idently early indicotors of stress
coadihons ond prescribe the achions to be taken tn the event of a systemic or other cnsis, while minimising adverse
long term implications for the Group's business actmties

Interest rate nsk in the banking book

Shructural inferest rate sk arises in the Group's core balance shest as a result of mismatches i the repncing of interest
rate sensitve finanaial assets and licbilihes The associated inferest rata nisk 1s mancged within VoR limits and through
the use of models to evaluate the sensitmty of eamings to movements in mterest rates

Business nsk

Business nsk represents the earmings volatibty inherent in all businesses due to the uncertainty of revenues and costs
associated with chonges in the economic and compenitive environment Business nisk 15 evaluated based on the
observed volahlity tn histoncal prohits and losses
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2 GROUP STRUCTURE AND OVERALL RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT {conhinued)

3

o6

2.5
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2.6

Risk in Pillar 2 {continued)

Concentration nsk

Concentrahon risk 1s the nsk related to the degree of diversificahon in the credit portiolio, 1 e the nsk inherent in doing
business with large customers or not being equally exposed across industnes and regions

Concentraton risk 1s captured in GIB's economic capital framework through the use of a credit risk portfolio model
which considers single-name concentrations i the credit portfolio Economic capital add-ons are applied where
counterparty exposures exceed specified thrasholds

Potennal concentrahon nisks by produdt, industry, single obligor, and geography are regularly assessed with a view to
improving overall portfolio diversification Established limits and octual levels of exposure are regularly reviewed by
senior management and the Board of Directors

Monitoring and reporting
The monitonng and reporting of nsk 1s conducted on o dally basis for market and hquidity nisk, on o monthly or
quarterly basis for credit nsk, and on @ quartery basis for operational nisk

Risk reporting 1s regularly made to senior management and the Boord of Directors The Board of Directors recerves
wnternal risk reports covering market, credit, operatonal and liquidity nsks

Copital management, including regulatory ond infernal economic coprtal rahos, 1s reporied o senior management
and the Board of Directors on o monthly bass

REGULATORY CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS AND THE CAPITAL BASE

This section describes the Group's regulatory capital requirements and capital base
The composition of the tatal regulatory capital requirement was as follows -

Regulatory capital requirements
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REGULATORY CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS AND THE CAPITAL BASE {continued)

Jt

Capital requirements for credit nsk

For regulatory reporting purposes, GIB calculates the copital requirements for credit nsk based on the standardised
approach Under the standardised approach on- and off-balance sheet credit exposures are assigned to exposure
categonies based on the type of counterparty or underlying exposure The exposure categones are referred to In
the CBB's Basel 2 capita} adequacy framework os standard portfolios The pnmary standard portfolios are daims
on sovereigns, claims on banks and cdlaims on corporates Following the assignment of exposures to the relevant
standard portfolios, the RWAs are derived based on prescnbed nsk weightings Under the standardised approach,
the nsk weightings are provided by the CBB and are determined based on the counferparty’s external credit rahng
The external credit rahngs are derved from ehigible external rating agencies approved by the CBB GIB uses rahngs
assigned by Standerd & Poor’s, Moody’s and Fitch

An overview of the exposures, RWAs and capital requirements for credit nsk analysed by standard portfolio 13
presented in the table below -

Rated Unrated Total Average Capital

exposure exposure exposure  risk weight RWA  requirement

Us$ millions USS millions  US$ millions  USS millons  USS millions  USS$ millions

Sovereigns 20480 - 2,0480 3% 569 68
PSEs - 87 87 100% 87 10
Banks 50388 337 4 53762 29% 1,5707 1885
Corporates 1,492 4 76268 21192 1% 8,339 23 1,0007
Equihes - 171 6 171 &6 150% 257 4 309
Past due foans - 15 15 100% Nz 110
Cther assets 27 1515 154 2 7% 149 9 180
Tora! 8,581.9 8,387.5 16,969.4 62% 10,474.6 1,256.9

Exposures are stated after taking account of credit nsk mihigants where applicoble The treatment of credit nsk
mihigaton ts explained 1in more detail in section 4 4(vu) of this report

The unrated exposure to banks pncipally represents unrated subordinated loans o rated banks
The definitions of each standard portfolio and the related RWA requirements are set out in sachion 4 of this report

Capital requirements for market nisk
GIB uses a Value-at-Risk (VoR} model to calculate the regulatory capital requirements relating to general market nisk

The VaR calculated by the internal model 15 subject to a multiplication factor determmed by the CBB GIB's mulhplicahon
factor has been setat 3 5 by the CBB The multiplication foctor was increased by the CBB from the regulatory mmmum
of 30 dunng 2008, based on the number of back teshng excephons recorded 1n the financial year ended 31st
December 2007 The frading-related exposures that gave nse to the back keshng excephons in 2007 were hquidated
duning the year ended 315t December 2008

Presenibed additions in respect of specific nsk are made to the general market nsk. The resultant measure of market
nsk 1s mulhiphed by 12 5, the reciprocal of the thearetical 8 per cent minimum capital raho, to gve market nisk-
weighted exposure on a basis consistent with credit nsk-werghted exposure
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3 REGULATORY CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS AND THE CAPITAL BASE {continued)

32 Capital requirements for market risk {conhnued)
The RWAs and capital requirements For market risk are presented in the table below -

Capital

RWA requirement

Us$ millions US$ millions

Equity nsk 321 e
Interest rata risk 79 09
Foreign exchange nsk 15 02
Total general market risk 415 50
Total specific market nsk 828 99
Toral 1243 14.9

The equily general market nsk related to alfernative investment funds managed by external managers The funds have
been redeemed and are in the process of liquidahen

3.3 Capital requirements for operational risk
For regulatory reporting purposes, the capital requirement for operational nisk 15 calculated according to the basic
tndicator approach Under this approach, the Group's average gross income over the preceding three financial years
1s muliplied by o fixed alpha coefficient The alpha coefficient has been set at 15 per cent in the CBB's Basel 2 capifal
adequacy framework

The captkal requirement for operational nisk at 315t December 2009 amounted to US$66 1 mullion

34 Capital bose
The regulatory capital base 1s set out in the table below -

Tier 1 Tier 2 Totel

Us$ millions US$ millions US$ millions

Share capital 2,500 - 2,500
Share premium 76 - 74
Compulsory reserve 169 2 - 169 2
Voluntary reserve 1067 - 1067
Retained ecrnings {950 7) - {950 7)
Unrealised gains on fair valuing AFS equity investments - 57 57
Collective impairment provisions {subject to 1 25% RWA - 1394 1394

limitaten)

Suhordinated term finance - 5110 5110
Tier 1 and tier 2 capital base 1,832.8 656.1 24889

Tier 1 caprtal is defined as capital of the same or close to the character of paid up caprtal and compnises share capital,
share premium, retained earnings and eligible reserves Retained losses, including the losses for the current year, are
included n ter 1 following the external audit Eligible reserves exclude revoluation gains and losses ansing on the
remeasurement to foir value of avarloble-for-sale secunhes and dervativa cosh flow hedging transachons, with the
excephon of unrealised gans and losses ansing on the remeasurement o fair value of equity secunihes dlassified as
avallable-for-sale Unrealised gains on equity secunties classified as availoble-for-sale are included in her 2 capiial

Tier 2 capital compnses qualifying subordinated term finance, collechve impairment prowisions and 45 per cent of
unreahsed gains ansing on the remeasurement to fair value of equily secunihies classihed as available-for-sale
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REGULATORY CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS AND THE CAPITAL BASE [continued)
3.4 Capital base [conhnued)

The subordinated term finance facilihes, amounting to US$511 O rilhon, represent unsecured obligahons of the
Group and are subordinated in nght of payment to the ddaims of depositors and other creditors of the Group that are
not also subordinated The subordinated term finance fociihes have been approved for inclusion in ter 2 capital for
regulatory capital adequacy purposes by the CBB

The CBB apphes vanous limits to elements of the regulotory copita! base The amount of innevative her 1 secunihies
cannot exceed 15 per cent of lotal her 1 capital, qualifying her 2 capital cannot exceed her 1 capital, and qualifying
subordinated term finance cannct exceed 50 per cent of ter 1 capilal There are afso restchions on the amount of
collechva impairment provisions that may be mcluded os part of ter 2 capital

In accordance with the CBB's Basel 2 copital adequacy framework, secunhisation exposures that are rated below BE-
or that are unrated are o be deducted from regulatery capital rather thon induded 1 RWAs At 3135t December 2009,
the Group had no exposure to securihsahons

There are no impediments on the lransfer of funds or regulatory copital within the Group other than restrichons over
transfers to ensura minimum regulatory capital requirements cre met for subsidiary companies

CREDIT RISK - PILLAR THREE DISCLOSURES

This sechion describes the Group's exposure fo credit nsk and provides detailed disclosures on credit risk in accordance with
the CBB’s Basel 2 ramework in relation ko Pillar 3 disclosure requirements

4.1

Definttion of exposure classes

GiB has o diversified on- ond off-balonce sheet credit portfdlio, the expasures of which are divided mto the

exposurs chasses defined by the CB8's Bosel 2 caprial odequocy framework for the standardised approach for credit nsk.
A high-level description of the counterparty exposurs classes, referred to as standord portfolics in the CBB's Basel 2 capsial
adequacy framework, and the generic treatments, i e the risk weights to be used lo denve the RWAs, are as foliows -

Sovereigns Portfolio

The sovereigns portholio compnises exposures to governments and therr respective central banks The nsk weights are
O per cent for exposures in the relevant demeshc eurrency, or in ony currency for exposures to GCC governments
Foreign currency claims on other sovereigns are nsk weighted based on their externdl credit ratngs

Certain mulhlatera] development banks as determined by the CBB may be included in the sovereigns portfolio end
treated as exposures with a O per cent nsk weighting

PSE Portfolio
Public sector entifies (PSEs) are risk weighted according bo their external rafings with the excephon of Bahrain PSEs, and
domestic curency daims on other PSEs which are assgned o O per cent sk weight by their respective country regulator

Banks Portfolio

Claims on banks are nsk weighted based on their external credit rafings A preferential risk weight treatment 15
available for qualifying short term exposures Short term exposures are defined as exposures with an origindl tenor
of three months or less

The Banks portfolio also indudes daims on investment hrms, which are nsk weighted based on their external credht
rahngs although without any ophon for preferential freatment for short term exposures

Corporates Portfolio
Clatms on corporates are nsk weighted based on their external credst rotings A 100 per cent nsk weight 1s assigned

to exposures lo unrated corparates A preferential nsk weight treatment s available for certain corporates owned by
the Government of Bohrain, as determined by the CBB, which are assigned a O per cent nsk weight
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41

4.2

43

Definition of exposure dasses (conhnued)

Equities Portfolic

The equities portfolio compnises equity Investments i the banking book, 1@ the investment secunties portfoho The
credit {specihc) nsk for equihies in the trading book 1s indluded in marke! nsk RWAs for regulatory capital adequocy
calculation purposes

A 100 per cent nsk weight 1s assigned to listed equines and funds Unlisted equihes and funds are nsk weighted at
150 per cent Investments in rated funds are nsk weighted according to the external eredit rating Equity investments
in secunhisations are deducted from the regulatory capital base

In addihon Io the standard portholios, other exposures are assigned fo the following exposure classes -

Past due exposures

All past due loan exposures, irespective of the cafegonsation of the exposure If it were performing, are dassified
separately under the past due exposures assel class A nsk werghting of exther 100 per cent or 150 per cent s applied
depending on the leve! of provision maintamned agamst the loan

Other assets and holdings of securitisation franches
Other assets are nsk weighted at 100 per cent

Secuntisahon franches are nsk weighted based on their external credit ratings Risk weightings range from 20 per
cent to 350 per cent Exposures Io securiisation tranches that are roted below BB- or are unrated are deducted from
regulatory capital rather than subject to a nsk wesght

External rating agencies

GIB uses rahngs 1ssued by Standard & Poor's, Moody's and Fitch to derive the nsk weightings under the CBB’s Basel
2 capital adequacy framework Where ratings vary between rahng agencies, the highest rating from the lowest two
rahngs 15 used to represent the rating for regulatory copital adequacy purposes

Credit risk presentation under Basel 2

The credit nsk exposures presented n much of Hus report differ from the credit nsk exposures reported in the
consolidated financial statements Differences anise due to the application of different methadologies, as illustrated
below -

¢ Under the CBB's Basel 2 fromework, off-balance sheet exposures are converted into eredit exposure equivalents
by applying a credit conversion factor (CCF} The off-balance sheet exposure 1s mulhphed by the relevant CCF
applicable to the off-balance sheet exposure category Subsequently, the exposure 1s treated in accordance with
the standard portholios referred to in sechon 4 1 of this report in the same manner a3 on-balance sheet exposures

e Credit nsk exposure reporhing under Piflar 3 15 frequently reported by standard portfolios based on the type of
counterparty The financial statement presentation 13 based on asset dloss rather than the relevant counterparty
For example, a loan to a bank would be dassibed i the Banks standard portfolio under the capstal adequacy
framework although 15 cdlassifed in loans and advances in the consohdated hnancial stafements

+ Certain eligible colloteral 1s epplied to reduce exposure under the Base! 2 capital adequocy framework, whereas
no such collatera! nething 1s applicable in the consolidated hnancial statements

* Based on the CBB's Base! 2 guidelines, certain exposures are etther included in, or deducted from, regulatory
capttal rather than treated as an asset as in the consolidated financial statements

*  Under tha CBB's Basel 2 copital adequacy framework, external rohing agency rohings are based on the highest rafing
from the lowest two ratings while for mtemal credit nsk management purposes the Group uses the lowest rating
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44 Credit exposure

Gross credit exposure

The gross and averoge gross exposure to credit nsk before applying collateral, guarantees, and other credit

enhancements was as follows -

Balance sheet items

Cash ond other hquid assets

Placements

Due from shareholders

Trading secunhes

Investment secunhes

Loans and advances

Other assets, excluding dervahve-related tems
Tokal on-balance sheet credit exposure

Off-balance sheet items:

Credit-related contingent items

Denvative and foreign exchange instruments
Tota) off-balance sheet credit exposure

Tota! credit exposure

Gross credit Average gross
exposure credit exposure
US$ millions US$ millons
508 2 2653
4,101 1 4,481 ¢

- 1,148 2

502 1336
20181 20526
9,298 1 11,2281
578 1458
16,033.5 19,455.5
2,160 4 2,8008
785 1708
2,2389 2971.6
18,272.4 22,4271

The average gross credi exposure s based on daily averages dunng the year ended 313t December 2009

Cther assets principally comprise accrued interest, fees and commussions

The gross credit exposure for denvatve and foreign exchange metruments 18 the replacement cost (current exposure)

represeniing the cost of replacing the contracts at current market rates should the counterparty default prior to the

setlement date The gross credit exposure reported in the table chove does not include potenhal future exposure

Further details on the counterparty credit nsk relating fo off-balance sheet exposures are set out in section 7 3{1) of this

report
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4  CREDIY RISK - PILLAR THREE DISCLOSURES {continued)

4.4 Credit exposure {continued)
i)  Credit exposure by geography

The dassification of credit exposures by geography, based on the location of the counterparty, was os follows -

Off
Placements & Loans and Other balance
other liquid assets  Securihes  advances assels  sheet items Total
US$ millions  US$ millions  US$ millions  US$ milkons  US$ millions  USS$ millions
GCC 17527 1,3387 8,810% 453 1,669 2 13,6168
Other MENA region 340 429 2334 22 1223 4550
Europe 2027 5 430 2389 41 2593 2,5928
North America 5300 5825 02 58 1881 1,306 6
Asia 2451 412 14 5 04 - 3012
Tolal exposure 4,609.3 2,068.3 9,298.1 57.8 2,238.9 18,272 4
The MENA region compnses the Middle Eost and North Africa
ui}  Credit exposure by industry
The dassihication of credit exposures by indusiry was as follows -
off
Plocements & toans and balance
other liquid assets  Securiies  odvances Cther assets  sheet items Total
US$ millions  US$ millions US$ millons  USS millions US§ millons  US$ millions
Finanaial services 3,318 1 1,272 5 1,436 8 137 176 6 62177
E"m‘l"i;:i - 2682 30569 138 3885 37274
Government 1,291 2 2765 N2 66 Nz 1,2181
Trading and services - - 1,2020 60 626 2 1,8342
Construchon - - 5966 10 566 4 1,1640
Transportation - 131 7997 18 546 869 2
Manufactuning - - 5892 20 2759 867 1
Recl estata - - 741 3 70 285 7768
Communicahon - 162 4352 17 238 4769
Equity mvestments - 2218 - - 49 2267
Other - - 128 3 42 618 1943
Total exposure 4,609.3 2,068.3 9,298 1 57.8 2,238.9 18,2724
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4.4 Credit exposure {continued)
v)]  Credit exposure by internal rating
The credit risk profile based on interral credit ratings was as follows

of
Placements Loans and Other badance
& other liquid assets  Securifies  odvances assels  sheet items Total
US$ mifions  USS millions  USS millions USS$ milions  US$ miflions  USS$ millions
Neither past due nor
impaired
Raoting grades 1 to 4- 45733 1,769 9 6,1328 399 1,4254 139413
Roting grades 5+ to 5- 360 295 1,858 6 19 6375 2,5735
Rahng grades 6+ o 6- - 302 5701 33 1361 7397
Rating grade 7 - 169 1285 15 146 1615
Rahing grade 8 - - - - 204 204
Equity mvestments - 2049 - - 49 2098
Carrying amount 4,609 3 2,051 4 8,6900 566 22389 17,6452
Past due but not impaired
Rotng grades 1 to 7 - - 267 - - 267
Raoting grade 8 - - 171 4 - - 1714
Carrying amount Z - 198 1 - = 198 1
Past due and mdividually
impaired
Rahng grade 8 - - ?3 - - 93
Rabing grade 9 - - 819 - - 819
Carrying amount - - 912 - - 912
Individually impaired but
not past due
Roting grodes 1 to 7 - - 2572 09 - 2581
Rahng grade 8 - - 363 03 - 3%6
Rating grode 9 - - 253 - - 253
Equity investments - 169 - - - 169
Carrying amount - 169 3188 12 - 3369
Totol 4,609.3 2,068.3 9,298.1 57.8 2,2389 18,2724

The analysis 1s presented prior to the appheation of any credit nsk miigation tachniques, for example, the off-batance
sheet exposures relating to grade 8 counterparties cre fully collateralised by cash

The Group's internal rahing system ts commented on in more defail in sechon 8 1 of this report
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44 Credit exposure (conhnued)

104

v)

vi)

vii]

Credit exposure by matunty
The matunty profile of funded credit exposures based on contractual matunty dates was s follows -
Plocements Loans and Other
& cther liquid ossets Securibes advances assets Total
US$ millons  USSmillions  USS millions  USS milkions  US$ millions
Within 3 months 4,608 3 2155 20315 506 6,9059
4 months to | year 10 2180 1,5822 72 1,808 4
Years 210 5 - 1,01246 3,406 6 - 4,419 2
Years 6 to 10 - 3400 1,4187 - 17587
Years 11 to 20 - 1104 7569 - 847 5
Over 20 years and other - 171 6 102 2 - 2738
Total exposure 4,609.3 2,068 3 9,298 1 57.8 16,033.5

An analysis of off-balance sheet exposure 1s set out in sechon 7 of this report
Secunities expasure over 20 years compnises equily investments, net of fofal collectve provisions

Equities held in the banking book

Equity mvestments included in investment secunties 1n the consolidated balance sheet are included in the equihes
standard portiolio in the Pillar 1 credit nsk copital adequacy framework Such equity investments principally compnise
investments of o prvate equity nature, both direct investments and imvestments in funds managed by externdl specialist
managers and internationcl investment banks

At 315t December 2009, equity nvestments held in the banking book amounted to US$171 6 million, of which
US$62 2 million comprised managed funds Unlisted equities, which principally represent private equity investments,
are stoted ot cost less provision for impairment There are no active markets or other appropnate methods from which
to derive reliable fair values for these mvestments The Group infends fo exit these investments principally by means of
IPOs or private placements

Duning the year ended 315t December 2009, the tofal realised gains on equity investments amounted to USS0 5
million At 31st December 2009, unrealised gains on equity mvestments amounted to U5$12 6 million 45 per cent
of the unrealised gains, or US$5 7 million, was induded in her 2 capital in accordance with the CBB's Basel 2 capital
adequacy framework

Credit risk mitigahon

The credit exposure informahon presented i sechon 4 of this report represents gross exposures prior to the applicotion
of any credit nsk miigation techniques Collateral items and guarantees which can be used for credit nsk mibgaton
under the capitol adequacy framework are referred to as eligible collateral Only certain types of collateral and some
issuers of guarantees are ehigible for preferential nsk weights for regulatory copital adequacy purposes Furthermore,
the collateral management process and the ferms in the collateral agreements have to hulfl the CBB's prescnbed
minimum requirements {such as procedures for the momitoring of market values, insurance and legal certainty] set out
in their capital adequacy regulatons

The reduction of the copital requirement atinbutable to credit risk mitigahon 13 calculated in different ways, depending
on the type of credit nsk mihgabon, as follows -

s Adjusted exposure amount GIB uses the comprehensive method for financia! collateral such as cash, bends and
stocks The exposure mount s adjusted with regard to the financial collateral The size of the adjustment depends
on the volatity of the collateral and the exposure GIB uses volatlity adjustments specified by the CBB, known as
supervisory haircuts, to reduce the benefit of collateral and to increass the magnutude of the exposure
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44 Credit exposure {continued)

vii}  Credit nsk mihgation (continued)
» Subshtuhion of counterparty The subshtution method 15 used for guarantees, whereby the rating of the counterparty
13 subshiuted with the raking of the guarantor This means that the credit nsk in respect of the customer s subshtuted
by the credit nsk of the guarantor and the capital requirement 1s thereby reduced Hence, o hully guaranteed
exposure will be assigned the same capital freatment as if the loan was inthally granted to the guarantor rather
than to the customer

Descriphion of the mam types of nsk mihgahon

GIB uses a vanety of nsk miigation techriques m several different markets which conmbute to nsk diversificahon
ond credit protection  The different eredit nsk mitigation techmiques such as collateral, guarantees, credit denvatives,
netting agreements and covenants cre used to reduce credit nsk. All credit mihgahon actvities are not necessanly
recognised for capital adequacy purposes since they are not defined as eligible under the CBB’s Basel 2 capital
adequacy framework, e g covenants end non-eligible tangible collateral such as unquoted equies

Exposuras secured by eligible financidl collateral, guarantees and credit denvatives, presented by standard portolio

wera as follows -

Exposure Of which secured by:
before credit risk Eligible Eligible guarantees
mifigahon collateral or credit derivatives
US$ milkons US$ millions USS millions
Sovereigns 2,048 0 - 4523
Banks 53794 32 4553
Corporates 96137 48460 1297

Guarantees and credit derivatives

Only eligible providers of guarantees and credit derivatives may be recognised in the standardised approoch for
credit nsk Guarantees 1ssued by corporate enhties may only be taken into account if therr rating corresponds to A- or
better The guaranteed exposures receve the risk weight of the guarantor

GIB uses credhit denvahves as credit nsk protechon only fo o very himited extent as the credit portfolio 1s considered to
be well diversified

Collateral and valuation principles

The amount and type of collateral 1s dependent upon the assessment of the credit nsk of the counterparty The market
/ fair value of the collateral 15 actrvely monitored on a regular basis and requests are made for additional collatercl
tn accordance with the terms of the underlying agreements In general, lending 1s based on the customer’s repayment
capaciy rather than the coflateral value However, collatera! 15 considered the secondary alternotive if the repayment
capaeily proves inadequote Collateral 1s not usually held against secunhes or placements

Types of eligible collateral commonly accepted
The Group holds collateral againstloans ond advances in the form of physical cssety, cosh depostts, securibies and guarantees

4.5 Impaired credit facilihes and provisions for impairment

Individually imparred hinancial assets represent assets for which there 1s objective evidence that the Group will not
collect all amounts due, induding both principal and interest, in accordance wath the contractual terms of the obligahon
Objechive evidence that a financid] asse 1s impaired may indlude a breach of contradt, such as default or delinquency
in inferest or pnncipal payments, the gronting of o coacession that, for economic or legal reasons relating to the
bomower's finoncial difhcuthies, would not otherwase be considered, indications that o 15 probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other finanaial re-organisation, the disappecrance of an active market, or other observable
dato relating to o group of assets such as odverse changes in the payment status of borrowers or issuers in the group,
or economsc conditions that correlate with defaults in the group For equity secunhes dassified os ovailable-for-sale, a
significant or prolonged dedine in for value below cost 1s considered in determining whether a secunity 15 impaired
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4.5 Impaired credit facilities and provisions for imparment {continued)
Provistons for impairment are determined based on the difference between the net carrying amount and the recoverable
amount of a financic! asset The recoverable amount 15 measured as the present value of expected future cash flows,
including omounts recoverable from guarantees and collateral

Prowisions for impairment are also measured and recognised on a collechve basis in respect of impairments that
exst at the reporting date but which will only be indidually idenhfied in the future Future cash flows for financicl
assets that are collechvely assessed for impairment are eshmated based on contractual cash lows and histonical loss
expenences for assets with similar credit nsk charactenstics Histoncal loss expenence 15 adjusted, based on current
observable data, to reflect the effects of current conditions that did not offect the penod on which the histancal loss
expenience 13 based Prowisions for impairment are recognised in the consolidated statement of income and are
reflected in an allowance account against beans and advances and investment secunihies

1) Impaired loan facilities and related provisions for impairment
Impaired loan facilities and the related provisions for impairment were as follows

Gross Impairment Net

sure provisions exposure

USS millions USS millions Us$ milhons

Corporates 6451 2704 3747
Financial inshtuhons 1520 1237 353
Total 804.1 394.1 410.0

Impaired loan faclines of US$804 1 million include loans amounting to US$440 O million that were not past due but
for which specific provisions had been estoblished s a matter of prudency 54 7 per cent of impaired loan facilihes
were therefore current in terms of both pnnepal and nterest

The impaired loan facilihes were fo counterparhies i the GCC

il Provisions for impairment — loans and advances
The movements in the provisions for the impairment of loans and advances were as follows -

Specific provisions
Financial Collective Total
Corporates institutions Total provisions provisions

US$ millions USS millions  USS millions  US$ millions  US$ mdlions
At st January 2009 844 98 942 1800 2742
Amounts ulhsed (18) - (18) - {18)
Charge for the year 187 8§ 113 ¢ 3017 600 3817
A 315t December 2009 270.4 1237 394.1 240.0 634.1

Higher probabilihes of default are anticipated o result from the impact of the global recession on the regional
economic environment The probabilihes of default apphed in the caleulahion of the collectiva provisions of Impaiment
at 315t December 2009 equated to a speculative-grade mean default rate of 13 9 per cent, excoeding the previous
historical high corporate default levels wimessed n July 1991

n}  Impaired investment secuntes and related provisions for impawrment
tmpaired investment secunhes and related provisions for impairment were os follows -

Gross Impairment Net

exposure provisions exposure

Us$ millions US$ millions US$ miflions

Equity tnvestments 841 67 2 169
Yotal 84.1 67.2 16.9

Total specific impairment provistons of US$67 2 midlion represented 79 9 per cent of the gross impaired investment
secunhes exposure
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4.5 Imparred credit faclihes and provisions for impairment {conhinued)
iv)  Provisions for impairment - investment securities
The movements in the provisions for the impairment of investment secunifies were os follows -

Specific provisions Collective Total
SIVs Equihes CDOs Totol Provisions  pgvisions
USS millions USS$ millions US$ milbons USS millions US$ milons s milions
At st Janvary 2009 564 5 685 95 642 5 1340 7765 !
Exchange rate movements 11) 03 - {0 8} - [08) i
Amounts utlised (563 4) (8 0} (% 3) {580 7) {49 5) {630 2)
5:;’9‘* / {releose] for the - 64 (02 62 (542)  {480)
At 315t December 2009 - 67.2 - 67.2 30.3 975

As referred to in note 9(b) of the consolidated financicl statements, the speciiic provisions for SIVs were fully uhlised
on the write off of the Group's enfire investment in ${Vs The US$49 5 million utlisaton of cdllechve provisions arose
on the settlement of credit default swap transachons The release of US$54 2 million of collschve provisions arose on
the sale of & signihcant portion of the Investment secunities portfolio as commented on 1n more detail in note 7 to the
consohdated fnancidl statements

4.6 Past due facilibes
In aceordance with guidelines 1ssued by the CBB, credit facilihes are placed on non-acerval stotus and interest income
suspended when either pnncipal or interest is overdue by 90 days whereupon unpaid and accrued interest is reversed
from ncome Interest on non-accrual facilites ts included in income only when received Credit facilihes classihed as
past dve cre ossessed for impairment in accordance with the IFRS guidelines as set out in sechon 4 5 of this report A
specific provision 1s established only where there 1s objective evidence that o credit focility 15 impaired

i Loans
The gross and corrying omount of loans for which either principdl or interest was over 90 days past due were a3 follows -
Secured Unsecured

Gross  Carrying amount Gross  Camrying amount

US$ millions USS millions US$ millions US$ milliens

Corporates 1981 1981 2383 732
Finanaid] inshiutions - - 1259 180

Total 198.1 198.1 3642 Q1.2

The past due loans were o counterparhes in the GCC

The secured past due loan focilihes were hully secured by shares histed on recogmised stock exchanges The market
value of the collateral represented 134 per cent of the principal amount of the secured past due locn focilies

Non-specific loan provisions of U5$240 0 eillion represented 263 2 per cent of the net carrying amount of unsacured

past due loans
The overdue status of past due loans based on onginal contractual matunhes was as follows -
Less than 2103 Over
1 year years 3 years Total
US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions
Corporates 432 4 40 - 4356 4
Financral inshivtions 1250 - 09 125¢
Total 557.4 40 0.9 5623
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CREDIT RISK = PILLAR THREE DISCLOSURES {contnued]

4.6
n)

4.7

Past dve facilihes (continued)
Investment securihes
There were no debt securthes for which ether principal or inferest was aver 90 days past due

Restructured loan facilibes
There were no restructured loan facilihes during the year ended 315t December 2009

MARKET RISK - PILLAR THREE DISCLOSURES

51

5.2

Market risk

Market risk 1s the risk of loss due fo adverse changes tn inferest rates, foreign exchange rates, equity prices and market
conditions, such as liquidity The principal market risks to which the Group 15 exposed are interest rafe risk, foreign
exchange nsk and equily price nsk associated with its trading, investment and asset and liabily monagement achvihes
The portfolio effects of holding a diversihed range of instruments across a variety of businesses and geographic areas
contribute to o reduetion in the potential negahve impact on earnings from market nisk factors

The Group’s trading actvihes principally compnse trading in debt and equily securhes, foreign exchange and
derivatve fnanaial nstruments Dervative Fnancial nstruments include futures, forwards, swaps and ophans in the
interest rate, foreign exchange, and equity markets The Group manages and controls the market risk wathin its trading
portfolias through himit structures of both a VaR and non-VaR nature Non-VaR based constraints relate, inter alio, to
posttions, volumes, concenirations, allowable losses and matunthes

VaR model

A key element 1n the Group’s market nisk manogement framework 15 the eshmation of potential future losses that may
ansa from adverse market movements Exposure to generol market risk 13 calculated utilising a VoR model The use of
the internal model approach for the caleulation of the capital requirement for general morket nsk has been approved
by the CBE The mulhiplication factor to be applied to the Value-at-Risk calculated by the internal model has been set
at 3 5 by the CBB The mulhplication factor was increased by the CBB from the regulatory minimum of 3 0 during
2008, based on the number of back testing excephions recorded in the hinancial year ended 31st December 2007
The rading-related exposures that gave rise to the back teshing exceptions 1n 2007 were hquidated dunng the year
ended 3¥st December 2008

An inherent limstation of VoR 1s that past market movements may not provide an accurate predichon of future market
losses Historic andlyses of market movements have shown that extreme market movements 1 e beyond the 99 per
cent conhdence level} occur more frequently than VaR models predict Stress tests are therefore regulorly conducted to
eshmate the potenhal economic losses i such abnormal markets Stress testing combined with VaR provides a more
comprehensive picture of market nsk The Group regularly performs stress tests that are constructed around changes in
market rates and prices resuthng from pre-defined market stress scenanos, induding both histoncal and hypothetical
market events Historical scenarios includa the 1997 Asian crisis, the 1998 Russian ensis, the events of 9/11 and the
2008 credit cnsis In addition, the Group performs stress testing based on internally developed hypothencal market
stress scenarios Stress festing 1s performed for all matenal market nsk portichos

A key objective of asset and liabihty management 1s the maximisahon of net interest income through the proachve
management of the asset and liability repncing prohle based on anheipated movements in inferest rates VaR-based
limuts are uhlised to control Auctuahons n mierest eamings resulting from changes in inferest rates The asset and
liability repricing prohle of the various asset and liability categones are set out in sechon 8 of this report
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5.2 VaR model [conhnued)

For nternal nsk manogement purposes, the Group measures losses that are anhcipated to occur within a 95 per
cent conhdence level Interndlly, the Group measures VoR utlising a one month assumed holding period for both
trading and banking book posihons For regulatory capital odequacy purposes, the figures are calculated using the
regulatory VaR basis at a 99 per cent conhdence level {2 33 standard deviahions) and a ten-day helding penod
using one-year unweighted historical daily movements 1n marke! rotes and prices Correlations across broad nisk
categones are exduded for regulatory capital adequacy purpeses

The VoR by nsk dass for the Group’s trading posihons os caleulated tn accordance with the regulatory parameters
set out above, wos as follows -

31.12.09 Average High Low

USS millions US$ millions USS millions US$ millions

Equity risk 06 23 40 06

Interest rate risk 01 04 14 01
Forergn exchange risk - 01 02 -

Total diversihed nsk (17 2.5 49 0.6

The equity market nsk pnnapally related to alternative investment funds managed by extermal managers At 31st
December 2009, the funds had been redeemed and were in the process of liquidaton

The Group conducts daily VaR back testing both for regulatory compliance purposes and for the internal evaluation
of VoR against actua! troding profits and losses Duning the year ended 31st December 2009, there were no
instances of a daily trading loss exceeding the trading VaR ot the close of business on the previous business day

The graph below sets out the total VaR for olf the Group's trading actvities at the dose of each business day
throughout the year ended 313t December 2009 -

Trading Value-at-Risk (VaR} daily development

5

US$ Millions
w

N

Jan Feb Mar Apr Moy Jun Jd  Aug Sep Oc Nov Dec
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MARKET RISK — PILLAR THREE DISCLOSURES (continued)

5.2 VaR model (continued)
The daily trading profits and losses during the year ended 31st December 2009 are summarised as follows -

Histogram of daily trading profits & losses

FEFTRNEFSFELS 2 8LV 3E
CEFFEFEdd8dti33374ddd7
Daily profits / (losses)
Us $000's

5.3 Sensiivity analysis
The sensitivity of the inferest rate risk in the banking book fo changes in inferest rates s set out in sechon 8 (i) of this
report
The Group s also exposed to the impact of changes in credit spreads on the fair value of available-for-sale debt
securihes Credit spread nisk 15 managed within VaR imits and through the use of models to evaluate the sensitmity
of changes 1n equify to movements in credit spreads Based on the available-for-sale debt secunhes held at 31st
December 2009, a one basis point increase in credit spreads would result in o US$0 5 million decrease in fair value

OPERATIONAL RISK - PILLAR THREE DISCLOSURES

6.1 Operatonal risk
Whilst operational risk cannot be eliminated in ifs entirety, the Group endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that
o strong control infrastructure 15 1n place throughout the organisahion The vanious procedures and processes used
fo manage operahonel nisk include effechve staff raiming, appropriate controls fo safeguard assets and records,
regular reconciliahon of accounts and transactions, close monitoring of nisk limits, segregation of dutes, and finencial
management and reporting In oddition, other confrol strategies, induding business continuity planning and insurance,
are n place to complement the procedures, os applicable

As port of the Group's Operahonal Risk Management Framework {ORMF), comprehensive nsk self-assessments are
conducted, which identify the operahional risks inherent in the Group’s activihes, processes and systems The controls
in place Yo mitigate these nsks are also reviewed, and enhanced as necessary A database of measurable operational
nsk events 1s mamiained, fogether with a record of key nsk indicators, which can provide an early warning of possible
operahonal nisk
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6  OPERATIONAL RISK — PILLAR THREE DISCLOSURES [continued}

&1 Operational nsk {continued)
The caprtal requirement for operchional nsk 1s caloulated for regulatory purposes occording to the basic dicator
approach, in which the Group's average gross income for the preceding three knancial years 1s mulhplied by an olpho
coefhcient of 15 per cent as prescnbed by the CBB

The operahonal nsk capital requirement 1s based on gross income from the preceding thres hnancial years
Consequently, the operational nsk capital requirement 1s updated only on an annual basis

7  OFF-BALANCE SHEET EXPOSURE AND SECURITISATIONS

Off-balance shee! exposures are divided into two exposure types in accordance with the calculation of credit nsk RwAs in
the CBB's Basel 2 capifal adequacy framework -

*  Credirelated contingent tems Creditreloted contingent ems compnse guarantees, credit commitments and
unuhhised approved credit focilihes

*  Denvative and foresgn exchange instruments Dernvative and fore:gn exchange instruments are coniracts, the value of
which ts derved from one or more undedying hinanciol instruments or indices, and incdlude futures, forwards, swaps
and options in the interest rate, foreign exchange, equity and credit markets

In addihon to counterparty credit nsk measured within the Bosel 2 credit nsk framework, denvatives also incorporate
exposure to market nisk and carry a potental morket nsk capital requirement, as commented on in mare detail in sechon 5
of this report

For the two off-balance exposure types, there are different possible values for the cokulotion base of the regulatory capikal
requirement, as commented on below -

7.1 Credit-related contingent ttems

For credit-related contingent items, the nominal volue 13 converted to an exposure at default (EAD) through the
application of o credit conversion factor {CCF) The CCF factor 1s 50 per cent or 100 per cent depending on the type
of contingent item, and 15 intended to convert off-balance sheet nohonal amounts info an equivalent on-balance sheet
exposure

Credit commitments and unuthised approved credit facilities represent commitments that have not been drawndown
or uthsed ot the reporting date The nominal amount provides the calcvlation base to which a CCF 1s applied for
caleulating the EAD The CCF ranges between O per cent and 100 per cent depending on the approach, product type
and whether the unuhlised amounts are uncondihonally concellable or irevocable

The table below summanses the nohonal princtpal ameounts, RWAs and capital requirements for each credi-related

conhngent category -

Notional
principal Copited
amount RWA requirement
U5$ millions US$ millions US$ millions
Drrect credit subshiutes 171 & 161 4 194
Transachon-related conhngent items 8087 3224 387
Short-term sell-hiquidating trade-related contingent ttems 2343 483 58

Commitments, induding undrawn loan commitments and
underwrihng commitments under nofe tssuance and
revobving Facilibes 9458 450 2 540

Total 2,160.4 982.3 117.9
Comnmtments may be drawndown on demand
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72

Credit-related contingent items (conhnued)

The nohonal principal amounts reported cbove are stated gross before applying credit nsk mihgants, such as cash
collateral, guarantees and counter-indemnihies At 31st December 2009, the Group held cash collateral, guarantees,
counter-indemnihes or other high quality collatera in relahion to credit-related conhingent iems amounhing ko US$115 1
million

Derivative and foreign exchange instruments

The Group utlises denvative and foreign exchange instruments to meet the needs of its customers, to generate frading
revenues and as part of ts asset and hability management activity to hedge its own exposure to market sk Dervahves
and foreign exchange are subject to the same types of credit and market risk as other hnanaial instruments The Group
has appropnate and comprehensiva Board-opproved policies and procedures for the control of exposure to both
market and credit nsk from ts denvative and foresgn exchange actvihes

In the cose of denvative transachons, the nohonal principal typicdlly does not change hands It 1s simply o quantiy
which 15 used to calculate payments While notional principal ts a volume measure used in the denvative and foreign
exchange markets, it 1s neither o measure of market nor credit nsk The Group's measure of credit exposura 1s the cost
of replacing contracts of current market rates should the counterparty default prior to the settlement date Credit risk
amounts represent the gross unrealised gains on non-margined fransachons before taking account of ary collateral
held or any master netting agreements in place

The Group parhicipates m both exchange traded and over-the-counter (OTC) denvative markets Exchange
troded instruments are executed through a recognised exchange as standardised confrocs and primanly
compnse fulures and ophons OTC confracts are executed between two counterparties who negotiate specific
agreement ferms, including the underdying instrument, notional amount, maturity and, where appropriate,
exercise price In general, the ferms and conditions of these transachans are tallored to the requirements of the
Group’s customers although conform to normal market proctice Industry standard documentation 15 used,
most commonly in the form of o master agreement The existence of @ master nethng agreement 15 mtended fo
provide protection to the Group in the event of o counterparty default

The Group's denvahve and foreign exchange achvihes are predominantly short-ferm tn nature Transachons with
matunfies over one year pincipally represent either fully offset frading transachions or transachons that are designated,
and qualify, os fair value and cosh flow hedges

The oggregate nohonal amounts for dervative and foreign exchange mstruments ot 31t December 2009 are set out

Trading Hedging Total
US$ millons US$ millions US$ millions
Interest rate contracts -
Interes! rate swaps and swaphons 2,5051 1,131 5 36366
Optens, caps and floors purchased 243 - 243
Ophons, caps and floors wntten 243 - 243
Finanaal futures - 1816 1816
2,5537 1,3131 3,866 8
Forexgn exchange controcts -
Unmatyred spot, forward and futures conlracts 4195 2,890 9 33104
Credit contracts -
Protechon sold 390 - 390
Yotal 30122 4,204 0 7262
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]

Counterparty credit nsk

Counterparly credit nsk 15 the nsk that a counterparty to @ contract in the ferest rate, foreign exchange, equity and
credit markets defoults prior to the maturity of the contract The counterparty credit nisk for derrvahve and foreign
exchange instruments 15 subjed lo credit imits on the same basis as other credit exposures Counterparty credit nsk
arises in both the trading book and the banking book

Counterparty credit risk calculation

For regulatory capital adequacy purposes, GIB uses the current exposure method to calculate the exposure for
counterparty credit risk for derivative and foreign exchange instruments in accordance with the credit nsk framework
i the CBB's Base! 2 caprial adequacy ramework Credit exposure comprises the sum of current exposure replacement
cost} and potenhal future exposure The potential future exposure 1s an estmate, which reflects possible changes in
the market value of the indmdual contract during the remaining life of the contract, and 15 measured as the notonal
principal amount multiplied by a risk werght The size of the nsk weight depends on the nsk categansahon of the
cantract and the coniract’s remaning hfe Nethng of potentiol future exposures on contracts within the same legally
enforceable netting ogreement 1s done as o function of the gross potential future exposure

The EAD, RWAs and capital requirements for the counterparty credit nsk of denvative and foreign exchonge
instruments analysed by standard portfolio, 1s presented in the table below--

Exposure at Default (EAD)
Current Total Capital
exposure Future exposure exposure RWA requirement
US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$S mullions US$ millions
Banks 213 351 564 132 16
Corporates 572 ol 573 04 -
Total 785 35,2 113.7 13.6 1.6

Mihgation of counterparty nsk exposure

Risk mihgahon techmques are widely used to reduce exposure to single counterparties The most common nisk
mihgation techmique for dervative and foreign exchange-related exposure 1s the use of master nethng agreements,
which allow the Group to net positive and negative replacement values of contracts under the agreement i the event
of default of the counterparty

The reduchon of counterparty credit risk exposure for dervative and foresgn exchange mstruments through the use of
nsk mihgahon technigues is demonstroted as follows -

Current Effect of netting Netted cumrent

exposure agreements exposure

US$ millions U$$ millions USS millions

Counterparty cradit risk exposure 785 (16 5) 620

Secuntisations

Secuntisations are defined as structures where the cash flow from an underlying pool of exposures 1s used fo secure
at least two different siratihed risk postions or tranches reflechng different degrees of credit nsk Payments to the
wvestors depend upon the performance of the underfying exposures, as opposed to being denved from an obligation
of the entrly onginating those exposures

At 31st December 2009, the Group hed no exposure, net of specific provisions, 1o secuntisation tranches
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OFF-BALANCE SHEET EXPOSURE AND SECURITISATIONS {continued}
7.4 Secunhsations {[conhnued)

The Group provides collateral monagement services to five collaterahsed debt obligahons {CDOs) 1ssved
between 2002 and 2006 The CDOs are mtended to extract relahive value from a wide range of asset classes
ocross @ broad spectrum of credit ratings The underlying collaters! of the CDOs includes leveraged loans,
resdential and commercial redl estate, consumer finance, lending to small and medivm sized enterprises,
and other recevables In order to ensure granulanty, each CDO holds between 80 and 140 indmdual
investments providing diversificohon by size, asset class, industry, geography, credit rahng and date of 1ssue

At 315t December 2009 the underlying investments in the CDOs for which the Group acted as collateral manager
amounted to US$1 6 billlon At 315t December 2009, GIB did not hold any exposure ko CDOs managed by the
Group

The Fiich rahng agency reaffirmed the Group’s CDO asset manager rahng of CAM 2- 1n May 2008

INTERNAL CAPITAL INCLUDING OTHER RISK TYPES

GIB manages and measures other nisk types that are not included under Pillar 1 1n the CBB's Basel 2 framework These are
prnapally covered 1 the Group’s internal economic capital model

This sechon describes GIB's economic caprtal model and discusses the freatment of the other risk types that are not addressed
tn Pillar 1 of the CBBs Basel 2 framework

8.1

Economic capita] model
For many years, GIB has applied economic capital and nsk-adjusted return on capitol (RAROC) methodologies which
are used for both decision making purposes and performance reporting and evaluahon

GIB calculates economic capital for the Following major risk fypes credit, market and operahing nisk Operating sk
includes business nsk Addiionally, the economic capital model explicoly incorporates cancentrahion nsk, inlerest rate
nsk in the banking book and business nsk

The composihon of econormic capital by nsk type and business unit was as follows -

T T
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INTERNAL CAPITAL INCLUDING OTHER RISK TYPES (contnued)

8.1

Economic copital model (continued)
The pnimary diHferences between economic capital and regulatory capital under the CBB's Basel 2 framework are

summansed as follows -

» In the economic capital methodology, the confidence level for all sk types 1s set at 99 B8 per cent, compared to
99 O per cent in the CBB's Basel 2 romework

= Credit nsk 1s calculated using GIB's esimates of probability of default, loss gven defoult and exposures at default,
rather than the regulatory values in the standardised approach

» The economic capital model uhlises GIB’s embedded infernal rafing system, as descnbed in more detail fater in this
sechon of the report, to rate counterparhes rather than using the ratings of credit rating agencies or the applicathon
of a 100 per cent nsk wesghting for unrated counterparhes

= Concentrahon nsk is coptured in the economic capital medel through the use of an interna! credit nsk portfolio
model and add-on factors where applicable

* The economic capital model apphies a caprial charge for interest rate nsk in the banking book
» The economic capital model applies a business nsk capital charge where applicable

Internal rating system

The economic capital model is based on an infernal credit rating system The infernal credit rahing system 1s used throughout
the organisation and 13 inherent in all busmess decisions relating to the extension of credit A roting 15 on eshmate that
exdusrvely reflects the quaniihcation of the repayment capocity of the customer, 1 the nisk of customer default

The Group monitors, manages and coatrols credit nsk exposures based an an interndl credit rating system that
rates individual obligors based on a rating scale from 1 1o 10, subject to positve (+) and negatve [-) modihers for
rahng grades 2 fo & The internal credit rating 15 a measure of the creditworthiness of a single obligor, based on an
assessment of the credit nsk relating fo senior unsecured, medium term, foresgn currency credit exposure The primory
objectives of the internal credit rating system are the mamntenance of a single uniform stondard For credit qualily
measurement, and to serve as the primary basis for Board-approved nisk parameters and delegated credit authonty
limits The internal credit rating system dlso serves as a key input into the Group’s RAROC performance measurement
system Rahngs are assigned to obligors, rather than facilibes, and reflect o medium term hme honzon, thereby rahng
through an economic cycle

The mternal ratings map directly to the refing grodes used by the international cradit rating agences os dlustrated below-

Historical default Fitch and

Internal rate range Standard &
Internal rokng grade dassification (percentage) Poor’s Moody’s
Investment grade
Rating grade 1 Stondard 000-000 AAMA Aaa
Rating grade 2 Standard 000-004 AA Ag
Rahng grade 3 Standard 0046-009 A A
Rahng grade 4 Standard 015-034 BBB Bao
Sub-mvestment grade
Rating grade 5 Standard 057-138 BB Bo
Rating grade & Standard 254-884 B B
Rahng grade 7 Standard 2567 ccc Cao
Cassified
Rating grade 8 Substandard 2567 cC Ca
Rating grade 9 Doubtful 2567 C C
Rating grade 10 Loss ~ D -
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INTERNAL CAPITAL INCLUDING OTHER RISK TYPES [contnued)

82

Economic capstal model [continued)
The external rating mapping does not mtend to reflect that there 15 a fixed relahonship between GIB's internal rahng
grades and those of the externat agencies as the rating approaches differ

The historical defaull rates represent the range of probability of defaults (PDs) between the positive and negahve
modihers for each rating grods based on Standard & Poor's one year default rates for the 28 years from 1981 to
2008 for senior unsecured obligations The defaull rotes represent the averages over the 28 year penod and therefore
reflect the full range of ecanomic condihons prevailing over that penod

Other risk types

Liquidity nsk

The Group has established approved lmits which restnct the volume of liabilthes maturing i the short term  An
independent risk management funchon monitors the future cash flow matuniy profile aganst approved kmits on @
dally basis The cash lows are monitored against hmits applying to both darly and cumulative cash flows occurring
over a 14 day pernod The cash flow analysis 1s also monitored on a weekly basis by the Assets and Ligbilihes
Commuittee (ALCO)

Customer deposits form a signiheant part of the Group's funding The Group places considercble importance on
mamtaining the stability of both its customer and interbank deposits The stability of depasits depends on maintaining
conhdence in the Group’s finanaa! strength and hnanaia! ransparency

The funding base 13 enhanced through term financing, amounhng to U$$3,007 9 million of 31st December 2009
Access to avarlable but uncommitted short-term funding from the Group’s established breadth of Middle East and

internaonal relatonships provides addihonal comfort In addition ko the stable funding base, the Group maintains @
stock of liquid and marketable secunties that can be readily sold or repoed

At 313t December 2009, 53 4 per cent of total assels were contructed to mature within one year With regard to
deposits, retenhion records demonstrate that there 15 considerable divergence between therr contractual and effectve
matunties

US$6,609 1 million or 65 B per cent of the Group's deposits at 315t December 2009 were from GCC countnes, and o
further US$2,540 5 million or 25 2 per cent were from other Middle East and North African countries Total deposits
from counterparhes in Middle East and North Afncan countries therefore represented 91 0 per cent of total deposits
at 31st December 2009 Histoncal expenence has shown that GIB's deposits from counterparties in the Middle East
region are more stable than deposits derved from the infemational nterbank market, which at 31st December 2009
were only US$899 9 million, or 9 0 per cent of the Group's deposit base At 31t December 2009 placements with
counterparhes in non-MENA countnes were 3 | hmes the deposits received, demonsirating that the Group 1s o net
tender of funds in the infernahonal interbank market

Concentrahon nisk

Concentrahon risk ts the credit nisk stemming from not having a well diversified credit portfolio, 1 @ the risk inherent
in doing business with Jarge customers or being overexposed tn particular industnes or geographic regions GIB's
internal economic caprtal methodalogy for eredit nsk addresses concentrahon nisk through the application of o single-
nome concentrahon add-on

Under the CBB's single obligor regulahions, banks mcorporated in Bahrain are required o obtain the CBB's approval
for any planned exposure to a single counterparty, or group of connected counterparhes, exceeding 15 per cent of
the regulatory capitol base At 31st December 2009, the following single obligor exposures exceeded 15 per cent of
the Group's regulatory capital base (1 e exceeded US$373 3 million) -
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INTERNAL CAPITAL INCLUDING OTHER RISK TYPES [continued)
8.2 Other risk types [contmued)

1)

in)

Concentrohion risk [continued)

On-balance
sheet Off-balance Total
exposure sheet exposure expasure
USS millions UsS5 millions US55 millions
Counterparty A 6338 660 6998
Counterparly B 1200 3300 4500
Counterparty € 3888 - 388 8

This exposure had been approved by the CBB tn accordonce with the CBB's single obligor regulations Under the CBB's
regulchions single obligors include entiies in which there s an ownership interest of 20 per cent or more This1s @

significantly lower threshold than that used to determine control under IFRS

Interest rate nsk in the banking book

Structural interest rate sk anses i the Group’s core balance sheet as a result of mismatches in the repnicing of interest
rate sensitive hnancial ossets and habilihes The associated interest rate nsk 1s managed wathin VaR limits and through

the use of models to evaluate the sensitvity of earnings to movements n interest rates

The Group does not mamntain matental foreign currency exposures or equity exposures in the banking book Equities

held in the banking book are commented in more detal in sechon 4 4{w1} of this report

In generc!, the Group's policy is to maich hnancial assets and habilihes in the some currency or to rmihgate currency

nsk through the use of currency swaps

The repricing profile of the Group's knancicl assets and habilihes are set out in the table below--

Non-interest
Within Months Months Over bearing
3 months 4106 71012 1 yeor items Total
USS millions USS millions USS millions USS millions USS millions USS$ millions
Cash and other hquid assets 480 6 276 - - - 508 2
Placements 4,1011 - - - - 41011
Trading securihes - - - - 502 502
Investment secunhes -
- Fixed rote - - - 1515 - 1515
- Floating rate 1,6727 526 - - (30 3) 1,6950
- Equthes and equiiy funds - - - - 171 6 1716
Loans and advances 77559 1,706 6 604 152 {240 Q) ?,2981
Other assets - - - - 2320 2320
Total assets 14,0103 1,786 8 60 4 166 7 1835 16,207 7
Deposits 88227 66346 5592 40 - 10,049 5
Secunihes sold under
agreements to repurchase 5650 - - - - 5650
Other habilihes - - - - 294 9 2949
Term financing 22089 1,2600 500 - - 35189
Equity - - - - 1,779 4 1,779 4
Total hobiihes & equity 11,596 6 1,923 6 809 2 40 20743 16,207 7
Interest rate sensitivity gop 24137 (136.8)  (548.8) 1627 (1,890.8) -
Cumulative interest rate
sensitivity gap 24137 2,2769 1,7281 1,890.8 - -
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8  INTERNAL CAPITAL INCLUDING OTHER RISK TYPES {cortinued)

8.2

]

iv)

Other risk types (continued)

Interest rate risk in the banking book [conhinued)

The repricing prohle 13 based on the remaining penod to the next mterest repricing date and the balance sheet
categonies in the consolidated financial statements

The repncing prohle of placements incorporates the effect of interest rate swaps used to lock-in a return on the
Group’s net free capitol funds Denvative inancial mstruments that have been used for asset and hability mancgement
purposes to hedge exposure o Inferest rate nsk are incorporated in the repricing prohlas of the related hedged assets
and hiobdites The non-specific tvestment security and loan provisions are dassified in non-interest beanng items

The substanhal majonty of assets and Labilies reprice within one year

Interest rate exposure beyond one ysar amounted to only US$166 7 million or 10 per cent of fotal assets This
exposure represented the investment of the net free capital funds in hixed rate government securihes At 31st December
2009 the modihed duration of thase fixed rate government secunties was 3 55 Modihed durahon represents the
opproximate percentage change in the portfolio value resulling from ¢ 100 basis point change in yreld More precisely
in dollar terms, the pnce value of a basis point of the hixed rate sacunhes wos US$54,000

Based on the repricing profile at 31st December 2009, and assuming that the financial assets and liabilihes were
to remain unhl matunily or setflement with no action taken by the Group fo alter the inferest rate nsk expasure, an
immedicte and sustained one per cent {100 basts points) increase in inferest rates ocross all matunties would result in
a reduchon in net ncoms before tax for the following year and in the Group's equity by approximately US$5 6 millien
and US$10 9 million respectvely The impact on the Group's equity represents the cumulahve effect of the increasa in
interest rates over the enhre durahan of the mismatches in the repnang prohle of the interest rate sensitive hnoncial
assets and habilihes

Business nsk
Business risk represents the earnings volahlity inherent in oll businesses due to the uncertainty of revenues and costs
dua to changes in the economic and compehiive environment

For economic capital purposes, business risk 1s calculated based on the annualised cost base of apphcable business
oreas

9. CAPITAL ADEQUACY RATIOS AND OTHER ISSUES

LA

Caopital adequacy rahos

The Group's pohicy 1s to maintain a strong capital base so as fo preserve investor, credifor and market confidence
and fo sustain the future development of the business The impact of the leve! of capital on shareholders” return 13
also recognised as well as the need to maintamn a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with
greater gearing and the advantages and secunity offorded by a sound capital position. The Group manages its capikal
shructure and makes adjustments o the structure taking account of changes in economic condihons and strategic
business plans The capital structure may be adjusted through the dindend payout, and the 1ssue of ngw shares and
subordinated term finance

The caprtal adequacy rahos of GIB's principal subsidiary, GIBUK, and the Group wers as follows -

GIBUK Group
Totad RWASs [US$ millions) 5840 11,149 4
Capital base (US$ mullions) 2015 2,488 9
Tier 1 capital (US$ millions) 201 5 1,8328
Tier 1 rafio (per cent) 34 5% 16.4%
Total ratio {per cent} 34.5% 223%
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CAPITAL ADEQUACY RATIOS AND OTHER ISSUES (continued)

21

Copital adequacy rahes (continued)

GIB cims fo maintoin o mintmum her 1 ratio in excess of B per cent and a total capital edequacy raho 1n excess of 12
per cent The CBB's current mimmum tota! capital adequecy ratio for banks incorporated in Bohrain 1s set at 12 per
cent The CBB does not prescnba o mimmum ratio requirement for her 1 copital

Strategies and methods for mamiaining o strong copital adequacy ratio
GIB prepcres mulhi-year sirategic projections on a rolling annual basis which include an evaluahon of short term
copital requirements and a forecast of longer-term capital resources

The evaluahion of the strategic planning projechons have histoncally given nse to capital injections  The capital
planning process tnggered the raising of addihonal tier 2 capital through a US$400 million subordinated debt 1ssue
in 2005 to enhance the total regulatory capital adequacy ratio, and a US$500 million capital increase in March 2007
to provide additonal her 1 copital to support planned medium term asset growth A further US$1 O billion capital
increasa tock place in December 2007 o enhance capital resources and compensate for the impact of provisions
relating to exposures impacted by the global credit crisis

ICAAP considerahons

Pllar 2 in the CBB's Basel 2 framework covers two main processes the ICAAP and the supervisory review ond
evaluahon process The ICAAP involves an evaluation of the idenhficahion, measurement, management and control
of motenal nsks in order to assess the adequacy of internal capttal resources and fo determine an internal capiial
requirement reflecting the nsk appeite of the mshiution  The purpose of the supervisory review and evaluahon process
13 to ensure thot inshiutions have cdequate capital to support the nsks to which they are exposed and o encourage
institutons to develop and apply enhanced nsk management techniques in the monstonng and measurement of nsk.

GIB’s regulatory capital base exceeded the CBB's minimum requirement of 12 per cent throughout the year ended 31st
December 2009 Based on the results of capital adequacy stress teshng and capital forecashing, GIB considers that the
bufters held for regulatory copita! adequacy purposes are suficient and that GIB's intemal mimimum capital targets
of 8 per cent for her 1 capital and 12 per cent for total capital are adequate given its current nsk profile and capital
pesthon The Group's regulatory copital adequacy rahos set out in sechon 9 1 of ths report signiicantly exceeded the
minimum caprtal targets and are high by international companson

GIB uses its infernal capital models, economic capital, and caprial odequacy calculations based on the CBB's FIRB
epproach for credit risk when considenng internal copital requirements both with and without the epphication of
market siress scenanos As a number of Pillar 2 nsk types esast within GIB's economic copital fromework {1 e interest
rate nsk in the banking book, concentration nsk and business nsk), GIB uses its exishng internal capital measurements
as the basis for determining additional capstal buffers GIB considers the results of its capital adequacy stress teshing,
along with economic capital and RWA forecasts, to determine its internal capital requirement and to ensure that the
Group 13 adequately copitalised in stress scenarios reflechng GIB's nsk appetite
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10. GLOSSARY OF ABBREVIATIONS

ALCO
AMA
Basel Commitiee
CBB

CCF

oo

CEO

CFO
C&TO
EAD

FIRB Approach
FSA

GCC

GIB
GIBUK
The Group
ICAAP
IFRS

1GD

MD RM
MENA,
ORMF

PD

PSE
RAROC
RMBS
RWA

siv

VoR

Assets and Liabilibes Commuttes

Advanced Measurement Approach

Basel Commuttee for Banking Supervision
Central Bank of Bohrain

Credit Conversion Factor

Collateralised Debt Obligahion

Chief Executive Officer

Chief Financial Officer

Chuef Investment ond Treasury Officer
Exposure at Default

Foundahon Internal Rakngs Based Approach
Financial Services Authonty (of the Umited Kingdom)
Gulf Cooperchon Council

Gulf Internchonel Bank B S C

Gulf Internahonal Bark (U K ) Linuted

Gull Infernahona! Bank B S € and subsidiaries
Internc! Copital Adequacy Assessment Procass
Internahonol Finoncial Reporting Standards
Loss Given Default

Managing Director - Risk Management
Middle East and North Africa

Operahonal Risk Managemen! Framework
Probability of Defoult

Public Sector Enhhes

Risk-ad|usted Return on Capital

Residential Mortgage-Backed Secunties

Risk Weighted Amount

Structured Investment Vehicle

Valve-at-Risk
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GIB Shareholders

Public ivestment Fund (KSA), Kuwait nvestment Autharily, Qatar Hokding Company, Bahron Murntalakat Holding Company,
UAE Ministry of Finance, Oman Ministry of Finonce

CCorpomh Commumon!m)——— Exacutive Committes J
{ .
Boord of Directors | { Audit Cor )"‘ "
[Momnmrﬂ Commitiea Misk Policy Committas J )
HR&C aton C .
erup Rusk Commities N ) :
Assats & Lrabilites Corfuiiftes .
trformation Tachnokigy Sieeving ) ;
Condiites ; Gm.mol Audi ,
I i :
information Secunty B Chief Executive Officer bl Cahbihaid j ;
Mandgement Commuttes :
o L‘(Comﬂmnc- ]" i
kOp.mlgu!d‘hsk CemmmuJ
-~ - r ~\
[ T e aa  Chief Invesiment Managing Director  Eer il SEPRSRET FHTVES
Forwign Exchangs & & Treasury Officer Merchant Banking frrvestmesnd Bord
Project Finance
Traosury Sales GEC Capiial Markets
International Finanaal
Instiunions Islonuc Banking
ol Syndicahons
r R Agency
Finoncia! Contrel _— Chief Fi‘noncial ] Oronches & -
Maorket Risk Reporting Officer \_Representohve Offices /
Oparchonal Risk
| Information Secunty J
r = _
Rusk Polices & Procedures ——> Head of Risk 1 MD Operations, Operotions
Crod & Investments ik Management : & Administration Infermation Technology
Credit & Ivastrments Approval X Administrotion
Economucs & Research Unit X Human Resources
Legol Affoirs ) '

Managing Director & CEO GIBUK

Booard of Directors
Gulf International Bank {UK) Lid
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Biographies of the Board and Senior Management

#

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

HE Jammaz bin Abdullah Al-Suhaimi @
Chalrman

HE. Al-Submmi holds a Bachelor's degree In Electncal Engincenng
from the Unsversity of Washington 1n Seatle, USA He yoned GIB as
Chairman of the Board of Directors in 2008 and was re-clected i 2009
Prior to that, he served between 2004 and 2006 as Chairman and Cluef
Executive of the Capital Market Authonty, the regulatory body for the
capital market in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabin, Dunng the penod 1989-
2004, be was Deputy Governor of the Sandi Arablan Monctary Agency
He imnally joined SAMA as Director-General for Banking Controd He
had afso held vanous semor management positions 1y the govemnment
including that of Deputy Director General of the Sands Industnal
Development Fund (1982-1984) HE. Al-Suhmmi has held Board
memberships in many leading public and pnvate orgamzations such as
the Saudh Arabian General Investment Authority, the General Petroleum
and Minerals Orgenisation, the Nanony Company for Cooperative
Insurance and the London-based Satxdi Internaucnal Bank (which merged
with GIB in 19599)

Mr. Mansour bin Saleh Al Matman @ O
Vice Chalrman

BA 10 Accounting and Business Admimstrauon, King Szod University
(1973), and MBA from the University of Dallas, USA (1580) He joined
GIB's Board of Directors in 2009 Mr Al Maiman is currently Deputy
Munister of Finance and Secretary General of the Public Investment
Fund in Saudl Aralua (zince 1998) Prios to that be was Assistant Deputy
Muster for Budget and Administration (1993-1958). Mr Al Maiman
is a Board Member of Ma'aden, Southern Cement Company, (he Saudi
Stock Exchange, Sandh Arabian Ralways Company and Sand) Credit &t
Savings Bank

H E. Dr. Hamad bin Sulatman Al-Bazoi @ ©

BA in Admumistrative Sciences, King Sand Umivernty Saudi Arabla, MS
and LD in Economics, Colorado State University, USA Dr Al-Bazai
was appointed to the Board in 1999 He is currently the Vics Minister
of Finance in the Kingdom of Sauds Arabia. Prior to that be scned as
Deputy Minister of Fitnce for Economic Affain. Dr Al-Bazal is s
Member of (e Preparatory Commutiee of the Supreme Petroleum Counail
and o Board Member of the Human Resources Development Fund, the
Southern Region Cement Company and the Higher Education Fund.

Professor Abdullah bin Hassan Al-Abdul-Gader & ©

Dr AFANN.Gader kas BS in Busincis Admunstration (1581) and
MBA (£983) from King Fahd University of Petroleum and Minerals and
PLD in Business Admunistration from the Unsversity of Colorado, USA
{1988) He joined GIB's Boend of Darcctors in 2009 Dr Al-Abdul-Gader
has been & Professor at King Fahd Umveruty of Petroleum end Minerals
fnce 1981 Between 2004-2009, he was a Commissioner at the Sandi
Capata! Market Authority He has wide expencace &3 Boand Member b
public compancs snd professional associanons in Sandi Arabea such
Sandi Telecom, Sendi Compeiter Society, and Ssudi Organizetion of
Cerufied Public Accountants,
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Mr Sulaiman bin Abdullah Al-Hamdan O ©

Bachelor of Arts i Admunistrative Saience, King Sand University (1979)
and MBA from the University of New Haven, USA (1985) He jouncd
GIR's Board of Darectors 1n 2009 Mr Al-Hamdan is the Chucf Exectuuve
Officer of National Air Services (NAS) m Sandi Aratxa (since 2008) Pnor
to that he held various positions 21 the Sauds Bntish Bank, inctuding that
of Deputy Managing Director and Genernl Manager Personal Banking
He wotked 2t the Saudy Fund for Development between (1979 1985)
Mr Al-$amdan sits on the boards of directors of Maddle East Specialised
Cables (MESC), Sauds Hollandh Caqatal sad Al Ahhia Cooperatrve
tnsurance Company

Mr Abdulla bin Mohammed Al Zamil & ©

BA t Iodustnal Enginecnng, Unlversity of Washington, USA (1987)
and MBA in Financial and Business Admimstration from King Fabd
University of Petrolcum and Minerals (1992) Mr. Al Zanul joned GIB's
Board of Durectors (n 2009 He is currently the Chief Executive Officer
of Zamil bndustriad Investment Compeny He was the Company’s Chue!
Openting Officer between 2004-2009 Prior to this he was Sealor Vice
President at Zamil Air Condittoners, He started s career at Zam) Air
Conditioners in 1987 23 an indostrial engineer Mr Al Zaml 13 Chatrman
of Zamil Hudson Comparny, Armacell Zanul Middle East Co. and Gulf
Electroruce Management & Systems Co. He is » Board Member of many
other companes, including Zamul New Delhi Infrastructure Private Lad
1n India, Bahrain Industnal Group and Middle East Air Condihoners Co.

Mr Khaled bin Sateh Al-Mudailer & ©

BSc in Engincenng (1984) and MBA (1987) from King Fahd Uniernity
of Petroteum and Minerals, He joined GIB’s Boand of Durectors in 2009
Currently Mr Al-Mudaifer is the Vice President-Phosphate SBU end New
Business Development st the Saudi Arabizn Minitg Company {Ma'aden)
He pouned the company in 2006 as Vice Presadent for Industnal Affars.
Prior to that, he was General Manager and Board Secretary of Gassm
Cement Company (1993-2006) Betweea 1967-1993, he held varlous
positions #1 the E Petrochemical Company (Sharg), including
that of Vice President-Firance. Mr Al-Mudufer 1s a member of Qasom
Repon Councl, Board and Executive Committee Member of Sands
Arabizn Rulroad Company, Board Member nd Executive Committee
Chajrman of Ma’sden Phosphate Compeny and Chaurman of Ma'sden
Infrastructure Company

0 Executive Committee Member

O Audit Committee Member

© Risk Policy Comuinlttee Member

© HR & Compensation Committee Member




SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr Yahya A Alyzhya
Chief Executive Officer

Dr Alyahya served on the Board of The Wordld Bank Group as
Execunve Director representing Saudi Ambia from 1999 o 2006
Dunng that pened he served In many capacilies, most notably as Dean
of Executive Directors and Charman of the Board Steenng Commuttee
(03-06), Chairman of the Personnel Committee and Member of the
Budget Commuttee (02-C3), Vice Chairman of the Audit Commstiee
and Member of the Governance Commuttee (00-02) Pror to that Dr
Alyahya served as Advisor to the Governor, Saudi Arabian Monctary
Agency (99) General Manager of EA Jjuffaly & Bros. 1n Riyadh (94-
99), Founder and Director General, The Institute of Banking, SAMA, 10
Riyadh (89-94) Professor of Industnal and Systems Engineenng at King
Saud Umversity, Riyadh (86-89) and the Umiversity of Michigan, USA
(83-86), Lecturer on Matching Problems and Algonthms at the Indian
Seatistical Institute Bangalore, India (82), and a Project Analyst at the
Saudi Industnal Development Fund, Riyadh (75) Dr Alyahya has also
served on the Boards and Board Commuttees of many orgamizaticns
most notably Saud: Re (first reinsurer in SA} {07-08), Gulf Investment
Corporation (GIC) (06-08), National Commercial Bank (NCB) (0B),
Guif Internationz] Bank (GIB) (99-01) Saudi Engineenng Society (79-
99) Audit Commuttee of AlBank AlSaud) AlFarans (97-99) and Saudh
Agneultural Bank (92-95) Dr Alyahya holds a PhD n Industnal and
Systems Engineenng from The Umvernity of Michigan, Ann Arbor (83)
and 15 8 grachate of the UPM (75) Currently, Dr Alyahya 1s Chef
Execunve Officer of Gulf Internationn]l Bank since January, 2009 He
also chairs the Board of Shuatbah Water and Electncaty Company (first
IWPP 1n SA}, and sits on the Board of Oger Telecom

Mr Stephen Williams
Managing Director-Chief Financlia] Officer

Chartered Accountant, Member of (he Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales (ICAEW) BSc Econocmucs University College
Carduff, UK Mr Williams joined GIB 1n 1987 He was appotnted Group
Financial Controller 1n 2000 and Chief Financia! Officer in 2008 He:s
directly responsible for Groupwide siatutory, regulatory and management
reporting financial and balanoc sheet planming market operziionat and
hquidity nsk management and tnformation secunty  Mr Willams
was respoasible for GIB's Basel 2 tmplementation project and was a
member of the lnstitute for International Finance’s (HF) Working Group
on Capital Adequacy Mr Wilhams 13 a member of GIB s Management
Committee Group Risk Committee, Assets and Leallies Commuttee,
Information Systems Commuttee, and 13 the chairman of the Information
Secunty Commuttee and Operational Risk Commutiee  Prior to jouung
GIB, Mr Williams worked for KPMG 1n London and the Middle East

Mt Antolne Dijkstra
Managing Director-Chief Investment and Treasury Officer

Mr Dijkstra graduated :n Economics at the Erasmus University Rotterdam
and completed lus doctorates at the same institution He also attended the
executive course ot INSEAD (France) 1n 2005 He poiped GIB 10 2008 as
Manraging [rrector and Cluef Investment & Treasury Officer Between
2006 and Junc 2008 he was o Senior Managing Drrector at Bear Stearns
International in London He ts a!so o member of the Supervisory Board
at Bnink’s NV a member of the Board of the Trust Fund of the Erasmus
University Rotterdam and member of the Board of Zegora Investments
in Zunch. Between 2000 and 2006 he was a member of the Mannging
Board of NIB Capital NV 10 the Netherlands with responsibility for
the Strategic Business Units Financial Markets, Real Estate Markets,
Investment Management and Wealth Manngement He 15 aiso a former
member of the Board of Harcourt Investment Consulting

hY
’
-]

Mr Abbas Ameeri®

Managing Director-Merchant Banking

Mr Ameen has banking expenence of 25 years at GIB, where be worked
within the credit and banking groups He 18 responsible for GIB's total
relationship efforts within the GCC including munisines of finance,
government agencies, corporations, financial institutions and investment
cotpantes He also supervises other activities, including project and
structured finance, syndications and Islamic banking, as well as the
activiies of GIB's branches tn Riyadh Jeddsh, London and New York
and the two represcatative offices in Abu Dhabi and Bewrut. Mr Ameen
1s a member of GIB s Management Commitiee, the Credit Comnutiee
and the Assets and Liabilities Committee.

*Mr Ameeri retired from GIB in Ocrober 2009

Mr Hassan Abdulghani
Managing Director-Operations and Administration
Mr Abdutghom joined GIB more than 30 years ago where he
worked witlun vartous departments and business umts and headed
the Singapore Branch He completed many specialised and advanced
Irallung programmes tn credit and operations, including the Darden
Executive Management Program from the Umversity of Virgima, USA
Mr Abdulgham was appointed Managing Director m 2007, and his
responsibilities cover the Bank's operatons, information technology
human resowces and admimstration services. Apart from being
ponsible for blistung Riyadh Branch, Mr Abdulgham served as
head of the Human Resources Group, GCC Branches & Syndications
Financial Insututions and other areas Mr Abdulgham 15 a member of
GIB’s Management Commuttee, the Group Risk Committee Information
Systems Commuttee and Information Secunty Commuttes

Mr Masood Zafar

Acting Head of Risk Management and Chief Credit Officer
Chartered Accountant, Fellow of the Tnsutute of Chartered Accountants
1 England and Wales Mr Zafar jorned GIB tn 1982 in Internal Audit
He was appointed Chief Intemal Auditor in 1987 Lo 2004 he was
appointed Chuef Credit Officer reporting to the Chuef Operating Officer
and Head of Risk Mr Zafarisa ber of the Management Commiltee,
the Group Risk Commuttee, the Asset and Liabilities Commuttee and the
Operational Risk Committee Prior to jotmmg GIB Mr Zafar worked for
Ernst and Young tn London and for KPMG in Bahrain

Matthew C Soyder

Mannging Director and CEO, GIBUK

BA 1n Poliicat Science CW Post Coltege, USA and MA o International
Politics, Long Island Umiversity, USA Mr Snyder first yoined GIB s
principal subsidiary Gulf Intemmational Bank (UK) Lad (then Saud)
Intemational Bank) in 1993 From 1982 to 1993 he was Presideat and
Chief Executive Officer of Al Internatonal, a US-based diversified,
private industnal company He previously worked (or eleven years in the
New York offices of Schroders, a London-based merchant bank He 13
currently the CEO of Gulf International Bank (UK} Lid.
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Group Corporate Directory

General Management

Dr Yahya Alyahya

Chuef Executive Officer

Stephen Williams

Managing Director - Chuef Financial Officer
Antolne Dijkstra

Managing Director - Chicf Investment &
Treasury Officer

Hassan Abdulghani

Managing Director - Operations &
Admumstration

Masood Zafar

Acting Head of Risk Management

and Chuef Credit Officer

Matthew Snyder

Managing Director & CEQ - GIBUK

Merchant Banking

Cemnmercial Banking

M Chandrasckaran

Head of Commercial Banking
Ali Al-Derazi

Head of UAE, Bahrun, Kuwatt and Eastern
Province of KSA

Ali A Wahab

Head of Oman & Qatar
Fade] AlMeer

Country Head - Saudi Arabia
Haroon Alireza

Jeddah Branch Manager

Structured Finance

M Chandrasekaran

Head of Structured Finance
Ravi Krishnan

Project Finance & Advisory
Rajan Malik

Syndicattons & Agency
Iftikhar All

Islamic Banking

Imternational Banking
Asghar Ali Baba

Head of International Banking
Charbel Khazen

London Branch

Gregga Baxter

New York Branch

Hassan Yoseen

Beirut Representative Office
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Imestment Banking

Srnivas Vemparala

Head of lnvestment Banking
Maneesh Ajmani

GCC Prnvare Equity

Fakhre Fazl

Corporate Finance - GCC

Khalid AFGhamdi

GIB Financial Services, Saud: Arabia

Asset Management (GIBUK)
Uday Patnaik

Chief Investment Officer

Alex Graclan

Equity Portfolio Management
Anthony Chisnall

Head of Investor Relations

Treasury

Steven Moulder

Head FX MM, Fixed Income & Denvatves
Yaser Humaidan

Head of Investments

Ab Al-Qaseer

Head of Intemnational Financial Institutions

Risk Management & Finance
Russell Bennett

Head of Financial Management
Rahul Thomas

Head of Market Risk

Michael Cowling

Head of Information Security and
Operationat Rusk

Shane Panjvani

Head of Operational Risk
Sameer Al-Jishi

Head of Information Secunty
Julian Anthony

Chief Financial Officer - GIBUK

Sopport Functions

Ali Bobejji

Opemuons - Bahrain

Ali Ashoor

Admnstration Scrvices - Bahrain

Sanjay Narkar

Head of Information Techrology - Bahrain
Dimitri Varvitsiotis

IT Applicatons - Bahrain

Ebrahim Al-Rafaei

IT Operations - Bahrain

Rashed Abdul-Rahim

Operations & Admisstration - Sauch Arabia
David Maskall

Operations - GIBUK

Human Resources

Corael Fourie

Chief Human Resources Officer
Jamal! Hijris

Human Resources - Bahrain
Darshan Singh

Human Resources Development

Audit, Legal & Complance

Hassan Al-Maulla

Group Chief Auditor

Umersa Ali

Legal Counsel

Georges Djandji

Head of Compliance - Bahrain

Toby Billington

General Counce! & Head of Corporate
Office/Company Secretary - GIBUK

Corporate Communieations
Abdulla Naneesh

Head of Corporate Commumecations
& Acting Secretary to the Board




Head Office

PO Box 1017

Al-Dowal Buitding

3 Palace Avenue

Manama, Kingdom of Bahrain
Telephone

General (+973) 17 534000

FX & Money Markets

(+973) 17 534300, 17 530030

Treasury Sales (+973) 17 522533

Fixed Income/Denvatives

(+973) 17 522521

Investments (+973) 17 522671
Investment Banking (+973) 17 522671
Internatronal Banking (+973) 17 522402
Financial Institutions (+973) 17 522685
Telefax

General (+973) 17 522633

Treasury Sales (+973) 17 522422

FX & Money Markets (+973) 17 522530
Investments {+973) 17 522629
Investment Banking {(+973) 17 542790
International Banking (+973) 17 522642
Financial Institutions (+973) 17 542730
S WIFT GULFBHBM

Reuter Direct Diad

Forex Unit & Options GIBB
Intemational Money Market Umt/
Middle East Currencies GIBF
Treasury Sales GIBA

[nternet http /fwww gibonline com

Principal Subsidiaries

Gulf International Bank (UK)
Limited

One Knightsbndge

London SWIX 7XS

United Kingdom

Telephone (+44) 207259 3456
Telefax {+44) 20 7259 6060
Cables SAUDIBANK
LONDON SW1

SWIFT SINTGB2L

GIB Financial Services

3rd Floor South Tower

Abrg) Atta’awuncya Building
King Fahad Road

P O Box 89589

Ruyadh 11673

Kingdom of Savd1 Arabia
Telephone (+9661) 218 0555
Telefax (+9661) 218 0055

Branches

London Branch

One Knughtsbndge

London SW1X 7XS

United Kingdom

Telephone

General (+44)20 7393 0410
Treasury (+44) 20 7393 0461
Telefax

General (+44) 20 7393 0458
Treasury (+44) 20 7393 0430
Banking (+44) 20 7393 0454
S WIFT GULFGB2L
E-Mal Londonbranch@gibuk com

New York Branch

330 Madison Avenue

New York, NY 10017

United States of Amenca
Tetephone (41) 212922 2300
Telefax (+1) 212922 2309

S WIFT GULFUS33

E-Mat! gregga baxter@gibuk com

Cayman Islands Branch
Cfo New York Branch

Riyadh Branch

Abraj Atta’swuneya

K:ng Fahad Road

P O Box 93413

Ruyadh 11673

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
Telephone

General (+966!) 218 0888
Treasury (+9661) 218 1192
Telefax General (+9661) 218 0088

Corporzte Banking (+9661) 218 1184

Treasury (+9661) 218 1155
SWIFT GULFSARI

Jeddah Branch

Bin Homran Centre

Office No 5068

HRH Pnince Mohammed

Bin Abdulaziz St , Jeddah

PO Box 40530, Jeddah 21511
Kingdom of Saudt Arabia

Tel (+9662) 660 7770

Fax (+9662) 660 6040
E-Mal h alireza@gibryd com
S WIFT GULFSARI

Representative Offices
Lebanon Representative Office
Gefinor Centre, Block B
Office Number 1401

P O Box 113/6573

Beirut

Lebanon

Telephone (+961) 1 739 505
(+961) 1739 507

{(+961) 1 739 509

Telefax (+961) 1 739 503
E-Mail gibbey@inco com b

United Arab Emirates
Representative Office

Arab Monetary Fund Building
Comiche Road

P O Box 27051

Abu Dhab

Untited Arab Emirates
Telephone (+971) 2 621 4747
Telefax (+971)2 631 1966
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